
 

 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 

  
Thursday, June 8, 2023                                                                                      Frankfort Village Hall        

6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 

 
1. Call to Order 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

3. Approval of Minutes of May 25, 2023 

 

4. Public Hearing (Continued from May 11, 2023): 8563 Stone Creek – Maida Residence (Ref #107) 

 Request: Variation to permit a 5’ tall fence in the required front yard, whereas the maximum height is 4’ 

(Zoning Ordinance Article 7, Section F), (PIN: 19-09-35-308-011-0000). 

 

5. Public Hearing: 9232 Gulfstream Road, Unit C – 86 Degrees Auto Group LLC (Ref#109) 

Request: Special Use Permit for automobile sales in the I-1 Limited Industrial District (PIN: 19-09-34-326-

015-1003).  

 

6. Public Hearing: Sparks Drive-Through Coffee Shop – Hickory Creek Market Place Subdivision (Ref 

#104) 

Request:  Proposed Major Change to the Hickory Creek Market Place Planned Unit Development, including 

several Zoning Ordinance and Municipal Code exceptions, for a proposed new commercial building and 

four (4) Special Use Permits for a carry-out restaurant, drive-up service windows associated with a permitted 

use, outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant, and extended hours of operation (opening earlier 

than 7:00 a.m.). (PIN: 19-09-15-101-002-0000)  

 

7. Public Hearing: 15 Ash Street – Old Frankfort Mall, Proposed Building Addition (Ref#106) 

Request: Special Use for a Planned Unit Development, including zoning exceptions associated with a 

proposed building addition for building height, parking, loading, building setbacks and landscape setbacks, 

and Special Use Permit requests for restaurant use, ground level outdoor dining associated with restaurant, 

and rooftop outdoor seating, for property located at 15 Ash Street, Frankfort, Illinois. Other: Plat of 

Resubdivision to combine a portion of Lot 3 and all of Lot 4 in Bowen’s Subdivision of Blocks 1, 12 & 13 

in the original Town of Frankfort (PIN: 19-09-28-208-003-0000). 

 

8. Public Hearing: 15 Ash Street – Grounded Coffee (Ref#108) 

Request: Special Use Permit for outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant (Grounded Coffee), 

located at 15 Ash Street, Frankfort, IL 60423 (PIN: 19-09-28-208-003-0000).  

 

9. Workshop: 240 Oak Street – Musard Residence Rear Addition 

Future Public Hearing Request:  Variations from Article 6, Section B, Part 1 of the Zoning Ordinance to (1) 

reduce the required rear yard from 30 feet to 12 feet, 11 inches; and (2) to reduce the required total of the 

required side yards from 25 feet to 22 feet, 1 inches (for the new addition); Plat of Resubdivision to 

consolidate the two existing underlying lots of record which are under the same ownership pursuant to 

Article 10, Section L of the Zoning Ordinance (PIN 19-09-28-225-022-0000). 

 

 



 

Page 2 

10. Public Comments 

 

11. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 

12. Other Business 

 

13. Attendance Confirmation (June 22, 2023) 

 

14. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 

shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 

items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 

persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 

forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        May 25, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Nichole Schaeffer, Brian James, Dan Knieriem, Paula 
Wallrich, Jessica Jakubowski 

Commissioners Absent: Will Markunas, David Hogan 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Christopher Gruba 

Elected Officials Present:  None 

A. Approval of the Minutes from May 11th, 2023 

Chair Schaeffer asked for discussion regarding the minutes. Commissioner Wallrich stated 
that she had multiple changes proposed and a copy of these edits were printed off for each 
commissioner.  The changes were reviewed one at a time.  

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes as amended from May 11th, 2023. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Wallrich 

Approved: (4-0, Commissioner Jakubowski abstained)   

Chair Schaeffer swore in members of the public who wanted to provide testimony. 

B. Public Hearing: 20500 S. La Grange Road, Unit 6A – Sage Salon 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.  

The building owner, Harry D’Ercole, approached the podium.  He said that the applicant 
is actually Talitha, but that she couldn’t attend.  He said that he does have a cross access 
agreement and shared parking agreement with the Dancing Marlin property.  Overflow 
patrons typically park at Dancing Marlin during the day and vice versa in the evening.  He 
said that there is a strip of land in the back of his property that he intends to eventually 

 
 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 2 
 

pave for additional parking spaces.  He said that this application for Sage Salon began 
before he purchased the building.  

Chair Schaeffer asked Mr. D’Ercole where the additional parking spaces would be paved 
on his property.  He said there is a strip of grass on the far west side of his property adjacent 
to an existing single row of parking spaces, which would become a double row of parking.  

Commissioner James asked how long Mr. D’Ercole has owned the property.  He replied 8 
months.  

Commissioner Wallrich said that she did some research and was able to contact the dentist 
office, which has a total of 5 exam rooms.  She said she also spoke with 3 of the tenants, 
which were all very complementary of the salon.  She said the tenants’ most common 
comment was that restaurant patrons park on their property and that it can be congested.  
She asked Mr. D’Ercole if there was a cross access and a shared parking agreement in 
place.  Mr. D’Ercole replied yes.  Commissioner Wallrich asked if Mr. D’Ercole could 
provide a document in writing to this effect.  Mr. D’Ercole said that he would look for it.  
She suggested that a sign could be installed on their property stating that parking was 
reserved for tenants and that all others would be towed, which could become a condition 
of approval.  Mr. D’Ercole said he was surprised that the tenants said that parking was an 
issue.  Commissioner Wallrich said that the tenants told her that parking was a concern 
between 1:30 pm and 7:00 pm.  She asked Mr. D’Ercole if he would be open to installing 
signage on his property to regulate the parking.  Mr. D’Ercole replied yes.  

Commissioner Wallrich said that she was concerned that Sage Salon has been operating 
without a business license.  She said that this may be a broader issue with the business 
license process in the Village.  Mr. D’Ercole said that there is an existing salon in the 
building and that there may have been confusion that the applicant could have used the 
same business license as the other salon.  Commissioner Wallrich also said she thought 
that the ADA parking spaces may not have vertical signposts above them as is required.  

Commissioner Jakubowski noted that a shared parking agreement and assigned parking is 
in place across the street in the plaza that has Enrico’s and that it doesn’t help much to 
improve the parking situation.  

Mr. D’Ercole said that he invested in his property by adding a new roof, new siding, new 
windows, and $30,000 worth of parking lot improvements last fall.  He said that 
landscaping will be improved in the near future.   

Chair Schaeffer asked if there was anyone else in the audience that wished to speak. There 
were none.   

 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 3 
 

Motion #2:  Close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if there had been any changes to the plans since the workshop.   

Mike Schwarz responded that there were no changes.   

Chair Schaeffer asked the commission if there were any comments regarding the operating 
times.  There were none.  She asked the commission if there were any comments regarding 
the use.  Commissioner Knieriem said that the use was appropriate for the location and that 
there was another salon existing in the building.  

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if they had applied for a business license.  Mike Schwarz 
responded that they had.  Commissioner Wallrich asked if business license requests are 
submitted to the planners.  Mike Schwarz responded that they are typically first submitted 
to the Building Department and sometimes forwarded to the Planning Department.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any comments regarding parking.  Commissioner 
James said that maybe the Commission should add a condition that shared parking/shared 
access documents be provided.  Commissioner Wallrich said that the proposed business 
and tenants do not meet the required parking at this time and that it should be addressed at 
this time.  She said that if Mr. D’Ercole does have a shared parking agreement then she 
would be much less concerned and that this document should be a condition of approval.  
She asked staff to provide an analysis of parking for the other buildings located to the west 
and south of the subject property.  Mike Schwarz responded that they had analyzed parking.  
He noted that the PC/ZBA could adjust the parking requirements if needed as stated in the 
Zoning Ordinance.  Commissioner Wallrich said that if parking becomes a problem, then 
the owner should install additional parking spaces.  Mike Schwarz expressed concern about 
how such a condition could be enforced for this particular tenant.  Chair Schaeffer said that 
there have been other Special Use Permits that have been reviewed by the PC/ZBA for 
which proof of shared parking was not made a condition of approval.  She said that she 
does not want to add any conditions of approval for this particular unit.  Commissioner 
Jakubowski and Knieriem agreed. Commissioner Wallrich said that adding such a 
condition would not prevent the applicant from opening.  Mr. D’Ercole said he would do 
his best to obtain a shared parking, shared access agreement.  Chair Schaeffer said that she 
does not want to assign parking to the unit or grant a parking adjustment at this time.  
Commissioner Jakubowski said that there may only be a “gentleman’s agreement” in place 
now, but that she is not in favor of requiring a shared parking/shared access agreement as 
part of a condition of approval.  

 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 4 
 

Motion (#3): To Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use 
Permit for Personal Services to operate a hair salon at 20500 S. La Grange Road, Unit 6A, 
Frankfort, IL, 60423 (PIN: 19-09-16-400-031-0000), in accordance with the submitted 
plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and conditioned upon the submittal of a 
shared parking or cross access agreement with the property to the west.  
 
Motion by: James                    Seconded by: Wallrich 

Approved: (5-0) 

Schwarz said that he will work with the Building Department and applicant to make sure 
that the ADA spaces would have the required ADA signposts installed behind them.  He 
said that if there is an official shared parking and cross access agreement in place that it 
should show up on a title report.  

C. Public Hearing: 9503 Gulfstream Road, Unit A – Nerradical Ridez LLC 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant to come forward. 

Darren Harris, applicant, and Theresa Hicks-Harris, his wife, approached the podium. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant to tell the members a little more about the business.  

Darren Harris stated that he specializes in customizing motorcycles for parade usage. His 
business is by appointment.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if he does this type of business now. 

Darren Harris replied yes. He wants to move to a different space.  He has been in 
business for 20 years.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he is doing any paintwork. 

Darren Harris replied no.  There is no paint work.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if there is any storage outside. 

Darren Haris replied no.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant where he is located now. 

Darren Harris replied nowhere.  He has been doing business out of his house.  

Commissioner James asked if people will be bringing bikes on trailers. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 5 
 

 

Darren Harris replied that some will ride in, but most of the motorcycles will come in on 
trailers.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if there will be cars coming in and out on a 
daily basis. 

Darren Harris replied not so much.  

Commissioner Wallrich asked the applicant if any trailers would be stored outside. 

Darren Harris replied no.  

Theresa Hicks-Harris, wife of the applicant, stated that the business is more of a 
boutique.  Customers will trailer in their bike, then roll out the bike from the trailer and it 
goes into the garage.  

Commissioner Wallrich stated that she went out to the site 3 times and did not observe 
any parking issues.  She doesn’t know how gravel is out there behind the building. It’s a 
nice industrial park, not a lot of outdoor storage, great landscaping, brick requirements, 
etc.  She is worried about 3 abandoned vehicles in the back. Are these owned by the 
property owner? This is probably not the applicant’s problem.  

Commissioner Wallrich stated that this is the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of 
Appeals’ opportunity to make things right. People can move in and out, and if there’s a 
parking issue, not every business requires a special use, so the Plan Commission/Zoning 
Board of Appeals won’t be able to effect change on this.  It is not legal to park on gravel 
in the Village.  She doesn’t think that this parking lot has ADA signage behind the ADA 
parking spaces either out there, and asked staff to please look into this. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked the applicant if there would be any retail sales. 

Darren Harris replied that he is mostly a service business, but he might have some sales. 
They’ll order parts online.  

Mike Schwarz stated that according to his conversations with the applicant, parts and 
accessories for the motorcycles will be purchased and then installed.  There will not be 
any retail sales of motorcycle parts, or any parts displays for the public.  

Motion #4:  Close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Wallrich    Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 6 
 

 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other members for discussion. 

Commissioner James stated that this is consistent with other mechanics in the area.  

Mike Schwarz stated that there is a Plat of Survey attached to the staff report, dated 
August 2000, which shows that there was gravel behind the building back then. He added 
that gravel is not allowed so this is an existing non-conformity. There should also be no 
outdoor storage.  

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if there are any issues with stormwater or drainage. 

Mike Schwarz replied that he is not aware of any existing issues.  The Zoning Ordinance 
allows 80% of maximum impervious if the owner were to pave it.    

Commissioner Wallrich asked staff if they spoke to the property owner about paving. 

Mike Schwarz stated that he did not but could certainly do so if the members desire to 
require pavement of the gravel area as a condition of the tenant’s requested Special Use.  

There was some discussion among the members regarding paving. There was consensus 
that if the property owner made major improvement to the building, then yes, they would 
address paving, but for this requested Special Use, there is no desire to add a condition 
requiring paving the gravel area. Commissioner Jakubowksi stated that she agrees. Mike 
Schwarz stated that he would try to ascertain when the gravel went in by referencing past 
aerial photos. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that it becomes contagious when gravel is out there, so 
other businesses think they can do it also.  

Chair Schaeffer asked staff to please speak with the owner about paving, but she doesn’t 
want to add such a condition to the requested Special Use.  

Chair Schaeffer next asked if there were any member comments regarding parking. 

Chair Schaeffer asked staff how many units were in this building. 

Mike Schwarz replied that there are 3 tenants.  

Commissioner Knieriem stated that it’s clear there are plenty of parking spaces.  

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if it is necessary to add a condition regarding outdoor storage. 

Mike Schwarz stated that a Special Use would be necessary for any outdoor storage.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 7 
 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if he is seeking to have any outdoor storage. 

Darren Harris replied no.  

Motion (#5): Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use 
Permit for motorcycle sales and service (aftermarket parts and accessories installation) in 
the I-1 Limited Industrial District, for the property located at 9503 Gulfstream Road, Unit 
A, Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 19-09-34-302-004-0000), in accordance with the submitted 
plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact.  
 
Motion by: Jakubowski                    Seconded by: James 

Approved: (5-0) 

D. Workshop: Abbey Woods North 

Chris Gruba presented the staff report.  

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant to approach the podium. 

Steve Beemsterboer, property owner, explained the need for the variations and retaining 
walls.  They have spent over a year on engineering.  Sean O’Malley will be the developer 
and home builder. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked Steve Beemsterboer how long he has owned the property. 

Steve Beemsterboer replied since about 2013. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked about the grading work. 

Steve Beemsterboer replied that he previously received permits from Will County for the 
front 3-4 acres.  Anything over 5 acres would require a full grading plan, so he broke it 
up in phases.  The current work started last summer and includes roughly 4 acres. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked Steve Beemsterboer if he removed dirt from the back of 
the property. 

Steve Beemsterboer replied no.  The back 3 acres is in the floodplain.  He did cut a 
drainage didge on both sides of the property to get the drainage under control, so yes, a 
little bit of dirt was moved. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if this work was done in the wetland area. 

Steve Beemsterboer replied yes because the water was sheet draining across the site. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if he received a wetland permit to do that work. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 8 
 

Brain Hertz, of MG2A, the project engineer stated that Steve Beemsterboer was working 
with a consultant on that aspect. 

Commissioner Wallrich reiterated that any grading work would require a permit. 

Steve Beemsterboer replied that he received permits from Will County. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked about the location of the drainage ditches.   

Chris Gruba displayed the exhibit showing the retaining walls for reference. 

Brian Hertz explained the grading and drainage challenges which require some swales for 
drainage along the sides of the overall property. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there will be some drainage swales in the rear yards. 

Brian Hertz stated yes. 

Sean O’Malley explained the type of footing/foundation that he installs. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked what the setback is from the property line for the swale. 

Brian Hertz estimated it will be about 15 feet.  The easement is 25 feet wide. 

Brian Hertz stated the setback from between the retaining wall and the property line is 
about 10-12 feet. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that the red line starts on Lot 8 which only has 10 feet. 

Brian Hertz stated that the width of the swale is not as wide as you go north. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that the property to the west will have the same issue with 
grading. 

Steve Beemsterboer stated that they explored the idea of purchasing some land from the 
owner to the west, but she would then have the same issue. 

Steve Beemsterboer stated that the owner to the west is not ready to sell. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked about the yellow line on the FEMA exhibit. 

Brian Hertz replied that the yellow line is the map break line between two adjacent 
FEMA FIRM maps. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that has no other questions. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 9 
 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked about the type of homes being built.  Would they be 
like Abbey Woods? 

Sean O’Malley replied they would be large custom homes.  The product is needed since 
there are no more lots to buy, especially on the north side of Frankfort and located in the 
157-C elementary school district.  These will be high end homes.  It’s a beautiful piece of 
property. 

Commissioner James asked with the stub street will there be a drop-off? 

Brian Hertz stated no.  It will meet grade. 

Commissioner James stated that if the applicant removed one lot, he would be under the 
25-home threshold for a subdivision on a cul-de-sac and may remove some variations. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked staff about the net density. 

Chris Gruba stated that the net density is 1.97 dwelling units per acre. 

Commissioner Jakubowksi stated that many of the homes meet the requirements. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that there seems to be a lot of constraints based on the topography 
and utilities, avoiding the need for a lift station, etc. 

Commissioner Wallrich believed that the stub street does negate the two variations 
related to cul-de-sac length based on past interpretation. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the detention areas will be wet or dry. 

Brian Hertz stated that the north one would be a wetland bottom and the north one would 
be a dry bottom. 

Sean O’Malley stated that the bike path would be maintained by the HOA. 

Commissioner Jakubowksi asked Sean O’Malley if he has the CC&R’s at this time. 

Sean O’Malley stated no, but he can write them and provide them. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any other initial questions. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that this is an annexation.  There is no guarantee for a lot 
yield. This is one of the more difficult properties which is why it is not developed yet.  
Sean O’Malley is a wonderful builder.  If she was Sean O’Malley she would want to get 
as many lots as possible. She has a philosophical issue with any variations on 
undeveloped land.  She believes that there are at least 2 lots to be removed from the plan.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 10 
 

This is a negotiation. There should be give and take.  She would like the Village Engineer 
to attend the next meeting and provide input.  

Commissioner Jakubowksi stated that she disagrees and thinks this is a good project for 
Frankfort.  That is why she asked for the CC&R’s. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that she agrees on wanting to see the CC&R’s. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she would not like to see future variations 
requested on these lots. 

Chair Schaeffer agreed and stated that she doesn’t want future houses coming in to seek 
variations. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that there could be a prohibition on any future variations. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she would not want to place such a restriction on 
these future lots. 

There was some discussion about what future lot buyers may need/want. 

There was some discussion about the extent of the variations. 

Sean O’Malley stated that they are very minimal variations. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that she would like to keep the discussion orderly and go right 
down the headings in the staff report.  Are there any questions or comments about the site 
plan? 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if the bike path will be in the floodplain. 

Brian Hertz and Sean O’Malley stated that it was moved out of the 1% chance floodplain. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if there was any discussion about providing a street stub to 
the east. 

Steve Beemsterboer stated that he has spoken with them, and they intend to remain there 
for a long time and have no intention to sell.  They have been working on a plan to 
redevelop parts of the property for their needs. 

Chris Gruba stated that he has also been working with the property owner to the east and 
they are proposing a redevelopment that involves private streets.  If there was a street 
stub to the east, it may not be able to connect with any future streets. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that she is not aware of the Village granting variations on 
virgin land.  She stated that the width of Lot 26 is a concern.  It is 108 feet wide and that 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 11 
 

is a significant reduction from 120 feet.  It is also a highly visible lot.  It is on St. Francis 
so it may not be one of the more valuable lots.  The PC/ZBA just dealt with a corner lot 
at the last meeting. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she also tells her clients about the issues with 
corner lots, but there is always a buyer. 

There was a discussion about why the Village has granted variations in the past.   

Commissioner Wallrich stated that many of those variations are on platted lots.  This 
property is not platted. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked Commissioner Jakubowksi if the project had to comply 
with the Zoning Ordinance does she feel that it would not be developed? 

Sean O’Malley stated that the bike trail eats up some of the property. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked staff how lot width is measured. 

Chris Gruba explained that it is measured at the lot width. 

Chris Gruba explained the variations that were granted for lot width on the McMahon 2-
lot subdivision on Nebraska Street. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that those were for platted lots yes?  This is for virgin 
unplatted land. 

Seam O’Malley reiterated the large size of these lots.  He stated that for the neighbor to 
the west to sell them 10 feet would cause an issue for her property. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the applicant tried to purchase more land from her, but she 
said no.  She added that here we have a developer that is ready to go.  There were past 
proposals for this property and nothing ever happened. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the southernmost lots and proximity to the bike path. 

Steve Beemsterboer stated that these are the high dollar lots and it will not be any 
surprise that there will be a bike path. 

There was some discussion about whether there should be landscaping as a buffer to the 
bike path for those 2 lots. 

Commissioner James stated that those 2 lots are only 40 feet wide at the street. If they are 
truly the premium lots, then remove one lot so they can be wider. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the path on the neighboring property. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 12 
 

Sean O’Malley clarified that this is actually a driveway. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if there are any lots that have floodplain that will require 
floodplain insurance. 

Brian Hertz stated no. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked staff if there was a thought to create a dormant SSA for 
maintenance of the ponds. 

Sean O’Malley stated that would be a huge red flag. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that could impact market value.  She stated that the 
CC&Rs should be adequate. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that if there is no HOA for whatever reason, at least in 
perpetuity, then a dormant SSA would be a way to ensure pond maintenance. 

There was some discussion among the members regarding the idea of requiring a 
dormant SSA for pond maintenance. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that there would be a mandatory HOA and they could 
establish protections and enact their own special assessment for pond maintenance if ever 
needed. 

Sean O’Malley stated that these will be $800,000 homes so the HOA will be in place and 
he has never seen an HOA go inactive. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that she appreciated all of PW’s thoughtful comments on what 
could happen in the future. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there could be some tree mitigation for any removed trees. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if staff or the applicant could provide a tally to show 
landscape and tree removal compliance. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if the berm along St. Frontage is undulating. 

Chris Gruba stated that there are a few breaks. 

Brian Hertz provided additional comments on why there are some breaks. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the height of the retaining wall. 

Brian Hertz stated that it varies.  He pointed out the transition in height on Sheet 2A 
which was projected on the screen. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 13 
 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if 3 feet is the tallest it gets. 

Brian Hertz stated yes on one tier.  There are two tiers.  The ledge between the tiers is 
about 5 feet.   

Commissioner Wallrich asked if there would be grass on the ledge or stone. 

Sean O’Malley asked what she prefers. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that she prefers no retaining walls at all.   

Sean O’Malley stated that they also prefer not to have retaining walls, but they had to 
raise the whole site to avoid the need for a sanitary sewer lift station. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if there are any native plantings that require little or no 
maintenance. 

Chair Schaeffer said that is a great question and wondered if Commissioner Wallrich had 
any ideas. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked staff if the Village uses a landscaping consultant to review 
plans as was done in the past. 

Chris Gruba stated that the Village did use a firm in the past but staff and the Village 
Engineer now typically review these. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the topography of the property to the west. 

Brian Hertz replied that it is very similar to this property. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the neighbor to the west may also need to raise her property. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked how many yards of dirt had to be brought in? 

Sean O’Malley stated about 5,000 cubic yards. 

There was consensus that the applicant will investigate native plantings for the ledges 
between the retaining walls. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the bike path location versus the location noted on 
the plan. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if there was a final decision about the dry or wet bottom 
ponds. 

Brian Hertz stated that they have options. The south pond could be a wet bottom pond. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 14 
 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the Village Engineer is looking at the Code and what types of 
ponds will be required. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other members if there was consensus on the length of the cul-
de-sac. 

There was general agreement. 

Chris Gruba stated that per the Public Works Department, the center of the cul-de-sac 
would be maintained by the HOA. 

Sean O’Malley stated that he plans to make the entrance landscaping look very nice. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked Chris Gruba why the Village would entertain the idea of 
private streets for the future redevelopment to the east.  Some discussion ensued about 
public versus private streets. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked if we have a master transportation plan that shows the 
subject property and immediate areas to the west and east. 

Mike Schwarz stated that the Comprehensive Plan does have major and minor arterials 
shown but no local roadways are depicted on this property. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other members if there was a desire for another workshop. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that as long as they address the comments from this 
evening, he does not see the need for another workshop. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked for a recap of the items that the applicant should 
address. 

There was some discussion about the responsibility of the maintenance of the retaining 
walls. 

Sean O’Malley stated that the HOA would maintain these. 

Commissioner James and Commissioner Wallrich stated that they would prefer a second 
workshop. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked for the CC&R’s or an example from another 
subdivision such as Abbey Woods or Lighthouse Point. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked Sean O’Malley if he chose the name for Lighthouse Point. 

Sean O’Malley replied that he did.  He liked the name. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 15 
 

PW stated that there is a famous garden design by Frederick Law Ohlmstead on the 
Sisters of St. Francis property. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked how are we addressing the standards for granting the 
variations being requested. 

Chris Gruba stated that these are special variations as they will be part of the annexation 
agreement. 

Sean O’Malley stated they he provided findings to staff. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that he does not think another workshop is needed but 
will not stand in the way of the others who may wish to look at it a second time. 

There was consensus that the June 22nd meeting would be targeted subject to the 
engineering being ready. 

E. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

F. Village Board & Committee Updates 

There were no Village Board & Committee Updates.  

G. Other Business 

There was no other business. 

There was some discussion about the number of cases on the June 8th agenda.   

Staff stated there are at least 4 cases including 3 public hearings. 

There was some discussion about the status of the Planner recruitment. 

There was some discussion about the next steps for 213 Nebraska Street. 

There was some discussion about the future of the bowling alley at 15 Ash Street. 

There was some discussion about the members planning to attend the next meeting and 
how far in advance that staff prefers to confirm a quorum. 

H. Attendance Confirmation (June 8th, 2023) 

Chair Schaeffer asked the members of the Plan Commission to notify staff if they know 
they would not be able to attend the June 8th meeting.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/25/23 | Page 16 
 

Motion (#6): Adjournment 9:39 P.M. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Knieriem 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Approved June 8th, 2023 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nichie Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



Planning Commission / ZBA                                              S      June 8, 2023 

Project: Snapp-Maida Residence  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Variation for residential fence height 
Location: 8563 Stone Creek 
Applicant: Jordan Snapp Maida  
Prop. Owner: Same  
Representative: Same 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
Site Details 

Lot Size: 0.71 acres (30,864) sq. ft.          Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN(s): 19-09-35-308-011-0000
Existing Zoning: R-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ attached garage 
House size: 4,258 square feet 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

The applicant, Jordan Snapp-Maida, seeks to construct a new 5’ tall faux wrought iron fence along the secondary 
frontage of her property located at 8563 Stone Creek Boulevard.  The house is a corner lot with frontage on both 
Stone Creek Boulevard and Blue Stone Court.  The fence would be placed along the frontage along Blue Stone 
Court.  Fences within the required 30’ front yard setback must be decorative in nature, being at least 50% visibly 
transparent and 4’ tall or less.  The proposed fence would measure 5’ tall for its entire length, requiring a variation 
from Article 7, Section G, Part 1 of the Zoning Ordinance.   

Attachments 
1. Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale  1:4,000 & 1:1,000
2. PC/ZBA meeting minutes excerpt of May 11, 2023
3. Variation Findings of Fact, submitted by applicant
4. Plat of Survey
5. Detail of proposed fence
6. Landscape Plan with location of fence noted

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family R-2 

East Residential Single-Family R-2 

West Residential Single-Family R-2 

1



History 

Staff This project was reviewed by the PC/ZBA on May 11, 2023.  At that time, the applicant requested to keep the 
public hearing open to give her time to think about her options and possibly amend her plan.  The PC/ZBA 
motioned to continue the public hearing until June 8, 2023.  After the meeting, staff verbally discussed options 
with the applicant, but revised plans were not submitted.  As such, the staff report and supporting 
documentation is largely unchanged since the first public hearing.  

Analysis 

Staff offers the following comments regarding the variation request: 

1. The property is an irregularly shaped corner lot, having frontage on both Stone Creek Boulevard and Blue
Stone Court.  The driveway access is from Blue Stone Court.  The lot is conforming with regard to lot area,
width and depth for the R-2 zone district.

2. The Zoning Ordinance requires that all fencing within a required 30’ front yard setback must be decorative
and 4’ tall or under within the R-2 zone district.  The applicant is proposing a decorative faux wrought iron
fence in the front yard.

3. The proposed fence would be set back 10’ from the front property line along Blue Stone Court in order to
provide additional landscaping and screening of the fence from view of the street.  The Landscape Plan
illustrates 9 Giant Arborvitae, 3 Spruce Trees and 2 Redpointe Maples between the fence and the
sidewalk.  Additional landscaping is proposed along perimeter of the fence within the rear yard.

4. The lots with access to Blue Stone Court (where the fence would be placed) are almost entirely
developed, with six homes that have driveway access to Blue Stone Court.  As such, the fence would only
be primarily noticeable to these 6 residents (including the applicant) and not the entire subdivision.

Standards for Variations 

For reference during the public hearing, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3,
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:

1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the
conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:

1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property
involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if
the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;

2



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to
other property within the same zoning classification;

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the
property;

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest in
the property;

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to other
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at
variation with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood;

That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially increase 
the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair property values within 
the neighborhood. 

Affirmative Motions 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation from Article 7, Section G, Part 1 of the Zoning
Ordinance to permit installation of a 5’ tall decorative fence within the required 30’ front yard
setback, on the property located at 8563 Stone Creek Boulevard, in accordance with the reviewed
plans and public testimony.

3



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 3 

There was a brief discussion about whether or not the last two variations should be 

combined.  It was decided that separate motions were preferred. 

Motion (#3): To approve a variation related to 1st floor building materials subject to the 

condition that the building elevations be updated to match the color building rendering 

Motion by: Knieriem                    Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#4): To approve a variation related the minimum lot area per the Zoning 

Ordinance   

Motion by: James Seconded by: Wallrich 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#5):   To approve a variation related the minimum lot area per the Land 

Subdivision Regulations 

Motion by: Markunas Seconded by: Wallrich 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#6): To approve the Benjamin’s Way Plat of Subdivision, subject to the 

condition that the applicants shall either install a public sidewalk along the Bowen Street 

property frontage as required by the Land Subdivision Regulations, or shall provide the 

equivalent cash-in-lieu amount of said sidewalk, subject to the approval of the 

Department of Public Works.   

Motion by: Wallrich Seconded by: Hogan 

Approved: (6-0) 

C. Public Hearing: 8563 Stone Creek – Maida Residence

Chris Gruba presented the staff report.

He further explained the landscape height limitation of 4’and stated that perhaps the

plantings can be swapped out to comply.

The applicant Jordan Snapp Maida stated her request.  She stated that she received

special approval from the HOA.  This fence is in what she perceives as her back yard.

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any initial questions from the other members.

4

cgruba
Highlight



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 4 

Commissioner Markunas asked if she received any of the Certified Mail green cards 

back. 

The applicant responded yes just today. She submitted these for the record.  She added 

that several neighbors were not able to send her letters of support today. 

Commissioner Hogan asked staff to clarify the fence height requirement. 

Chris Gruba provided a response stating that as this is a corner lot it has two front yards 

and therefore a fence is limited to a 4’ open decorative fence unless it respects the front 

yard setback of 30’. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the scale of the plan in the packet versus the aerial 

exhibit. She has requested staff to prepare an exhibit identifying where a 5’ fence could 

be erected.  

Chris Gruba responded that the survey in the packet was to scale whereas the Landscape 

Plan or Fence Plan was not exactly to scale. 

Commissioner Wallrich discussed the need to meet the Findings of Fact.  She does not 

believe that there is a hardship.  She stated that the 4’ fence and landscaping could deter a 

dog. She found other homes in the neighborhood that met Code. She asked why her 

property is any different than those. 

Ms. Snapp Maida stated that her request is for the safety of her child. There is a property 

near the park that has a taller fence at the SWC of High Stone and Pine Ridge (8581). 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any other initial questions from the members.   

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant would be comfortable with a 4’ fence. 

Ms. Snapp Maida replied that she would not. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the home to the north has a fence. 

Ms. Snapp Maida stated that they just installed one. The neighbor has a pitbull. 

With no other initial questions, Chair Schaeffer asked if there was anyone from the public 

that wanted to provide testimony. There was no response. 

Motion #7:  Close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Hogan 

Approved: (6-0)   

5



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 5 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that this is a civil matter.  Adults should have 

conversations.  If there is an issue with the dog, she can contact the Police. 

Commissioner James stated that he also has a neighbor with a Pitbull. He and his 

neighbor do not have fences.  He does not see that there is a hardship. 

Commissioner Wallrich suggested that an invisible fence might be an option even though 

it would add an expense for the neighbor. 

Commissioner Hogan asked the applicant if landscaping could be used for a barrier 

instead.   

Ms. Snapp Maida responded that she prefers not to go with that option. 

Chair Schaeffer summarized that there is no hardship. She stated that they could try to 

work with her on a combination of fence and landscaping. 

Commissioner Wallrich clarified that if the applicant can comply with Code, then there is 

no need for the PC/ZBA to take action. 

Chris Gruba stated the voting options for the PC/ZBA. 

Commissioner Markunas suggested that the applicant request to table. 

Commissioner Wallrich questioned the need to table since there appeared to be a 

consensus that there is no hardship and if she complied with code there would be no 

reason to return. There was general discussion as to when she could reapply for a 

variance if it were denied.  

Motion (#8): To re-open the Public Hearing. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#9): To keep open and continue the Public Hearing to June 8, 2023. 

Motion by: Knieriem    Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

D. Public Hearing: 7654 W. Lincoln Highway – Circle K Redevelopment

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.

The PC/ZBA paused the meeting for a break at 8:04 pm.

6



W STEGER RD

STONE CREEK BLVD

PINE RIDGE DR

STANFORD DR

FIELDSTONE DR

PA
RK

VIE
W 

LN
S L

AK
EV

IE
W 

ES
TA

TE
S 

BL
VD

MA
RB

L E
DR

HIGH STONE WAY

BLUE STONE CT

BROOK STONE CT
CHILTON CT

W CROOKED CREEK DR

BLACK STONE CT

TATUM LN

W KATIE LN

S 8
8T

H 
AV

E

0 500 1,000250
Feet

µ

8563 Stone Creek - variance request

SITE

7



ST
ON

E C
RE

EK
 BL

VD

BLUE STONE CT

BLACK STONE CT

HIGH STO
NE WAY

0 150 30075
Feet

µ

8563 Stone Creek - Fence Height Variation

8



9



10



11



12

cgruba
Received



13



3 green giant arbs

3 green giant arbs

14

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Text Box
3 giant arborvitae

cgruba
Callout
fence

cgruba
Text Box
3 Giant Arborvitae

cgruba
Text Box
3 Spruce Trees

cgruba
Text Box
6 Giant Arborvitae

cgruba
Text Box
2 Redpointe Maples

cgruba
Text Box
3 Serviceberry Trees

cgruba
Text Box
2 Riverbirch Trees

cgruba
Text Box
6 Limelight White Hydrangeas

cgruba
Callout
fence set back 10' from front property line

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Text Box
Approximate portion of fence within the front yard setback requiring a variance for height



  1 

                                          

Plan Commission / ZBA           June 8, 2023 

 
Project: 86 Degrees Auto Group LLC    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Special Use for automobile sales  
Location: 9232 Gulfstream Road Unit C 
Subdivision:  Unit C in Gulfstream II Condos of Lot 58 in Airport Industrial Park Unit 2 
Applicant:  Yaxin Yu 
Prop. Owner: Deima Dream Properties LLC 
Representative: Same as applicant 
Report by: Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 1.02 acres                      Figure 1. Location Map 

PIN: 19-09-34-326-015-1003 
Existing Zoning:  I-1 Limited Industrial District  
Proposed Zoning: I-1 Limited Industrial District with a Special Use for 

automobile sales 
Buildings: 1 building (13,940.16 square feet) 
Total Sq. Ft.: 3,368.77 square feet (Unit C tenant space) 

 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use FLU Map Zoning 

Subject Property Industrial Business Park I-1 

North Industrial Business Park I-1 

South  Industrial Business Park I-1 

East Industrial Business Park I-1 

West  Industrial Business Park I-1 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for automobile sales at 9232 Gulfstream Road, Unit C.  The 
applicant is the sole employee of the business at this time.  The applicant has indicated that the interior of the 
3,368.77 square-foot tenant space will serve as the showroom for vehicles and no vehicles will be displayed for 
sale or stored outdoors in the existing exterior striped parking spaces.  According to the applicant, the Unit C 
tenant space lease includes the right to use an existing enclosed outdoor storage area located behind the building 
(Ordinance No. 2155 granted a Special Use Permit for the outdoor storage of construction equipment materials on 
2.22.05; those materials are no longer on the property). However, the applicant has indicated to staff that there is 
no initial desire to store vehicles within this approximate 2,538 square-foot outdoor area which is approximately 
47 feet by 54 feet.  Staff estimates that the existing enclosed outdoor storage area could potentially store 
approximately 10 vehicles.  The applicant estimates that approximately 20 vehicles could be stored and/or 
displayed inside the tenant space.  Given that a standard parking space is 9 feet by 18 feet, or 162 square feet, this 
estimate may be accurate depending on how much space is devoted to the sales office.  The applicant has 
provided a brief Business Narrative (attached).  Staff notes that the Business Narrative indicates a 4,400 square-
foot tenant space, but this conflicts with the Plat of Survey which indicates a 3,368.77 square-foot tenant space.   



  2 

Attachments 
• 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• Plat of Survey dated 9.6.05 
• Site photos taken 6.2.23 
• Business Narrative provided by applicant 
• Special Use Findings of Fact prepared by applicant 
• Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 

 
Analysis 
In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

Use, Occupancy, and Space 

• The applicant’s proposed business involves used automobile sales.  At this time, the applicant is the sole 
employee of the business who would be working within the tenant space.  The Business Narrative provided 
by the applicant states that the business hours are 10:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. from Monday through Friday 
and 10:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Saturday.  At this time, the owner does not intend to be open on Sunday.   
 

Parking  
 

• Per the Zoning Ordinance, the automobile sales category requires 2 parking spaces per salesperson, plus 1  
parking space for additional employees.  The applicant has indicated that there is only 1 employee at this 
time.  For purposes of the required parking calculation, this person would be considered a salesperson. 
Therefore, per the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed use would require 2 parking spaces.  
 

• The existing parking lot has a total of 22 striped and 2 unstriped parking spaces. There is also a paved 
parking and drive-aisle area located behind the building beyond the paved and enclosed outdoor storage 
area.  The following table breaks down the parking requirements for the proposed and existing tenants 
within the building.  
 

Tenant 
(Parking Category and area of 

tenant space) 

Spaces Per 
Employee 

Required by Zoning 
Ordinance 

(Actual employees) 

Spaces Per Square 
Footage/Bay 

Required by Zoning 
Ordinance 

Total Required 
Parking by 

Zoning 
Ordinance per 

Tenant 
UNIT A (3,790.16 SF) 
Metro Power 
(Light Industry Parking Category) 

NA 
(3 employees 

typically on site at 
same time) 

2 per 1,000 SF 
(8 spaces required) 

8 spaces 

UNIT B (3,803.80 SF) 
Architectural Sealants Inc.  
(Light Industry Parking Category) 

NA 
(7 current 

employees, 2 
typically on site at 

same time)  

2 per 1,000 SF 
(8 spaces required) 

8 spaces 

UNIT C (3,368.77 SF) 
Proposed 86 Degrees Automobile 
Sales  
(Automobile Sales Parking Category) 

2 per salesperson (1 
salesperson at 

present), plus 1 per 
employee (0 other 

employees at 
present) 

NA 2 spaces 



  3 

UNIT D (2,977.43 SF) 
CURRENTLY VACANT 
Formerly occupied by Great Lakes 
Lifting (lift rentals) 
(Light Industry Parking Category) 

NA 
 

2 per 1,000 SF 
(6 spaces required) 

6 spaces 

Total Zoning Ordinance Required 
Parking 

  24 spaces 

Total Available on Site   24 spaces 
 

Adjustments to Required Parking  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 7, Part 5 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance describes the 
circumstances in which the Plan Commission may adjust the minimum number of required parking spaces in the 
business and industrial districts on a case-by-case basis.  

 
a.   Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow adjustments to the minimum number of parking spaces 

required to avoid construction of unnecessary and excessive off-street parking facilities. Reducing the 
requirements for off-street parking facilities is intended to provide for more cost-efficient site 
development, to minimize impervious surface, to minimize storm water runoff, to avoid construction of 
unnecessarily large storm water management facilities, and to provide more landscape areas and open 
space on business and industrial sites. To achieve these purposes, the Plan Commission may reduce the 
minimum number of required off-street parking spaces in specific cases as described in this Part 5.  

 
b.    Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 

be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements:  

 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner 

shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the 
operation will require less parking than the Ordinance requires.  

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written documentation to 

the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or off-site parking spaces are available to 
satisfy the parking demand.  

 
a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large 

enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at 
specific times of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime 
hours and another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.)  
 

b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall 
be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to 
serve. 

 
When a reduction of parking spaces attributable to shared parking or off-site parking is requested, the petitioner 
shall submit written verification that such parking is available and shall include copies of any contracts, joint lease 
agreements, purchase agreements, and other such documentation to show that shared parking can be 
accomplished. Off-site shared parking spaces shall be clearly posted for the joint use of employees, and/or tenants, 
or customers of each respective use sharing those spaces.  
 

3. Use of Alternative Transportation. Upon demonstration to the Plan Commission that effective 
alternative transportation to the automobile will occur, the Plan Commission may reduce parking 



  4 

requirements. Alternative transportation may include, but is not limited to, bus transit, van pool 
operations, car pool/ride sharing, and bicycles. Proposals for adjustments of parking under this 
section shall show how the alternative transportation modes will be implemented, the permanency 
of such modes, extent of the program, the number of vehicles the mode will replace, and other 
pertinent information.  

 
c.    Banked Parking Spaces. As a condition of a reduction in parking requirements, the Plan Commission may 

require banked parking spaces. In such cases, the site plan for the business or industrial use shall provide 
sufficient open space on the subject site to accommodate the additional parking space otherwise required 
by this Ordinance. Such open space shall be in addition to required yards, setbacks, driveways, private 
streets, loading and service areas. Sufficient open space shall be provided which, if converted to parking 
spaces, would:  

 
1. Provide off-street parking to meet the full requirements of this Ordinance at the time of application, 

and  
2. Ensure that the site shall not exceed the maximum impervious lot coverage as set forth in Article 6. 

 
Standards for Special Uses 
 
No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  

 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  

 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

 



  5 

2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motion  
 
For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motion: 
 
Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for automobile sales in the I-1 
Limited Industrial District, for the property located at 9232 Gulfstream Road, Unit C, Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 19-09-
34-326-015-1003), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the 
following condition(s): 
 

1. There shall be no sales inventory vehicles displayed and/or stored in the existing exterior striped 
parking spaces. 

2. The applicant and/or the property owner shall install privacy slats or a similar type of screening (such 
as tennis court style screening) on the existing chain-link fence that encloses the outdoor storage 
area, prior to occupancy of Unit C. 

 
 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.04

1: 1,128

0 Miles

9232 Gulfstream Road

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

6/1/2023 Date:

0.02

Address Points
Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels
Townships







Site Photos – 9232 Gulfstream Road Unit C 

 

 

Figure 1: 9232 Gulfstream Road, view looking north from parking lot (Unit A at left, Unit B at right). 

 

 

  Figure 2:  9232 Gulfstream Road, east side, view looking north from east driveway entrance.   
    

   



 

 

 

  Figure 3: 9232 Gulfstream Road, west side, view looking north from west driveway entrance. 

 

   Figure 4:  9232 Gulfstream Road Unit C, east side, view looking north from parking lot. 



 

Figure 5:  9232 Gulfstream Road enclosed outdoor storage area, view looking northwest from parking lot. 

 

 

 

Figure 6:  9232 Gulfstream Road enclosed outdoor storage area, view looking southwest from parking lot. 

 



 

Figure 7:  9232 Gulfstream Road paved parking area, view looking north from east side of building. 



86 Degrees Auto Group LLC 

9232 Gulfstream RD. UNIT C FRANKFORT, IL 60423 

Automotive Sales: 

All type of the Vehicles 

Building: 

4400 square feet Showroom 

2 Offices 

Service Types Include: 

Cash deal, 

Finance, 

Extended Warranty 

Trade-in Appraisal. .. 

Hours of Operation: 

Mon - Friday: 1 0:00am - 7:00pm 

Saturday: 1 0:00am - 6:00pm 

Sunday: Closed 

mschwarz
Received







 
 

Fi
nd

in
gs

 o
f 

Fa
ct

 C
om

m
is

si
on

er
 E

va
lu

at
io

n 
Fo

rm
 –

 S
pe

ci
al

 U
se

 P
er

m
it

 
 

Ar
tic

le
 3

, S
ec

tio
n 

E,
 P

ar
t 6

 o
f t

he
 V

ill
ag

e 
of

 Fr
an

kf
or

t Z
on

in
g 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 lis

ts
 “f

in
di

ng
s”

 o
r “

st
an

da
rd

s”
 th

at
 th

e 
Pl

an
 C

om
m

iss
io

n 
m

us
t u

se
 to

 e
va

lu
at

e 
ev

er
y 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 p

er
m

it 
re

qu
es

t. 
N

o 
sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 sh
al

l b
e 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
by

 th
e 

Pl
an

 C
om

m
iss

io
n 

un
le

ss
 a

ll 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

fin
di

ng
s a

re
 m

ad
e.

 
 

 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 

N
O

TE
S 

M
EE

TS
 

a.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

es
ta

bl
ish

m
en

t, 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

r 
op

er
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

de
tr

im
en

ta
l t

o,
 o

r e
nd

an
ge

r, 
th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 h
ea

lth
, 

sa
fe

ty
, m

or
al

s,
 c

om
fo

rt
 o

r g
en

er
al

 w
el

fa
re

. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

b.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
in

ju
rio

us
 to

 th
e 

us
e 

an
d 

en
jo

ym
en

t o
f o

th
er

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 v

ic
in

ity
 fo

r t
he

 p
ur

po
se

s a
lre

ad
y 

pe
rm

itt
ed

, n
or

 su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 d
im

in
ish

 a
nd

 im
pa

ir 
pr

op
er

ty
 v

al
ue

s w
ith

in
 th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

c.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

es
ta

bl
ish

m
en

t o
f t

he
 sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 w
ill

 n
ot

 
im

pe
de

 th
e 

no
rm

al
 a

nd
 o

rd
er

ly
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

nd
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t o

f t
he

 su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 fo
r 

us
es

 p
er

m
itt

ed
 in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t. 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
d.

 
Th

at
 th

e 
ex

te
rio

r a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 a

pp
ea

l a
nd

 
fu

nc
tio

na
l p

la
n 

of
 a

ny
 p

ro
po

se
d 

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
w

ill
 n

ot
 

be
 so

 a
t v

ar
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 e
ith

er
 th

e 
ex

te
rio

r 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

al
 a

pp
ea

l a
nd

 fu
nc

tio
na

l p
la

n 
of

 th
e 

st
ru

ct
ur

es
 a

lre
ad

y 
co

ns
tr

uc
te

d,
 o

r i
n 

th
e 

co
ur

se
 o

f 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

or
 

th
e 

ch
ar

ac
te

r o
f t

he
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

 d
ist

ric
t, 

as
 to

 
ca

us
e 

a 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

l d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
in

 th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 
va

lu
es

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
. 

 
    YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 



e.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

ad
eq

ua
te

 u
til

iti
es

, a
cc

es
s r

oa
ds

, d
ra

in
ag

e 
an

d/
or

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s h

av
e 

be
en

 o
r a

re
 b

ei
ng

 
pr

ov
id

ed
. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
f. 

Th
at

 a
de

qu
at

e 
m

ea
su

re
s h

av
e 

be
en

 o
r w

ill
 b

e 
ta

ke
n 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 in

gr
es

s a
nd

 e
gr

es
s s

o 
de

sig
ne

d 
as

 to
 m

in
im

ize
 tr

af
fic

 c
on

ge
st

io
n 

in
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 
st

re
et

s. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

g.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 sh

al
l, 

in
 a

ll 
ot

he
r r

es
pe

ct
s, 

co
nf

or
m

 to
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 
di

st
ric

t i
n 

w
hi

ch
 it

 is
 lo

ca
te

d,
 e

xc
ep

t a
s s

uc
h 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
 m

ay
, i

n 
ea

ch
 in

st
an

ce
, b

e 
m

od
ifi

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Vi

lla
ge

 B
oa

rd
, p

ur
su

an
t t

o 
th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 P
la

n 
Co

m
m

iss
io

n.
 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

 



Planning Commission / ZBA                                                 S      June 8, 2023 

Project: Sparks Coffee Co. – New Construction    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing   
Request: Major change to PUD, and four additional Special Use Permits 
Location: Hickory Creek Marketplace, Outlot 1E 
Applicant: Aliana Winkle 
Prop. Owner: Winkle R E Properties   
Representative: Applicant 
Staff report by: Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner  

Site Details 

Lot Size: 1.12 acres        Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN: 19-09-15-101-002-0000
Existing Zoning: B-3, General Business (with PUD overlay)
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings: 1 
Total Sq. Ft.: 945 sq. ft. 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

The applicant, Aliana Winkle, is seeking to develop the existing vacant outlot immediately to the west of Emagine 
Theater for use as a drive-through coffee shop (now known as Sparks Coffee).  Customers would have the option 
of using the drive-through windows and taking coffee to-go or parking at the site and ordering from the walk-up 
window.  This property is the last undeveloped outlot in the Hickory Creek Marketplace PUD, which was originally 
approved in 1997 (Ord-1654).  The project would require a Major Change to the existing PUD for the construction 
of the new building (technically a Special Use Permit), plus four (4) additional Special Use Permit requests for a 
carry-out restaurant, a drive-through, outdoor seating, and extended hours.     

Attachments 
1. Aerial Photographs, Village of Frankfort GIS (1:1,500 and 1:3,000 scales)
2. A 3-D isometric aerial image of the Hickory Creek Marketplace (Google images)
3. Findings of Fact for Special Use Permit and Major Change to a PUD
4. Plan Commission meeting minutes excerpt for 11.10.22 workshop and 1.26.23 public hearing
5. Photographs of site, taken by staff 11.1.22
6. Project submittal, including Site Plan, Landscape Plan, Building Elevations, etc., received May 23rd, 2023
7. Exterior Signage Package, received May 1st, 2023

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property      Vacant General Comm. B-3 PUD 

North     Commercial General Comm. B-3 PUD 

South      Commercial General Comm. B-3 PUD 

East     Commercial General Comm. B-3 PUD 

West     Commercial N/A C-2
(Mokena) 

1



Major changes to plans since the last public hearing on January 26th, 2023  
 
This project was reviewed by the Plan Commission as a workshop on November 10th, 2022 and as a public hearing 
on January 26th, 2023.  At the last public hearing on January 26th, the PC/ZBA recommended unanimous approval 
for the Special Use Permits for the carry-out restaurant, drive-through use, the outdoor seating and the extended 
hours of operation. However, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Special Use Permit for the Major 
Change to a PUD through a split 3-2 vote.  Whereas variations require 4 affirmative votes to be considered a 
favorable recommendation, Special Use Permits require only a majority of commissioners present at the meeting.  
As such, the 3-2 is still considered positive, albeit a close vote.  In response to the split vote, the applicant decided 
to not proceed to the Board for final review and instead revised the plans once more to address some of the 
concerns voiced by the commissioners that voted against the Major Change to the PUD.  The meeting minutes of 
both the workshop and the last public hearing have been included with this report.   
 
For ease of reference, staff notes the changes to the plans since the January 26th public hearing:  
 

1. The building now incorporates arches on the rooftop parapet to better match the existing buildings and 
outlots in this commercial PUD.  

2. The grayish “Waterford” brick from the building has been removed completely, which did not match the 
brick color found on most other buildings in this development.  Instead, the darker brown “Waterford” 
brick that was incorporated on some of the building before is now the primary exterior building material.  

3. The amount of cultured stone on the proposed building, which matches most of the buildings in this 
development, has been relegated to mostly wainscot on the building and drive-through columns.  
Formerly, the entire back end of the building (containing the cooler and restroom) was wrapped in 
cultured stone; it is now wrapped mostly in brick.  

4. The metal awnings above the windows on the east, west and north building elevations were changed 
from arched to flat.  The applicant may have understood that arches on the rooftop parapet were more 
important than arching the awnings, per the last public hearing.  

5. The signage on the building has been revised to meet the requirements of Ord-1654 (regulating signage 
within Hickory Creek Marketplace), Ord-3338 (regulating menu boards) and the Village’s Sign Code.  As 
proposed, the wall signs, menu board and directional signs all comply with these codes.   

6. The exterior ladder for rooftop mechanical unit access was relocated from the west façade facing La 
Grange Road to the south façade facing Old National Bank.  

7. A detail drawing of the proposed bike rack has been provided.  
 
Analysis (updated) 

 
Land Use 
 

1. The property is zoned B-3, General Business, with a PUD overlay for a commercial plaza development.  
This zone district is primarily intended to “provide areas to be used for most types of retailing and service 
uses, including those uses that are oriented toward the service of automobiles”.  The proposed drive-
through coffee shop meets the general intent of this zone district.  
 

2. The construction of the proposed coffee shop building within the PUD for Hickory Creek Marketplace 
requires a Major Change to the existing PUD.  Major PUD changes were required to construct the outlot 
buildings for Autozone and Jimmy John’s (Ord-2329 and Ord-2419).   
 

3. The proposed drive-through coffee shop in the B-3 zone district would require five (5) Special Use Permits 
for the following:  

2



 
o Major Change to a PUD 
o Carry-out restaurant 
o Drive-through windows 
o Outdoor seating 
o Extended hours of operation  

 
Normal business hours within the Village are from 7 am – 11 pm.  A Special Use Permit was required for a 
drive-through use and extended hours of operation for Steak & Shake (Ord-2269), which was permitted to 
be open from 5 am to 1 am.  Sparks Coffee is requesting to be open from 5:30 am – 8 pm Monday – 
Saturday and from 6 am – 6 pm on Sunday, which can be allowed through a Special Use Permit.  

 
Site Plan 
 
The underlying zone district of B-3 (General Business) contains dimensional requirements regarding building 
setbacks, height, etc.  Additionally, the PUD is governed by Ord-1654, which has some dimensional regulations that 
supersede the Zoning Ordinance.  Deviation from either of these regulations can be permitted as part of the Major 
Change to the PUD.  Although there is no vehicular access to La Grange Road, there is a 125’ front yard setback 
requirement from the centerline of the road.  By definition, the east property line is then considered the rear yard 
and the north and south property lines are considered side yards.  The proposed building would be set back 125’ 
from the centerline of La Grange Road, meeting the front yard setback requirement.  The building setback is 
measured to the drive-through canopy.   
 
Below are the dimensional standards applicable to the subject property:  

 

  Lot Size 

Front Yard 
Setback (to 
centerline) 

Front Yard 
Landscape 

Setback 
Side Yard 
Setbacks 

Rear Yard 
Setback 

Building 
Height 

Impervious 
Lot Coverage 

Required 20,000 SF 125' 25' 15' 30' 25'* 70% 
Proposed 52,272 SF 125’ 25' 73.6’/115.4’ 89.5’ 21' 56.6% 

 
*per Ord-1654, PUD   
 
Accessory structures in the B-3 zone district must be set back at least 10’ from any property line.  The proposed 
trash enclosure is located 5’ from the south side property line, requiring an exception.  The proposed trash 
enclosure would be constructed of brick to match the building and complies with all other requirements listed in 
the Zoning Ordinance (height, gates).  
 
A sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La Grange Road was discussed during the 
Plan Commission workshop and the last public hearing.  At those times, the Plan Commission expressed a 
preference to preserve the existing, mature, 25’ wide landscape buffer along La Grange Road, instead of losing 
some of this landscaping to provide the sidewalk connection.  The sidewalk connection would have also required 
cutting into the existing berm within this landscape easement.  As such, the sidewalk connection has been 
removed on the latest plan revisions.  Since a sidewalk connection is technically required, an exception would need 
to be granted as part of the Major change to the PUD.  
 
An outdoor seating area is proposed on the north side of the building.  The outdoor seating area would measure 
approximately 800 square feet and may contain tables, chairs and benches.  Article 5, Section C, Part 14 of the 
Zoning Ordinance requires that all restaurant outdoor seating be enclosed by a fence or wall at least 3’ tall, 
regardless of whether alcohol is sold.  Sheet A306 of the submittal illustrates a 3’ tall metal railing that would 
mostly enclose the outdoor seating area.  The outdoor seating area would be further buffered from the drive aisles 
by an approximately 5’ wide landscape bed.  A pedestrian walk-up ordering window is proposed on the west side 
of the building, adjacent to the outdoor dining area.  
 
 

3



Building Materials/Architecture 
 
Building materials and architecture are regulated by the Zoning Ordinance (Article 7, Section A, Parts 5 & 8) and by 
the existing PUD (Ord-1654).  As such, the proposed building materials and architecture should generally match 
the other buildings in Hickory Creek Marketplace.   
 
Staff offers the following comments:   
 

1. The primary building materials are brick and cultured stone, both intended to match or closely match the 
brick and stone on the main building (Emagine Theater).  The brick is used on all four sides of the building 
and is the primary building material.  The cultured stone would primarily be used for wainscot along the 
base of the building, as well as the base of the drive-through support columns.  Corrugated metal siding is 
used for accent features, mostly on the front façade facing La Grange Road.  Bronze corrugated metal 
siding is limited mostly to the top half of the front façade.  Red corrugated metal siding would only be 
applied to the front façade, in a vertical fashion, as an accent feature.  Article 7, Section A, Part 5 (i) of the 
Zoning Ordinance states that “while it is recognized that color is a very subjective matter and that 
creativity should not be stifled, colors should nonetheless be used harmoniously and with some restraint”.  
For comparison, the outlot building on outlot 1D (Mattress Firm/Pizza Hut) currently has green awnings as 
an accent color.  
 

2. Historically, the Village has required that canopy support beams (for drive-throughs and gas station 
canopies) be fully wrapped in masonry.  The combined mix of stone and brick wrapping meets and 
exceeds expectations.  
 

3. The roof would be flat, matching all other buildings in the development.  The parapet of the roof would 
have arches on the east and west sides to mirror the other buildings in this development.  All rooftop 
mechanical units would be screened by masonry and metal parapets, at a height equal to the height of 
the mechanical units.  No ground-mounted mechanical units are proposed, other than a transformer 
located in the landscaped area immediately south of the building.  
 

4. A full basement is proposed as illustrated on Sheet A101.  Although not defined on the floorplan, it was 
stated by the applicant at the workshop meeting that the basement will be used for storage.  
 

5. An exterior ladder for roof access is attached to the south side of the building facing Old National Bank.  
Relocating this ladder to a façade other than the west façade was made a condition of approval at the last 
public hearing.  
 

6. Historically, the Village has not permitted the use of thin brick on commercial buildings.  At the workshop 
and public hearing, the PC/ZBA stated that the building be constructed of regular brick, not thin brick as 
originally proposed.  The use of regular brick was also made a condition of approval at the last public 
hearing.  It’s believed that the building elevations and trash enclosure now propose regular brick.   
 

Parking & Circulation 
 
The subject property is located between the existing outlots for Old National Bank and the strip commercial 
building that contains Mattress Firm, Pizza Hut, etc.  The subject property would only be accessible via a shared 
access drive within Hickory Creek Marketplace; there would be no new access to La Grange Road.  There would be 
no cross-access between the subject property and the two adjacent outlots.  Traffic would enter the site from the 
northern access driveway only and circulate on-site in a counterclockwise fashion.  Traffic could exit the site from 
either the southern access driveway (one-way out) or the northern access driveway (two-way).   
 
Staff offers the following comments:  
 

1. Parking for fast food (carry-out) restaurants is required a ratio of 1 space per 75 square feet of gross floor 
area, plus 1 space for every 2 employees during the largest working shift.  The building would be 945 
square feet and staffed by up to 4 people at once, requiring 15 spaces.  A total of 24 parking spaces would 

4



be provided on-site, including 1 ADA space, complying with the parking requirement. The Zoning 
Ordinance is silent regarding whether outdoor seating area is counted toward the total parking 
requirement for restaurant uses.  For the purposes of this report, the outdoor seating area was not 
counted toward the total parking required.  If the outdoor seating area was counted as floor area of the 
restaurant, a total of 25 parking spaces would be required.  
 

2. Per the existing PUD (Ord-1654), each parcel must provide its own parking on-site.  There is a “reciprocal 
easement agreement” within Ord-1654, which allows for shared access between parcels (but not shared 
parking) within the PUD.   
 

3. The drive-through lane would consist of dual lanes, similar to McDonald’s on La Grange Road.  There 
would be no order board.  Rather, orders would be given to employees outside, similar to ordering at a 
Chick-fil-A restaurant.  A 14.5’ wide bypass lane exists adjacent to the drive-through lane.   
 

4. Both Village staff and Robinson Engineering requested that the southern access drive to the property be 
made two-way instead of one-way exit only.  As proposed, the southern exit-only driveway is 21’ wide, 
which is only slightly narrower than the northern two-way driveway at 25’.  As such, motorists may try to 
treat the one-way driveway as two-way which could cause confusion.  Instead, the southern driveway 
should be widened to 25’ and made two-way or narrowed to approximately 14.5’ wide if it remains one-
way.  If the southern driveway were converted to two-way, it would not affect the flow of traffic around 
the site in a counterclockwise motion.   

 
Loading 
 

1. Due to the small size of the building (945 sq. ft.), a loading space is not required per the Zoning Ordinance. 
Staff still recommends discussing where and how loading would occur on-site.  
 

Landscaping 
 

1. There is a 25’ wide landscape easement located along La Grange Road for all properties in the PUD, 
including the subject property.  The landscape easement on the subject property has a small berm (2’ +/-) 
and contains several mature trees and shrubs, notably evergreen trees.   
 

2. The Landscape Plan illustrates additional plantings of shrubs and ground cover within the landscape 
buffer within the easement, including some evergreen shrubs (junipers and yews).  This evergreen 
material, once fully grown, is intended to obscure the view of cars in the drive-through and their 
headlights aimed toward La Grange Road.  Junipers typically grow up to 15” tall and Yews 36” tall at full 
maturity.   
 

3. The Landscaping Regulations as listed in §158.30(B) of the Code of Ordinances require that a 5’ wide 
landscape bed be located adjacent to drive-through lanes, separating the drive-through lanes from other 
vehicular use areas.  This landscape bed was not included on the Site Plan (or Landscape Plan) but could 
be waived as an exception under the Major Change to the PUD.   
 

4. Landscaping is proposed around the trash enclosure and within the center of the site around the building 
and outdoor seating area.  
 

5. 2 evergreen trees and 1 deciduous tree (Honeylocust) would be removed from the site located along the 
east property line.  The applicant is proposing to plant 2 Swamp White Oak trees along the east property 
line, 1 Street Maple south of the building and 4 fir trees along the southern property line around the 
proposed trash enclosure.  None of the trees to be removed are preservation trees, although they are 
mature.  
 
 
 
 

5



Lighting 
 

1. A Photometric Plan has been provided illustrating 6 new 20’ tall light poles.  The light levels comply with 
the levels permitted in the Zoning Ordinance.   
 

2. The concrete bases of the light poles should match the other light pole bases in Hickory Creek 
Marketplace, and a rendering of this has been included on the Photometric Plan.  
 

3. The existing light pole fixtures within Hickory Creek Marketplace are painted white, with a “shoebox” style 
light fixture.  It’s unlikely that the applicant could procure light fixtures that exactly match the existing 
light pole fixtures.  However, staff recommends that the proposed light poles be painted white to match 
the rest of the PUD.  The white color has been noted on the Photometric Plan.  
 

4. The maximum height of light poles in the B-3 zone district is 25’.  The proposed light poles would be 20’ 
tall, complying with this requirement.  
 

5. In addition to 6 six light poles, there would also be 4 recessed can lights beneath the drive-through 
canopy.  

 
Signage 
 
Signage for Outparcel 1E is governed by the following:  
 

• Ord-1654, Exhibit E (Hickory Creek Marketplace) 
• Ord- 3338 (Menu Boards) 
• Sign Code, Village of Frankfort 

 
An exterior sign package (Uniform Sign Plan) has been provided, illustrating the wall signs, directional signs and the 
menu board.  Staff reviewed the proposed signage against all applicable sign codes and found that all of them 
comply.  The applicant is aware that the 3D building elevation drawings do not match the exterior sign package but 
noted on the plans that the sign package should supersede.  
 
Ord-1654 notes the following:  

• Up to 2 wall signs are permitted 
• Logos are permitted 
• Up to 2 lines of text permitted 
• Wall signs may have up to 3 colors 
• Letters/symbols can’t exceed 42” tall 
• Letter depth can’t exceed 6” 
• Raceways are not permitted 
• Length of sign can’t exceed 70% of the frontage 
• 25 SF of sign area per lineal foot of building frontage 

 
The Hickory Creek Marketplace multi-tenant buildings, unlike the single-building outlots, may only have white 
channel letter wall signs, except for the anchor tenants of Emagine, Staples and Home Depot.  For example, the 
single tenant buildings of Autozone and Steak & Shake have orange and red signage, whereas the multi-tenant 
building containing Mattress Firm and Pizza Hut has all-white signage.  As a single-tenant building, Sparks Coffee 
would be permitted up to 3 different colors for its wall signage.  
 
Two large ground signs exist for Hickory Creek Marketplace: one sign along La Porte Road and the other at the 
main entrance to the PUD along La Grange Road.  These two large ground signs only contain the names of the 
anchor tenant stores of Home Depot, Emagine and Staples.  There is one smaller ground sign located midblock 
along La Grange Road, between the plaza’s main entrance and La Porte Road, in front of the strip retail building 
containing Mattress Firm.  This smaller ground sign contains the names of some of the smaller tenants, including 
Goodwill, Pizza Hut and Great Clips.  The subject property, Outlot 1E, was purchased by the applicant, whereas 

6



much of the rest of the PUD is owned by “Hickory Creek Market Place”.  Since the properties are within the same 
PUD but under separate ownership, it’s uncertain whether the applicant could place their name on the smaller 
ground sign. 
 
Preliminary Engineering 
 
The site is currently served by Village water, sanitary and storm utilities.  Per a review by Robinson Engineering, on-
site stormwater detention for Hickory Creek Marketplace is already provided in the detention pond behind 
Emagine Theater.  Any engineering review work is expected to be minor.   
 
Requests – Summarized  
 
Exceptions:  
 
Three (3) exceptions are anticipated:  

1. Reduced trash enclosure setback of 5’ (10’ required from any lot line) 
2. Relief from the required 5’ wide landscape bed adjacent to drive through lanes 
3. Relief from the required sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La Grange 

Road 
 
Special Use Permits: 
 
Five (5) Special Use Permits are anticipated:  

1. Major Change to a PUD 
2. Carry-out restaurant  
3. Drive-up service windows associated with a permitted use  
4. Outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant  
5. Extended hours of operation  

 
Affirmative Motions  
 

1. Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Major Change to a PUD, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans and public testimony, conditioned on final engineering approval, using standard brick instead of thin 
brick on the building and the following exceptions:  
 

a. Reduced trash enclosure setback of 5’ (10’ required from any lot line) 
b. Relief from the required 5’ wide landscape bed adjacent to drive through lanes 
c. Relief from the required sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La 

Grange Road 
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a carry-out restaurant use on the 
property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance with the reviewed plans and 
public testimony and conditioned on final engineering approval.  
 

3. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow drive-up service windows associated 
with a permitted use on the property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned on final engineering approval.  

 
4. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow outdoor seating associated with a 

permitted restaurant on the property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned on final engineering approval.  

 
5. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow extended hours of operation (5:30 

am – 8 pm Monday – Saturday and from 6 am – 6 pm on Sunday) on the property located at Outlot 1E in 
Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned 
on final engineering approval.  

7



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

W LA PORTE RD

W ST FRANCIS RD

0 500 1,000250
Feet

µ
Major PUD Change - Caffeinated Concepts

8



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

W LA PORTE RD

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
Major PUD Change - Caffeinated Concepts

9



 

 

10



11



12



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

The establishment will permit only low speed on site to enter into queue, ensuring a 
safe environment for the public. The establishment’s access points were thoughtfully 
placed to not allow cramming in the drive-thru and will not be detrimental to public 
health. 

The site has been vacant for years, our establishment will improve the site’s 
aesthetics. The special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of the other 
properties, as the queuing will be contained on the parcel. The neighbors are 
commercial not residential; therefore, the special use will not diminish property value.

The establishment will not impede the normal and orderly development, for food 
service is already a permitted use in the district, the drive-thru is merely the method of 
product delivery and will be contained on site. 

Our establishment is committed to high quality building, utilizing a mixture of both brick 
and stone. It will match the quality and construction of the neighboring level of 
development.

13



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

The building will only be around 750 square feet; the utilities were placed to withstand 
the larger surrounding buildings. Consumers will enter our establishment from the 
access points provided to the marketplace, both north and south.

Those traveling from the north will turn left on to La Porte rd then right in to the 
marketplace. They will follow the road until they take a right in to our establishment. 
Those traveling from the south will take a right into the marketplace then a left at the 4-
way stop, leading them to make a left in to our establishment. 
Those access points have been approved to handle Frankfort traffic. 

Our project will follow all applicable codes.

14



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 1 

MINUTES

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        November 10, 2022–VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING   

432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Brian James, Nichole Schaeffer, Dan 
Knieriem, Will Markunas 

Commissioners Absent: Jessica Jakubowski, David Hogan 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Chris Gruba, Planner Drew Duffin

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from October 27th, 2022 

Motion (#1): To approve the minutes from October 27th, 2022. 

Motion by: Knieriem Seconded by: Schaeffer

Approved: (4-0, Commissioner Markunas Abstained)  

B. Workshop: Drive Through Coffee Shop – Hickory Creek Marketplace Subdivision  

Chris Gruba gave the staff report.

The applicant and the architect approached the stand. The architect explained that their 
civil engineer could not make it to the meeting. Neither person had anything more to add. 

Chair Rigoni asked for comments on the proposed use. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the proposed restaurant was part of a larger chain or an 
independent restaurant.  

The applicant our responded that the proposed building would be their first location, but 
that their short-term goal was to open ten locations in total. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant was in the restaurant business. 

15

cgruba
Highlight



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 2 
 

The applicant stated that restaurants were a family business. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant was from the Frankfort area. 

The applicant stated she was from the area.  

Commissioner Knieriem said he thought the location was a good spot for this use, 
especially given the other coffee uses nearby were always busy. It was a good location. 
He asked how their concept differed from other coffee shops. 

The applicant explained that they would utilize a double drive-through lane, which would 
help to manage throughput. There would also be runners delivering orders to car 
windows, similar to Chick-fil-A or Portillo’s.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if there would be an app for preordering from the 
restaurant, since there were no proposed order boards. 

The applicant said that there might be in the future.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked whether the proposed basement would be used for 
storage. 

The applicant responded that it would.  

Commissioner Knieriem thanked the applicant for their work to align color scheme of the 
proposed building with the surrounding buildings in the PUD. He believed it looked 
good.  

Commissioner Schaeffer agreed with Commissioner Knieriem. She asked if there would 
be any indoor seating.  

The applicant said there would not be, and that the inside would be employees only. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked where the applicant would source the business’ coffee 
from. 

The app explained they were looking at different roasters at the moment. Ideally, they 
would pick someone local, but no decision had been made yet. 

Commissioner Markunas asked how runners would take orders. 

The applicant responded that runners would use tablets.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if those same runners would deliver orders to cars. 

The applicant said they would.  

16



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 3 
 

Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant if they were looking to eliminate the drive-
through chokepoint by allowing people to pull out of the line one they received their 
orders. 

The applicant said that was the case. 

Commissioner James expressed his concern for the safety of people moving through the 
site, both pedestrians and drivers, based on the proposed layout. 

The applicant noted that it was a priority for her as well. 

The architect noted that there was striping on the site plan to alert drivers to areas which 
would be frequented by pedestrians. 

Commissioner James noted that the proposed building was a relatively niche design. He 
thought the Plan Commission should consider how the proposed structure could be used 
by a future occupant. It was a good location, and the Plan Commission should consider 
that when deciding on their recommendation. 

Chair Rigoni noted that the uses seemed appropriate. She also said that she was 
struggling to understand how the drive-through would work, since it was an uncommon 
approach to handling drive-through traffic. She asked for comments on the list of 
exceptions developed by staff which might be requested at a future public hearing. 

Commissioner Markunas asked why the applicant did not redesign the northern entrance 
to be a two-way entrance, rather than an exit-only driveway.  

The applicant explained that they wanted all cars entering the site to enter the drive 
through line. Having an entrance on the north side of the property could result in people 
cutting into line. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant would consider changing the north 
driveway into a two-way driveway. From a safety perspective, he believed that some 
people would turn in through there anyway. 

The applicant said she was open to making that change.  

The architect stated that they could change the design to make it clear that driveway was 
not an entrance.  

Commissioner Markunas explained that people could still use it as an entrance anyway.  

Commissioner Knieriem agreed. Widening north entrance would make the property 
friendlier to patrons. He could see the applicant’s concern, but believed it would be better 
to make it a two-way entrance. 

17



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 4 
 

Chair Rigoni noted that, given parking was proposed along the south property line, there 
ought to be a way to access that parking without needing to drive all the way around the 
building. She thought the building should be reoriented, and be laid out similar to the 
Steak n’ Shake to the south. Most drive-throughs in Frankfort were not build so close to 
La Grange Road, and flipping the proposed design so the drive-through was on the east 
side of the property would be consistent with other development, and would eliminate the 
need for the exception to reduce the required building setback from the centerline of La 
Grange Road.  

Commissioner James added that it could also provide the applicant an opportunity to 
better utilize their proposed signage. 

Chair Rigoni made clear that she was not trying to change the applicant’s design, but 
asked the applicant to consider what the Plan Commission was suggesting. 

The architect noted that the proposed drive-through was oriented a certain way, and 
changing it would be inconvenient to drivers. 

Chair Rigoni clarified that she was asking the applicant to consider reorienting the site 
plan so that a drive-through would work as normal. She noted that the proposed canopy 
was larger than normal for a restaurant, and that the proposed canopy appeared more like 
a bank drive-through. 

Commissioner Markunas added that reorienting the building would would help with 
parking too, since a patron would not need to drive all the way around the drive through 
line to access parking. 

The architect asked for the Plan Commission for clarity on their suggested reorientation. 
He noted that reorienting the building the way they suggested would push the building 
back further from La Grange Road. 

Chair Rigoni noted that the building would be a fixed point. She asked staff to make sure 
the setbacks of the proposed building were aligned with nearby buildings rather than 
focus on following the letter of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the Plan Commission’s suggestion was clear to the 
applicant.  

The applicant said it was, and that they had considered a similar design before. They 
wanted to be closer to the road, however.  

Chair Rigoni said she understood that desire, but that they would still have to meet 
setback requirements. She suggested the applicant look at how Steak n’ Shake laid out 
their building so the drive-through was away from La Grange Road.  

18



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 5 
 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the exceptions related to the setback from La Grange 
Road would be unneeded if the building was reoriented. 

Chair Rigoni said it was possible. 

An aerial view of the nearby Steak n’ Shake was displayed on the screen. 

The architect stated that the Steak n’ Shake layout was a potential option. He thought the 
Plan Commission was suggesting relocating the proposed parking on the east side of the 
property to the west side, close to La Grange Road.  

Commissioner Schaeffer said that they applicant should also keep in mind that there 
would be landscaping between their building and La Grange Road. People drove fast 
along that road, and may not clearly see your building when passing. She understood 
their desire to get as close to La Grange Road as possible, but it might not be as 
advantageous as they were thinking. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that reorienting the building would also mean the large 
proposed sign on the east façade would face La Grange Road.  

The architect agreed. 

Chair Rigoni asked for comments relating to the proposed building and building 
materials.  

Commissioner Markunas stated he thought they were good. He was glad the applicant 
had worked with staff. The current proposal gave the building an individual character but 
still tried to match surrounding area. 

Commissioner James agreed, but expressed his concern with the proposed thin brick 
veneer. He noted that the Plan Commission preferred structural brick.  

Commissioner Schaeffer agreed. She stated that she liked the lighter stone accents. She 
added that while structural brick may cost more, but was standard in the Village. 

Commissioner Knieriem added that if a car hit the thin brick around the canopy column, 
it would be an issue for the business. It would be an issue for the driver if the applicant 
instead used full structural brick. 

Chair Rigoni noted that there was uniformity in the surrounding shopping center, and that 
the applicant was the last one to develop their property. The proposal did not incorporate 
an arch element into their design, which was present in other buildings in the PUD. To 
her, the biggest sticking point was architecture. On its own, the proposed design was 
great, and would appear so at another location. Her issue was how it related to the other 
buildings around it. The proposed building was not cohesive, especially with the red 
coloring. 

19



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 6 
 

Commissioner Knieriem asked Chair Rigoni which arches she was referring to.  

Chair Rigoni explained that the arch element was incorporated differently with each 
building, but was present regardless. Building designs became flatter as they approached 
the intersection of St. Francis Road and La Grange Road.  

The applicant asked if the building to the north of their property had arch elements. 

Chair Rigoni said there was and arch in the stone detailing above the entryway. She 
turned the conversation toward landscaping. She asked if staff was looking for direction 
on the potential tradeoff between connecting to the sidewalk along La Grange Road and 
removing a large evergreen tree. 

Chris Gruba explained that connecting to the sidewalk along La Grange Road was 
required per code, and the applicant was looking to install it, but the Plan Commission 
could consider waiving that requirement at the request of the applicant.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that if the building was reoriented, it might not be an 
issue.  

Chair Rigoni asked if any other buildings had a connection to that sidewalk.  

Chris Gruba noted that Steak n’ Shake had one.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that there was not a lot of pedestrian traffic on La Grange 
Road, and asked the applicant if they wanted the sidewalk connection. 

The applicant said they had no preference either way. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that not installing the sidewalk could be cheaper. 

Commissioner Schaeffer stated that it was a different story near the high school, but that 
in the area near the applicant, there were very few pedestrians. She then asked if the 
landscaping in the north west corner would screen headlights on the turn radius. 

Chris Gruba said that some plants would, but not all. Staff asked for taller landscaping to 
screen headlights, but none had been proposed yet.  

Chair Rigoni noted that since the site might be laid out differently at the next meeting, the 
applicant had a chance to address concerns about headlights. She asked the Plan 
Commission if they had any comments on the proposed signage. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that two different sign sets were given to staff, and asked 
which ones the applicant was going to use.  

The applicant stated they would use the signage details found on the proposed elevations. 

20



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 7 
 

Chair Rigoni asked of the proposed signage met the Village regulations. 

Chris Gruba stated that the proposed signage currently exceeded regulations. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if they were looking to paint a sign on the 
wall. 

The applicant explained that their intent was to install a box sign 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if it would be illuminated. 

The applicant said it would. 

Chris Gruba stated that, as proposed, the development did not comply with the PUD sign 
regulations.  

Commissioner Markunas said that staff could work with the applicant to meet the 
requirements. 

The architect asked if they would be allowed to paint the wall. 

Chair Rigoni said she did not think it would be. 

Chris Gruba said it was not allowed, according to the PUD Ordinance for Hickory Creek 
Marketplace. 

Chair Rigoni noted they proposed more than two signs, which was not allowed per Code. 

The architect noted that they should remove the proposed canopy signs, which would 
address the number of signs. That would leave only the size regulations to comply with. 

Commissioner Markunas agreed, and said that they could work with staff to meet code.  

The applicant asked if unilluminated signs were still considered signs per code. 

Chair Rigoni said they were.  

There was some discussion on the regulation which required a landscape barrier between 
bypass lanes and drive-through lanes. The Plan Commission expressed that they were 
generally alright with the applicant not meeting that code requirement.  

Chris Gruba asked if the Plan Commission had any comments on the outdoor seating 
area.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that the building was located along La Grange Road, 
which had high traffic volumes. He suggested the applicant consider installing extra 
landscaping to help reduce noise.  

21



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 8 
 

Chris Gruba asked if the Plan Commission thought the proposal was ready to come to a 
Public Hearing. 

Chair Rigoni said she was, unless there were any major changes. She asked what time the 
restaurant would close.  

The applicant said that they would close at 8:00.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if they would sell food.  

The applicant stated that they would sell pre-prepared foods such as pastries, but nothing 
else. 

C. Workshop: 15 Ash Street – Old Frankfort Mall  

Chris Gruba gave the staff report. 

The applicants, Mike and Chris, approached the stand. They were joined by Chris 
Tokarz, their architect. They brought an additional presentation for the PC as well, which 
was not able to be displayed on screen due to technical issues.  

The architect explained that they had originally proposed parking along White Street. The 
Public Works Department and Village staff recommended against adding on-street 
parking within the right-of-way of White Street but were amenable to adding a 12’x50 
loading space within the right-of-way. The architect had done a lot of reorganization of 
tenant spaces on the interior of the building, so that all would have street access. Other 
changes were made to accommodate the transformer, but their options were limited since 
the building was so close to the lot lines. He created an alcove that would allow for an 
on-site interior transformer, the design of which had yet to be finalized. All tenants would 
have access to a street and an interior area for back-of-house needs. The landscape plan 
showed that trees would be provided within the rights-of-way of Ash, White and Kansas 
streets. The current plan did not include two trees which were proposed on Ash Street and 
Kansas Street, but they would be added to comply with code. The building was in a 
unique situation, since there were streets on three sides and no rear property line, which 
resulted in certain variances. The proposed building would fill out the property. The 
applicant stated that the project would not be feasible unless the building were expanded 
to nearly all property lines. One other major change was to the second-floor residential 
hall. They took some space out of the bowling alley, so now the proposed dwelling units 
were larger. The tradeoff they made was in losing event space within the bowling alley, 
but the existing bowling alley lanes would remain. A proposed roof deck and observation 
deck would be located above the bowling alley and above the 3rd floor of the addition, 
respectively. On the third floor, there was a proposed roof deck and observation deck. In 
regard to comments on the building height, Kansas Street slopes up from White Street to 
Oak Street. The proposed 45-foot building height was measured at White Street, but 42 
feet on Ash Street. 28 Kansas Street was currently the highest building along Kansas 

22



 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        January 26, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Brian James, Dan Knieriem, Will Markunas, 
Nichole Schaeffer 

Commissioners Absent: David Hogan, Jessica Jakubowski 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Christopher Gruba 

Elected Officials Present:  Trustee Daniel Rossi  

A. Approval of the Minutes from January 12th, 2023 

Motion (#1): To approve the minutes from January 12th, 2023. 

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Markunas 

Approved: (4-0, Commissioner Schaeffer Abstained)  

B. Public Hearing: Drive-Through Coffee Shop – Hickory Creek Marketplace 
Subdivision 

Chair Rigoni swore in member of the audience wishing to provide testimony. 
 
Chris Gruba presented the staff report and summarized the changes to the plans since the 
workshop meeting. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the applicant if she wanted to make additional comments. 
 
Aliana Winkle approached the podium and offered to answer any additional questions from 
the commission. 
 
The project architect approached the podium and offered to answer any questions from the 
commission.  He stated that is has been about eight months since they filed an application, and 
they did take into account the comments that were provided at the workshop. 

 
 

23

cgruba
Highlight



Chair Rigoni asked if there was anyone in the audience wishing to provide testimony.  There 
was no response. 
 

Motion (#2): To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: Markunas 

Approved: 5-0  

Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there was any questions or comments on the special 
uses.  There were none. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there were any questions or comments on the Major 
Change to the PUD.  There were none. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there were any questions about the site plan. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer asked about the direction of traffic flow.   
 
Aliana Winkle stated that the flow would be clockwise around the building. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked about the order taking. 
 
Aliana Winkle stated that all order taking will be done outdoors at the drive-up and the order 
takers will have head-to-toe custom clothing and outdoor heaters for the winter months. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if there would be a menu board. 
 
Aliana responded that they will just have a small signpost for customers to scan a QR code, 
which would bring up the menu on their phone. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked staff if they received the complete signage plan for the site including any 
menu boards and directional signs. 
 
Chris Gruba responded no, only the wall and canopy signage was submitted as provided in the 
packet. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked if the commission had any issue with the waiver of the 
landscaping around the bypass lane.  There was consensus that this was not an issue. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked about the type of brick that is proposed. 
 
The project architect stated that they are proposing to use thin brick. 
 
There was some discussion among the commissioner members about the dimension of the 
brick and Village standards that would apply. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer stated that she is fine with the architecture. 
 

24



Commissioner Markunas stated that bringing in the arches on the canopies helps.  He also 
stated that the thin brick has not been allowed in the Hickory Creek Marketplace development. 
 
The project architect stated that dimensional brick would add more cost to the project, but they 
could install this by adding a concrete sill or brick ledge. 
 
Commissioner James asked about the east elevation, which shows that the dominant material 
is the lighter color brick and the accents are the darker brick, which is different from the other 
buildings in the Hickory Creek Marketplace development. 
 
The project architect responded that he looked at the brick colors on the Emagine Theatre 
which has a similar situation. 
 
Chair Rigoni state that she serious concerns about the architecture and the color scheme not 
matching the rest of the Hickory Creek Marketplace PUD.  This is the last site and the proposed 
building should match the other buildings such as Steak and Shake. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commissioners if there were any questions or comments about parking. 
 
There was consensus that parking was not an issue. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there were any questions or comments about circulation. 
 
There was consensus that circulation was not an issue. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there were any questions or comments about loading. 
 
There was consensus that loading was not an issue. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if the commission if there were any questions or comments about 
landscaping. 
 
There was consensus that landscaping was not an issue. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked staff about the fence detail. 
 
Chris Gruba responded that the fence around the outdoor seating would be a black metal fence. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there were any questions or concerns about lighting. 
 
There was consensus that lighting was not an issue. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission if there were any questions or comments about signage. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that it was clear from the feedback that the commission provided at the 
workshop that the applicant was supposed to comply with Ordinance No. 1654. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the applicant is she was choosing to deviate from the original signage. 
 

25



Alaina replied yes but she will not die on that hill. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the commission members if there were any question or comments about 
signage.  
 
Commissioner James stated that he no questions at this time. 
 
Commissioner Markunas stated to the applicant that we talked at the workshop about matching 
the PUD as far as signage. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer stated that she likes the retro sign on the east side, but maybe if they 
have to remove signage, it can be done on the canopy.   
 
Alina Winkle responded that they did flip that retro sign to the LaGrange Road (west) side. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he agrees that the Municipal Code only allows two signs, 
and he supports that.  They can come back later for another variation if needed. 
 
There was some discussion about signage as related to the overall PUD and the timing of 
making any request for deviations. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that the commission didn’t even let Starbucks have signage on the canopy 
of the drive through. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that the commission is looking for the applicant to meet the Village’s Sign 
Code.  She added that should they decide they do not want to meet the Sign Code staff needs 
more information in order to identify all of the deviations.   
 
Chair Rigoni stated that she does not feel comfortable with the signage as presented. 
 
Commissioner Markunas stated the commission would be comfortable with a stipulation that 
the signage would be in accordance with the requirements of the Hickory Creek Marketplace 
PUD.   
 
Chair Rigoni noted that the Village standard condition which states “in accordance with the 
submitted plans” would not apply to the signage plan as it is currently presented. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked about the parapet wall screening the rooftop units.   
 
Chris Gruba affirmed that the rooftop HVAC units would be screened from view. 
 
There was some discussion about the location of the rooftop ladder. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that this exterior ladder will invite trouble. 
 
The project architect state that the ladder does not need to be on the La Grange Road (west) 
side, so thank you for pointing that out.  The ladder will have a lock-up cage to keep people 
from climbing. 
 

26



Chair Rigoni asked staff why two trees had to be removed. 
 
Chris Gruba deferred to the applicant to respond. 
 
Robin Ersfeldt, the project engineer, approached the podium stated that one tree was removed 
to clear the sight triangle as vehicles enter and exit the site. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that she was concerned about the net loss of one tree when there is room 
on the site to add another tree. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if there were any other questions or comments. 
 
Mike Schwarz mentioned that the light poles within the parking lot will be lower than the other 
lots within the development and just wanted to make sure that was on the record should there 
be any concerns from the commission.  He noted that the new light poles will have LED style 
fixtures and will not have the “shoe-box” style fixtures which are found on the excising taller 
parking lot light poles in the development.  The paint color of the new light poles and fixtures 
as well as the concrete bases would match the existing light poles and fixtures.   

 

Motion (#3):  Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Major Change to a PUD 
including the following exceptions to the Zoning Ordinance: 

1. Reduced trash enclosure setback of 5’ (10’ required from any lot line); 
2. Relief from the required 5’ wide landscape bed adjacent to drive through lanes; 

and,  
3. Relief from the required sidewalk connection from the building to the existing 

sidewalk along La Grange Road, 
 

in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony, conditioned on: 

1. Final engineering approval; 
2. Using standard brick instead of thin brick on the building; 
3. Submittal and staff review and approval of a complete signage package which 

is in accordance with Ordinance No. 1654; and, 
4. Relocation of the exterior rooftop access ladder to a side other than the west 

façade. 
 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (3-2) (Rigoni, James voted no) 

Motion (#4):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a 
carry-out restaurant use on the property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, 
in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned on final 
engineering approval.  

 

27



Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (5-0) 

Motion (#5):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow drive-
up service windows associated with a permitted use on the property located at Outlot 1E in 
Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony 
and conditioned on final engineering approval.  

Motion by: James   Seconded by: Knieriem 

Approved: (5-0) 

Motion (#6):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow 
outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant on the property located at Outlot 1E 
in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony 
and conditioned on final engineering approval.  

Motion by: James   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (5-0) 

Motion (#7):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow 
extended hours of operation (5:30 am – 8 pm Monday – Saturday and from 6 am – 6 pm 
on Sunday) on the property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned on final 
engineering approval.  

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (5-0) 

C. Public Comments 

There were none.  

D. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the Village Board approved the following items at their meeting 
on January 17th, 2023, which had previously appeared before the Plan Commission: 

• Taqueria Mammy Chaya Special Use Permit for Accessory Liquor Sales: 21206 
S. LaGrange Road - Ordinance was approved. 
 

• Formal Legal Objection to Rezoning: Will County Zoning Case ZC-22-045 - 
PIN: 18-13-08-100-014-0000 – Resolution was approved. 

E. Other Business 

There was no other business. 

28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35

cgruba
Polygon



 

36



37



RECEIVED 5.1.23

38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



55” Double Samsung Digital Menu Board
Designed for your digital signage application

 

 

The PDG QSRDMB255 is made for the 
QSR industry and supports (2) Samsung 
55” OHF displays. This digital drive thru 
menu board is rated for temperatures 
of -20f to 122f and is wind load rated up 
to 140 mph. This system is unique in 
that there are no custom designed 
display cabinets. The Samsung OHF 
display is already IP56 rated and does 
not require additional protection from 
the environment.

Since this solution is a digital board 
mount you can buy the display or PDG 
can purchase IT if that is preferred. PDG 
stocks this solution and can ship in (24) 
hours.

Constructed using 7 GA. high impact 
steel braces and ¼” thick walled tubing 
which will insure longevity and years of 
use. This DMB solution is first primed 
with a zinc rich primer and can be 
painted virtually any color you want. For 
high traffic areas there is an optional 
front cover bumper housing available.

QSRDMB255

palmerdigitalgroup.com | Palmer Digital Group  619 N Loucks St. Aurora, IL 60505

PALMER DIGITAL GROUP
Manufactured Kiosk Solutions

A Division of IEC

This solution comes equipped with a 
4-outlet quad box and a Zero Surge 
model OEM6-20W-120 power filter. 
With this fully designed system surge 
issues are a thing of the past. 

 55 

 72.81 

 23.19 

 18.45 

 10.00 

 48.00 

 10.73 

 18.45 

 6.00 

 57.59 

47



COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

ARCHITECT OF RECORD GENERAL CONTRACTOR

ENGINEERS OF RECORD

2
/1

0
/2

0
2
3

 4
:0

1
:4

6
 P

M

G000B
COVER V2

DRIVE-THRU COFFEE
DEVELOPMENT

Frankfort, IL 60423

. Description Date
STAFF RVW 5/28/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

48

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Callout
SEE EXTERIOR SIGNAGE PACKAGE FOR CORRECT SIGN DESIGN



49

cgruba
Received



S
O

U
T

H
 
 
 
 
 
L
a
G

R
A

N
G

E
 
 
 
 
 
 
R

O
A

D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(
U

S
 
 
 
 
R

O
U

T
E

 
 
 
4
5
)

Prepared For:

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
S

D
A

T
E

N
O

.

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
B

Y
:

D
.
 
O

L
S

O
N

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
N

O
.
:

1
"
 
=

 
2

0
'

D
A

T
E

:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

D
.
 
O

L
S

O
N

2
2

-
0

2
6

S
C

A
L

E
:

J
.
M

I
L

L
E

R
C

H
E

C
K

E
D

 
B

Y
:

A
L

I
A

N
A

 
W

I
N

K
L

E

F
r
a

n
k
f
o

r
t
,
 
I
L

S
P

A
R

K
S

 
C

O
F

F
E

E

S
.
 
L

a
 
G

r
a

n
g

e
 
R

o
a

d
,
 
S

o
u

t
h

 
o

f
 
W

.
 
L

a
p

o
r
t
e

 
R

o
a

d

F
r
a

n
k
f
o

r
t
,
 
I
l
l
i
n

o
i
s

Prepared By:

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

1 of 1SITE PLAN

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

N

W

N

E

S

E

S

W

w
a

t
e

r
m

a
r
k
-
e

n
g

i
n

e
e

r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m
 
 
|
 
 
2

6
3

1
 
G

i
n

g
e

r
 
W

o
o

d
s
 
P

k
w

y
 
|
 
A

u
r
o

r
a

,
 
I
L

 
6

0
5

0
2

 
|
 
 
(
6

3
0

)
 
3

7
5

-
1

8
0

0

M
A

Y
 
2

6
,
 
2

0
2

2

0
6
/
1
7
/
2
2

1
P

E
R

 
V

I
L
L
A

G
E

 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

 
L
T

R
 
D

A
T

E
D

 
6
/
7
/
2
2

0
8
/
1
8
/
2
2

2
P

E
R

 
7
/
1
2
/
2
2
 
 
S

T
A

F
F

 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
 
A

N
D

 
7
/
2
8
/
2
2
 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

1
0
/
2
7
/
2
2

3
P

E
R

 
9
/
2
2
/
2
2
 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

1
1
/
2
8
/
2
2

4
P

E
R

 
P

C
 
W

O
R

K
S

H
O

P
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

2
/
0
9
/
2
3

5
D

I
G

I
T

A
L
 
M

E
N

U
 
B

O
A

R
D

 
L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N
 
A

D
D

E
D

 
P

E
R

 
P

C
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
 

50



SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

Prepared For:

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

D
.O

LS
O

N

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:

1"
 =

 2
0'

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

N
O

VE
M

BE
R

 2
8,

 2
02

2

D
.O

LS
O

N

22
-0

26

SC
AL

E:

J.
M

IL
LE

R
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y:

A
LI

A
N

A
 W

IN
K

LE
Fr

an
kf

or
t, 

IL

C
A

FF
EI

N
A

TE
D

 C
O

N
C

EP
TS

La
 G

ra
ng

e 
R

oa
d

Fr
an

kf
or

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s

Prepared By:

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

NW NE

SESW

w
at

er
m

ar
k-

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

  
|  

26
31

 G
in

ge
r W

oo
ds

 P
kw

y 
| A

ur
or

a,
 IL

 6
05

02
 |

  (
63

0)
 3

75
-1

80
0

D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
TR

U
C

K 
C

IR
C

U
LA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

1 of 1DELIVERY TRUCK
CIRCULATION PLAN

51



SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

Prepared For:

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

D
.O

LS
O

N

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:

1"
 =

 2
0'

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

N
O

VE
M

BE
R

 2
8,

 2
02

2

D
.O

LS
O

N

22
-0

26

SC
AL

E:

J.
M

IL
LE

R
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y:

A
LI

A
N

A
 W

IN
K

LE
Fr

an
kf

or
t, 

IL

C
A

FF
EI

N
A

TE
D

 C
O

N
C

EP
TS

La
 G

ra
ng

e 
R

oa
d

Fr
an

kf
or

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s

Prepared By:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

FI
R

E 
TR

U
C

K 
C

IR
C

U
LA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

1 of 1FIRE TRUCK
CIRCULATION PLAN

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

NW NE

SESW

w
at

er
m

ar
k-

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

  
|  

26
31

 G
in

ge
r W

oo
ds

 P
kw

y 
| A

ur
or

a,
 IL

 6
05

02
 |

  (
63

0)
 3

75
-1

80
0

52



S
O

U
T

H
 
 
 
 
 
L
a
G

R
A

N
G

E
 
 
 
 
 
 
R

O
A

D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(
U

S
 
 
 
 
R

O
U

T
E

 
 
 
4
5
)

X

X

X

Prepared For:

D
A

T
E

N
O

.

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
B

Y
:

R
.
 
E

R
S

F
E

L
D

T

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
N

O
.
:

1
"
 
=

 
2

0
'

D
A

T
E

:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

M
A

Y
 
2

6
,
 
2

0
2

2

D
.
O

,
 
R

.
E

.

2
2

-
0

2
6

S
C

A
L

E
:

J
.
M

I
L

L
E

R
C

H
E

C
K

E
D

 
B

Y
:

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
S

A
L

I
A

N
A

 
W

I
N

K
L

E

F
r
a

n
k
f
o

r
t
,
 
I
L

S
P

A
R

K
S

 
C

O
F

F
E

E

S
.
 
L

a
 
G

r
a

n
g

e
 
R

o
a

d
,
 
S

o
u

t
h

 
o

f
 
W

.
 
L

a
p

o
r
t
e

 
R

o
a

d

F
r
a

n
k
f
o

r
t
,
 
I
l
l
i
n

o
i
s

Prepared By:

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 
 
P

L
A

N

L-1LANDSCAPE PLAN

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

N

W

N

E

S

E

S

W

Know what's Below
Call before you dig.

.

w
a

t
e

r
m

a
r
k
-
e

n
g

i
n

e
e

r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m
 
 
|
 
 
2

6
3

1
 
G

i
n

g
e

r
 
W

o
o

d
s
 
P

k
w

y
 
|
 
A

u
r
o

r
a

,
 
I
L

 
6

0
5

0
2

 
|
 
 
(
6

3
0

)
 
3

7
5

-
1

8
0

0

I
S

A

 

C

E

R

T

I

F

I
ED

 
A

R

B

O

R

I

S

T

I

L

-

5
08

1

A

DANIEL D.

OLSON

P
E

R
 
V

I
L
L
A

G
E

 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

 
L
T

R
 
D

A
T

E
D

 
6
/
7
/
2
2

P
E

R
 
7
/
1
2
/
2
2
 
 
S

T
A

F
F

 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
 
A

N
D

 
7
/
2
8
/
2
2
 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

1 2

6
/
1
7
/
2
2

8
/
1
8
/
2
2

P
E

R
 
9
/
2
2
/
2
2
 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
3

1
0
/
2
7
/
2
2

P
E

R
 
P

C
 
W

O
R

K
S

H
O

P
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
4

1
1
/
2
9
/
2
2

P
E

R
 
P

C
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
5

0
2
/
0
9
/
2
3

53



APPLICATION AND TASK

1.5 0.75 - 3 0.8 0.4 - 1.6

1 0.5 - 2 0.6 0.3 - 1.2

1 0.5 - 2 - -

4:1 15:1

4:1 15:1

MAINTAINED HORIZONTAL MAINTAINED VERTICAL MAXIMUM

PARKING (UNCOVERED) ZONE 3 (URBAN)

PARKING (UNCOVERED) ZONE 2 (SUBURBAN)

SAFETY (BUILDING EXTERIOR)

MORE DETAILED EVALUATION AND ADDITIONAL APPLICATIONS. THESE RECOMMENDATIONS DO NOT SUPERCEDE ANY APPLICABLE CODES.
INDIVIDUAL APPLICATIONS WILL DETERMINE SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS. PLEASE REFER TO THE MOST RECENT HANDBOOK FOR A
SIMPLIFIED RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON IES 'THE LIGHTING HANDBOOK' 10TH EDITION AND IES RP-20-14.

FOR SECURITY ISSUES,
RAISE AVG. TO 3

AVERAGE (FC) AVERAGE (FC) RANGE (FC)RANGE (FC) AVG:MIN MAX:MIN

PARKING LOT DESIGN GUIDE

PG
 C

O
N

TA
C

T:
1 2 3

D
RA

W
N

 B
Y:

REVISIONS

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

A
M

E:

C
LI

EN
T 

N
A

M
E:

Page 2 of 2
Date:3/24/2023

84
7.

22
8.

11
99

84
7.

22
8.

11
99

NOTES
PG-ENLIGHTEN IS NEITHER LICENSED NOR INSURED TO DETERMINE CODE COMPLIANCE.
CODE COMPLIANCE REVIEW BY OTHERS.
ANY VARIANCE FROM REFLECTANCE VALUES, OBSTRUCTIONS, LIGHT LOSS FACTORS OR
DIMENSIONAL DATA WILL AFFECT THE ACTUAL LIGHT LEVELS OBTAINED.
THIS ANALYSIS IS A MATHEMATICAL MODEL AND CAN BE ONLY AS ACCURATE AS IS
PERMITTED BY THE THIRD-PARTY SOFTWARE AND THE IES STANDARDS USED.
FIXTURE TYPES AND QUANTITIES MAY CHANGE BASED ON UNKNOWN OBSTRUCTIONS OR
FIELD CONDITIONS. THESE CHANGES MAY RESULT IN AN INCREASED QUANTITY OF FIXTURES.
FIXTURE TYPES AND QUANTITIES BASED ON PROVIDED LAYOUT AND DRAWINGS ARE FOR
REFERENCE ONLY. TYPES AND QUANTITIES MAY CHANGE WITH FUTURE REVISIONS.

CALCULATION GRID VALUES 10'-0" O.C.

FR
A

N
KF

O
RT

 C
O

FF
EE

KE
YS

TO
N

E 
PL

A
N

N
IN

G
 +

 D
ES

IG
N

M
ar

c 
Pi

lip
uf

M
ar

c.
Pi

lip
uf

@
pg

-e
nl

ig
ht

en
.c

om
Jo

sh
 B

ur
ge

jo
sh

.b
ur

ge
@

pg
-e

nl
ig

ht
en

.c
om

Luminaire Location Summary

Luminaire Schedule - Part numbers are provided by the manufacturer and are only intended to be used as a reference to output and optics used.
Symbol Qty

LumNo Label Mtg Ht
Calculation Summary

Orient Tilt
1 RAR-2-320L-165-4K7-3-BC_1 20 92 0
2

Label CalcType Units Avg Max

Tag Arrangement Luminaire Lumens Arr. Lum. Lumens Luminaire Watts Arr. Watts LLF Manufacturer Description

RAR-2-320L-165-4K7-3-BC_1 20

Min Max/Min Avg/Min Description

270 0
3 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-3 (1) 20 0 0

PROPERTY LINES Illuminance

4 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-3 (1) 20 0 0
5

Fc 0.15

4 C1 Single 996 996 14.4

RAR2-320L-165-4K7-4W (1) 20 180 0
6 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-4W (1) 20 180 0

14.4 0.900 DALS Lighting Inc. RGR4-CC-XX

7 RGR4 11 0

0.5 0.0 N.A. N.A.

2 S1-3 Single 21714 21714 153.6 153.6 0.900

0
8

READINGS @ GRADE
SITE_Planar Illuminance Fc 2.11 10.9 0.0 N.A. N.A. READINGS @ GRADE
PARKING LOT Illuminance

RGR4 11

BEACON PRODUCTS RAR2-320L-165-4K7-3-X-AX-WHX

11 0 0

2 S1-3BC Single 12760 12760 145 145 0.900 BEACON PRODUCTS RAR-2-320L-165-4K7-3-AX-WHX-BC
2 S1-4 Single 21310 21310 153.6 153.6 0.900 BEACON PRODUCTS RAR2-320L-165-4K7-4W-X-AX-WHX

0 0
9 RGR4 11 0 0
10 RGR4

Fc 3.46 7.0 0.5 14.00 6.92 READINGS @ GRADE

Scale: 1 inch= 16 Ft.

0.5
.

0.5
.

0.5
.

0.6
.
.
.
.
0.6
.

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6
.
0.6
.

6"

HH

8"

SIGN HEIGHT
12.4 = ABOVE GRADE

8"
2"

10"

8"

10
"

8"

12
"

12
"

8"

10
"

12
"

8"
8"

8" 8"

6"
6"

6"
6"

6"

6"

BRICK
 REFUSE
 AREA

LANDSCAPE
 AREA

 AREA
LANDSCAPE

 AREA
LANDSCAPE

WALL
RETAINING

SIGN

SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

N88°18'21"E(M) 199.92'(M)

S
0
1
°
4
5
'
3
4
"
E
(
M
)
 
2
4
5
.
0
0
'
(
R
=
M
)

S88°18'21"W(M) 200.03'(M)

N
0
1
°
4
4
'
0
3
"
W
(
M
)
 
2
4
5
.
0
0
'
(
R
=
M
)

P
E
R
 
D
O
C
.
 
R
9
8
-
0
8
1
1
0
3

L
I
C
 
U
T
I
L
I
T
Y
 
E
A
S
E
M
E
N
T

B2
5
'
 
P
U

BLOT 1

OUTLOT 1D

Y
 
C
A
S
E
 
N
O
.
 
9
0
E
D
1
0
9
1
4

BE
A
S
T
E
R
L
Y
 
R
I
G
H
T
 
O
F
 
W
A
Y
 
L
I
N
E
 
U
S
 
R
O
U
T
E
 
4
5

F
N
D
-
?

1
1
5
.
4
'

HH

12

12

-CB
10.5'

C-C
3.0'

C-E
10.0'

E-E
22.0'

BE-
18.5'

B-B
10.5'

BE
-

2
2
.
0
'

B?-
25.9'

-?B
49.1'

(T
YP
)9.

0'

C-
C8.
0'C-

C8.
0'

B-B 2
1
.
0
'

UILDING WITH DRIVE THRUBPROPOSED 945 SF

BE-
5.0'

-
P
L

B 2
0
.
9
'

BP
L
-

5
.
0
'

B-B 2
5
.
0
'

B-B
31.0'

BE
-

2
0
.
5
'

-
E

B 1
9
.
0
'

B?
-

4
.
6
'

-
?

B 2
0
.
9
'

BE-
5.0'

LDG. CNPY.B?-
125.0'

L
D
G
.
 
C
N
P
Y
.

B?
-

7
3
.
6
'

E-FND
7.9'

LDG. CNPY.-?B
89.5'

F
N
D
-
?

5
.
0
'

FND-?
72.5'

E
-
E

5
.
0
'

60
°

60°

-EB
14.5'

1
0
'
 
W
A
T
E
R
M
A
I
N
 
E
A
S
E
M
E
N
T
 
P
E
R
 
D
O
C
.
 
R
9
8
-
0
8
1
1
0
3

1
0
'
 
S
A
N
I
T
A
R
Y
 
E
A
S
E
M
E
N
T
 
P
E
R
 
D
O
C
.
 
R
9
8
-
0
8
1
1
0
3

MH: 20

.5

.5

S1-3BC
1

MH: 20
S1-3BC

.5

2

.5

.5

7

MH: 11
C1

.5

8

MH: 11
C1

.5

9

MH: 11
C1

.5

MH: 11
C1
10

MH: 20

.5

S1-3

.5

4

.5

MH: 20
S1-4

.5

.5

.5

5

S1-4
MH: 20

.5

.5

6

.5

MH: 20
S1-3

.5

.5

3

.5

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.8 1.4 2.3 3.1 3.2 2.5 2.3 2.6 3.0 2.4 1.6 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0

0.1 0.2 0.6 1.0 1.5 2.3 3.5 4.4 5.5 5.6 5.7 6.3 6.0 5.1 3.6 1.4 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.1 0.4 1.4 2.0 2.1 2.1 2.5 3.1 3.7 4.2 4.8 5.9 6.2 6.1 4.7 1.9 0.7 0.3 0.2 0.1

0.2 0.8 2.7 3.4 2.9 1.8 1.1 0.9 1.1 1.7 2.6 3.8 5.1 6.1 5.1 1.8 0.6 0.3 0.2 0.2

0.3 1.3 4.7 5.1 3.6 2.0 0.8 0.4 0.5 0.8 1.6 2.9 4.2 5.4 4.3 1.7 0.7 0.4 0.3 0.2

0.4 1.5 5.1 6.2 4.3 2.4 0.8 0.3 0.6 1.4 2.5 3.8 5.1 3.8 2.0 1.0 0.4 0.2 0.1

0.6 1.5 4.4 6.3 4.5 2.4 0.8 0.3 0.6 1.3 2.5 3.8 5.1 3.7 2.0 0.9 0.4 0.2 0.1

0.6 1.5 4.2 6.2 4.3 2.4 0.8 0.3 0.6 1.4 2.6 3.9 5.2 4.1 1.7 0.7 0.4 0.3 0.2

0.7 1.6 4.4 6.5 4.7 2.5 0.9 0.3 0.7 1.5 2.9 4.3 5.4 4.6 1.5 0.5 0.3 0.2 0.2

0.5 1.7 5.6 6.9 4.9 2.8 1.0 0.4 0.7 1.4 2.4 3.3 3.8 3.3 1.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.4 1.8 6.0 6.9 4.9 2.7 0.5 0.8 1.2 1.6 1.8 2.0 1.7 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.4 1.9 5.6 6.7 5.0 2.6 0.6 0.9 1.2 1.4 1.5 1.6 1.2 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.5 2.4 6.3 6.5 4.7 2.5 8.2 4.8 3.9 2.1 2.4 2.5 1.7 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.6 2.5 6.4 6.5 4.5 2.3 10.9 7.0 5.3 3.3 4.4 4.7 3.0 0.7 0.3 0.2 0.2

0.4 0.8 2.1 5.5 6.2 4.3 2.1 0.8 1.3 2.2 3.4 4.8 5.5 3.1 0.9 0.4 0.3 0.2

0.3 0.8 1.9 5.3 5.8 3.8 2.0 0.6 0.3 0.9 1.9 3.1 4.5 5.0 2.8 1.3 0.7 0.4 0.2

0.4 0.8 2.0 5.3 5.9 3.9 1.9 0.6 0.3 0.9 1.8 3.0 4.4 4.9 3.0 1.4 0.6 0.2 0.1

0.3 0.6 2.4 5.7 5.8 3.9 2.0 0.7 0.4 0.5 1.0 1.9 3.1 4.5 5.1 2.9 1.4 0.7 0.4 0.3

0.2 0.4 2.1 5.4 5.1 3.4 1.8 0.9 0.7 0.9 1.5 2.6 3.9 5.2 5.8 3.3 1.1 0.5 0.3 0.3

0.1 0.3 1.3 3.4 3.8 3.0 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.6 3.3 4.2 5.4 6.2 6.4 4.1 1.2 0.5 0.3 0.2

0.1 0.1 0.7 1.8 2.2 2.3 2.7 3.6 4.3 5.3 5.7 6.2 7.0 6.4 5.8 3.8 1.4 0.5 0.3 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.3 0.8 1.1 1.4 2.1 3.2 4.3 4.6 4.3 4.3 4.9 5.1 4.1 2.5 0.9 0.3 0.1 0.1

0.5 0.7 0.8 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.0 1.1 1.0 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.00.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.00.00.00.00.10.10.10.20.20.20.20.10.10.10.10.10.10.00.00.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.0

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

54



LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

LOCKED SECURITY CAGE

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

1/4" = 1'-0"

2
1
-0

3
-2

0
2
3
 1

6
:4

4
:5

3

A300

Exterior Elevations

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

EAST ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

WEST ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"
3

SOUTH ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"
4

NORTH ELEVATION

No
. Description Date

CONCEPT 2/14/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

WALL SIGNAGE FOR REFERENCE ONLY
REFER TO CIS SIGNAGE PACKAGE FOR
ACTUAL SIGNAGE

55

cgruba
Polygon



Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

2
1
-0

3
-2

0
2
3
 1

6
:4

4
:5

4

A299 IFZ

IFZ UPDATED
ELEVATIONS

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

STONE-06CULTURED CHARDONNAY 
LEDGE STONE

WATERFORD BRICK
E-01

(BRICK)ADJACENT EMAGINE CLADDING BERRIDGE AGED 
BRONZE

MIDNIGHT BRONZE 
STOREFRONT

No
. Description Date

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

FORTRESS RAILING, H-SERIES
36" H

56

cgruba
Callout
SEE EXTERIOR SIGNAGE PACKAGE FOR CORRECT SIGN DESIGN

cgruba
Callout
SEE EXTERIOR SIGNAGE PACKAGE FOR CORRECT SIGN DESIGN



Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

2
1
-0

3
-2

0
2
3
 1

6
:4

4
:5

5

XA000

RENDERINGS

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

No
. Description Date

STAFF RVW 5/28/2022

57

cgruba
Callout
SEE EXTERIOR SIGNAGE PACKAGE FOR CORRECT SIGN DESIGN

cgruba
Callout
SEE EXTERIOR SIGNAGE PACKAGE FOR CORRECT SIGN DESIGN



DN

83 SF

COOLER

11

Not
Enclosed

SERVICE AREA

13

STORAGE 
SHELVING

ICE

S
T

O
R

A
G

E
 S

H
E

L
V

IN
G

IC
E

3

A100

W
A

L
K

U
P

 W
IN

D
O

W
 A

T
 P

A
T

IO

56 SF

TOILET

14

5
2
' -

 2
"

18' - 0"

12' - 0"

13' - 6"

3

A100

27' - 10"

1
6
' -

 9
"

17' - 10"

5
2
' -

 2
"

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

FULLY SCREENED RTU

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

As indicated

2
/1

0
/2

0
2
3

 4
:0

0
:2

5
 P

M

A100

Floor + Roof Plan

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

0' 2' 4' 8' 16'

3/8" = 1'-0"
1

NEW COFFEE PROTOTYPE FLOOR PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

Roof Plan

1/4" = 1'-0"
3

RTU SCREENING

No
. Description Date

CONCEPT 2/14/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

58



UP

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T.O. WING WALL
15' - 8"

T.O. WALL
13' - 3 1/2"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

BASEMENT
-10' - 0"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

EP,
DATA,
PL

FP CL.?

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

T.O. WING WALL
15' - 8"

T.O. WALL
13' - 3 1/2"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

BASEMENT
-10' - 0"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

3

A100

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

1/4" = 1'-0"

2
/1

0
/2

0
2
3

 4
:0

1
:4

5
 P

M

A101

Basement Plan +
Sections

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

Section 2

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

BASEMENT
1/4" = 1'-0"

3
SECTION5

No
. Description Date

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

59

cgruba
Callout
SEE BUILDING ELEVATION DRAWINGS FOR CORRECT PARAPET DESIGN



FULLY SCREENED REFUSE 
ENCLOSURE WITH GATES 
CONCRETE APRON 

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

WATER MAIN EASEMENT

A3052

A305

3

A305 5

A305

4

1
6

' - 7
"4' - 8"13' - 11"

2' - 11" 10' - 8" 3' - 0"

5' - 0" 5' - 0"

0
' -

 8
"

5
' -

 0
"

0
' -

 4
"

M
A

X
IM

U
M

6
' -

 0
"

GATE STYLE AND COLOR TO MATCH ADJACENT 
BANK BUILDING REFUSE ENCLOSURE.  DARK 
BROWN FINISH ALUMINUM GATES

DARK BROWN BRICK 
TO BE USED TO 
MATCH THE BUILDING

6
' -

 0
"

13' - 8"

E-01
(REFUSE)

6
' -

 0
"

13' - 8"

6
' -

 0
"

16' - 8"

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

As indicated

8
/3

0
/2

0
2
2

 5
:5

3
:5

3
 A

M

A305

SITE REFUSE
ENCLOSURE
ELEVATIONS

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

3/16" = 1'-0"
1

NEW COFFEE PROTOTYPE SITE PLAN

0' 2' 4' 8' 16'

No
. Description Date

ORIGINAL PLAN 10/22/2021

REVISED 11/10/2021

CONCEPT 2/14/2022

STAFF RVW 5/28/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

EXAMPLE NEIGHBORING REFUSE ENCLOSURE

3/8" = 1'-0"
2

REFUSE EAST

3/8" = 1'-0"
3

REFUSE NORTH

3/8" = 1'-0"
4

REFUSE SOUTH

3/8" = 1'-0"
5

REFUSE WEST

60



Planning Commission / ZBA    June 8, 2023 

Project: Olde Frankfort Mall – Building Addition  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Requests: New PUD (with exceptions), Special Uses (x2), Variation (x1), Final Plat of Re-subdivision 
Location: 15 Ash Street 
Subdivision: Bowen’s Subdivision of Blocks 1, 12 & 13  
Applicant: SHI NAPS, LLC 
Prop. Owner: same 
Representative: Joe Napoli 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 

Site Details 

Parcel Size: 12,565.3 square feet (0.29 acres)            Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN(s): 19-09-28-208-003-0000
Existing Zoning:  H-1 (Historic District)
Prop.  Zoning: N/A
Buildings / Lots: 1 building, 1 lot (after combination)

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Bowling 
Alley/Retail 

Mixed Use H-1 

North Park Parks/Open Space H-1 

South  Commercial Mixed Use H-1 

East Commercial Mixed Use H-1 

West Commercial Mixed Use H-1 

Project Summary 

The owner of the property located at 15 Ash Street, commonly known as the Olde Frankfort Mall or the Frankfort 
Bowl building, seeks to construct a three-story, 15,780 square foot building addition.  The building addition would 
be added to the north and east façades of the building (Kansas Street and White Street, respectively), leaving the 
rest of the existing building intact, except for removing the exterior blue/green staircase on the north façade that 
serves the bowling alley.  The project was initially reviewed as a traditional development during the workshop 
meetings but has since been changed to be reviewed as a new PUD.  As part of the PUD, the applicant is requesting 
“exceptions” from the Zoning Ordinance, which would be variations under a traditional development.  In addition 
to the PUD, the project will also require Special Use Permits (at least 2 for the proposed restaurant and associated 
outdoor seating), one variation to waive all required off-street parking and a Plat of Resubdivision to combine the 
underlying lots.  Since the property is located within the H-1 zone district, the project was reviewed by the Historic 
Preservation Commission and a Certificate of Appropriateness for the architecture and building materials was 
granted on January 18, 2023, and again on April 19, 2023, for minor changes.  Upon a recommendation from the 
PC/ZBA during the public hearing, the project will require final action by the Village Board.   

1



Attachments 
1. 2019 Aerial Photograph, Village of Frankfort GIS (1:1,500) 
2. Zoning Map (surrounding area) 
3. Aerial Photograph, isometric image (Google Maps) 
4. Variation Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 
5. Variation Findings of Fact, Applicant responses received 3.30.22 
6. Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 
7. Special Use Findings of Fact, Applicant responses received 6.2.23 
8. PUD Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 
9. PUD Findings of Fact, Applicant responses received 1.26.23 
10. 2016 Downtown Parking Evaluation, prepared by Sam Schwartz, Transportation Consultants (excerpt) 
11. Public Parking Spaces Count Map – After development of 15 Ash and 7 N. White projects (Village Staff GIS) 
12. Time-Limited Parking Map (Village Staff GIS) 
13. PC/ZBA minutes from November 10, 2022 workshop 
14. HPC minutes from April 19, 2023 
15. Draft CCR’s with staff’s comments – EMAILED ONLY TO SAVE PAPER 
16. Pictures of site, taken by staff 9.23.22 
17. Rooftop screening manufacturer specifications  
18. Plan submittal, received May 4, 2023 

a. Final Plat of Resubdivision 
b. Survey  
c. Landscape Plan  
d. Site Plan  
e. Floor Plans  
f. Building Elevation Drawings in black & white and color 
g. Building materials and colors 
h. Building cross-section view 
i. Rendered views (3-D) 
j. Sun Study Plan (illustrating shadows at different times) 
k. Photometric Plan 
l. Pictures of other existing 3-story buildings in nearby towns  

19. Survey, colorized, illustrating ground surfaces in rights-of-way, prepared by staff 
20. Site Plan, colorized, illustrating ground surfaces in rights-of-way, prepared by staff 

 
Project History  
 

• April 14, 2022: PC/ZBA workshop #1 
• November 10, 2022: PC/ZBA workshop #2 
• December 21, 2022: HPC meeting #1 (tabled) 
• January 18, 2023: HPC meeting #2 (Certificate of Appropriateness issued, 4-1 vote) 
• April 19, 2023: HPC meeting #3 (revised Certificate of Appropriateness issued, 4-1 vote, for changes made 

to the exterior of the building since the January 18th HPC meeting) 
• June 8, 2023: PC/ZBA public hearing 

 
Due to the length of the meeting minutes, staff has only attached the minutes from the last PC/ZBA workshop 
(November 10, 2022) and the last HPC meeting (April 19, 2023).  All meeting minutes are available online or by 
contacting staff.  
 

 
Main changes to plans since the PC/ZBA workshop on 11.10.22 & HPC meeting 4.19.23:    
 

1. The two rooftop decks were removed.  There was formerly a rooftop deck placed over the existing 
bowling alley and an observation deck placed over the 3rd floor of the addition.  The rooftop deck 
over the bowling alley portion of the building was enclosed to provide larger residential unit space.  

2



 
2. The number of residential units decreased from 10 to 9.   
 
3. Whereas there were no changes to the five (5) residential units on the 2nd floor, the four (4) 

residential units on the 3rd floor were all increased in size:  
 

a. Unit 301 was increased from 875 SF to 1,975 SF 
 

b. Unit 302 was increased from 570 SF to 1,585 SF 
 

c. Unit 303 was increased from 540 SF to 970 SF 
 

d. Unit 304 was increased from 580 SF to 975 SF 
 
4. Balconies:  

 
a. Two balconies were eliminated on the Kansas Street façade, one from the 2nd floor and one from 

the 3rd floor.   
 

b. The width of the remaining four (4) balconies on the Kansas Street façade were reduced in width 
from 20’ to 14’.  These balconies were also positioned in a more balanced fashion on either side 
of the main entrance.  

 
c. The four (4) balconies on the White Street façade have been spaced in a more balanced fashion 

on one of the façade sections.  
 

d. The colored renderings of the building were changed to reflect the new balcony configuration.  
 

e. All balcony changes were made to reduce their overall appearance, especially on the Kansas 
Street façade.  

 
5. There are fewer exterior carriage lights on the south elevation of the proposed building addition.  

These carriage lights were formally being used to illuminate the rooftop deck over the bowling alley, 
but the rooftop decks were removed.  There is one remaining carriage light near a utility access door 
for maintenance of the roof.  

 
6. Rooftop mechanical units were added to the northwest corner of the building where the former 

observation deck was located.  All mechanical units would be screened by the building’s parapet walls 
and by metal louver screening panels as tall as the units.   

 
7. Two additional street trees were added, one within the right-of-way of Kansas Street and one within 

the right-of-way of Ash Street.  The street tree requirement now complies with the Landscape 
Ordinance requirement of 1 tree for every 35’ of lineal frontage.  

 
8. Lighting:  

 
a. The design of light fixture “A” (the single light near the doors to the loading/receiving room), was 

modified to include a metal shield above it to direct light down.  This light was also dimmed from 
8,792 lumens to 4,257 lumens.  The fixture has a BUG (glare) rating of 0. 
 

b. The design of light fixture “B” (two acorn-style lights on either side of the loading entrance) was 
modified to provide metal coverings at the top. This fixture has a BUG (glare) rating of 0.  

 
9. Building Height: 
 

3



a. A sun study was provided that illustrates the approximate locations of the building’s shadow 
throughout the year. The location of the shadow is illustrated for morning, noon and 
afternoon on the summer/winter solstice and spring/fall equinox. 

 
b. Imagery was provided showing comparable local towns with 3-story buildings in their 

historic downtowns. 
 

c. One color rendering was added to provide a street-level view “Looking South on White 
Street”, which compares the height of the Trolley Barn to the proposed building addition 
(sheet P-13).   

 
10. Other: 
 

a. A brick Herringbone pattern was added to the center of the façade along Kansas Street.  
 

Analysis (updated) 
 

Land Use 
 
The property is zoned H-1, Historic District.  This zone district is primarily intended to “preserve and enhance the 
historic downtown commercial area”.  Although mostly a commercial district by nature, residential dwelling units 
are permitted above the 1st floor by-right.  The applicant has listed the permitted and special uses available in the 
H-1 zone district on Sheet P-2.  Not all uses within the building have been finalized at this time (specifically on the 
1st floor).  

 
The existing building and proposed addition would contain multiple uses, including restaurant, retail and 
residential uses.  The floorplan for the 1st floor illustrates a restaurant use in Tenant 01, for which the applicant has 
applied for a Special Use Permit for a full-service restaurant with liquor sales.  The other uses for tenants on the 1st 
floor are not specified but are assumed to be general retail, which is permitted by-right.  However, it’s also 
possible that the other commercial tenant spaces might also be used for restaurants, salon/spa/massage or other 
personal service establishments.  Depending on the specific uses proposed, additional Special Use Permits may be 
required in the future.  The 2nd and 3rd floor floorplans illustrate residential dwelling units on each floor, for a total 
of nine (9) residential units in the building.   
 
The existing uses within the Olde Frankfort Mall include the bowling alley and a mix of retail uses, including a 
coffee shop.  The bowling alley utilizes the entire second floor of the existing building.    Bowling alleys are 
considered “indoor entertainment” uses, which require a Special Use Permit in the H-1 zone district.  A Special Use 
Permit for the bowling alley and extended hours of operation was granted via Ord-2601 on July 20, 2009.  In 2019, 
a Special Use Permit was granted for the coffee shop (now Grounded Coffee Bar), which is classified as a carry-out 
restaurant (Ord-3185).   

 
Site Plan 
 
The proposed building addition maximizes the use of the property.  The size of the parcel is 12,565.3 square feet 
(0.29 acres).  The footprint of the existing building is 6,873 square feet and the footprint of the proposed addition 
is 5,260 square feet.  The total building footprint with the addition would be 12,133 square feet, resulting in a lot 
coverage of 96.6%.  There is no maximum building coverage or maximum impervious lot coverage in the H-1 zone 
district.   
 
The project would involve significant work within the public rights-of-way of Ash, Kansas and White streets.  
Improvements with the rights-of-way include outdoor dining (with fencing), an ADA ramp to the front of the 
building, a projecting entranceway awning, a loading space and landscape planters.  The area within the existing 
rights-of-way consists of concrete sidewalks, brick pavers, asphalt, benches, utility boxes, landscape beds and 
metal tree grates.  Due to the proposed changes on-site and within the rights-of-way, staff color-coded both the 
Plat of Survey (existing conditions) and the Site Plan (Sheet P-1) to better differentiate surface features.  The color 
coding is intended to clearly illustrate different types of pavement and landscaping on either public or private 

4



property.  Sheet P-1 (Architectural Site Plan) with color-coding should be used as a rough guide; please refer to the 
updated and non-colored Sheet P-2 (Architectural Site Plan) for the latest plan submittal.  Staff recommends 
providing an uninterrupted, 3’ wide, hard-surface ADA-accessible route along all three streets for wheelchair 
access, which appears to be provided on the Site Plan.   
 
The site plan has been reviewed per the Table of Density, Dimensional and Other Standards within the Zoning 
Ordinance.  The property has three (3) road frontages, Kansas Street is considered the front yard, Ash and White 
streets are considered corner side yards and the south property line is considered a side yard. A summary of the 
dimensional standards is as follows.   
 
Red text denotes the requirement of an exception.  
 

Table of Density, Dimensions and other Standards Chart (excerpt) 
 

H-1 Zone 
Lot Size 
(min SF) 

Front Yard 
Setback 
(Kansas) 

Front Yard 
Landscaping 

(Kansas) 

Corner Side 
Yard Setback 

(Ash & White) 

Corner Side Yard 
Landscaping (Ash 

& White) 

Side Yard 
Setback 
(south) 

Max 
Bldg. 

Height 

Requirement 5,000.0 0' Required 10' Required 5' 35' 

Existing 12,565.3 12’ None 3' 11" & 29' None 0' 27'10" 

Proposed 12,565.3 0' None 3’ 8 ½” & 2” None 0' 45’4” 
 
Staff offers the following additional comments regarding the Site Plan: 
 

1. A 10’ corner side yard setback is required along the frontages of both Ash Street and White Street.  The 
existing building is set back 3’ 10” from the property line along Ash Street and approximately 29’ from the 
property line along White Street.  The proposed addition would be constructed 3’ 8 ½” from Ash Street 
and 2” from White Street, requiring an exception for each.   
 

2. A 5’ side yard setback is required along the south property line.  The proposed addition would be 
constructed 0’ from the side property line, requiring an exception.  
 

3. There is an existing trash enclosure with PVC fencing and a slatted chain link fence gate located on the 
east side of the building adjacent to White Street.  This enclosure would be removed as part of the 
proposed building addition.  The proposed building would contain an indoor trash/receiving room in 
approximately the same location as the existing outdoor trash enclosure. 

 
4. Sheets P-2 and P-4 illustrate fenced outdoor dining areas, straddling the property lines along Ash Street 

and Kansas Street.  Outdoor dining within the public right-of-way has been permitted in other areas of the 
Downtown.  Recent examples include Fat Rosie’s, Francesca’s and Trails Edge.  Outdoor dining within the 
right-of-way would require a Special Use Permit as well as a lease agreement with the Village.  Outdoor 
seating areas must be enclosed by a fence or wall at least 3’ in height and must leave at least a 5’ wide 
portion of sidewalk unobstructed (Page 86 of the Zoning Ordinance).  This requirement has mostly been 
met, although there are a few “pinch points” between the fencing and existing trees.  The pinch points are 
not less than 3’ wide for ADA access.  
 

5. There is an existing wooden split rail fence adjacent to the public sidewalk along Kansas Street.  This fence 
is technically located within the Ash Street right-of-way and is owned by the Village.  This fence would be 
removed as part of this redevelopment.  
 

6. There is a basement beneath the existing building that would remain in place.  The proposed building 
addition would not have a basement, although some new subgrade staircases and ramps would be 
provided.   The proposed new elevator would also access the basement, as well as all 3 floors.  

 
Floorplan 
 

5



The 1st floor interior layout of the existing building would be reconfigured to create more “usable” tenant spaces in 
terms of tenant space size and configuration.  The 2nd floor layout for the bowling alley would remain largely 
unchanged, although areas for new restroom facilities and a residential hallway would consume part of the 
existing lounge area.  The minimum size permitted for a dwelling unit is 320 square feet.  All proposed residential 
units within the building addition meet the minimum size:  
 
Unit # 201 202 203 204 205 301 302 303 304 Average 

Size (SF) 860 802 630 580 380 1,975 1,585 970 945 970 
 
Building Materials/Architecture 
 
Building materials and architecture is regulated by the Zoning Ordinance, under the purview of the Plan 
Commission, and by the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Ord-3261), under the purview of the Historic 
Preservation Commission (HPC).  The PC/ZBA first offered architectural comments during the workshops.  
Subsequently, this project was reviewed by the HPC three times; the last two times it was granted a Certificate of 
Appropriateness.  For the current public hearing, the PC/ZBA may request or recommend additional changes.  
However, if the architecture is changed after the public hearing, the project would need to return to the HPC again 
to “amend” the Certificate of Appropriateness.  Once the project reaches the Village Board for final action, the 
Board may request changes as well.   
 
Staff offers the following architectural comments:   
 

1. The H-1 zone district allows a maximum building height of 35’, when measured from the building top of 
foundation to the highest part of the roof.  The proposed building addition would measure approximately 
45’ 4” tall, requiring an exception.   
 

2. The architecture for the proposed building addition can be described as Italianate.  The addition employs 
the following Italianate features: two-three stories tall, overhanging eaves, tall narrow windows with 
arches above, brick construction, wide cornices, a raised one-story porch, decorative pediments and 
decorative woodwork.   
 

3. The primary building material is brick, using three different types/colors of brick for the addition.  There 
are several accents made of various materials, including cast stone sills and medallions, a cast stone 
pediment, LP Smartside panel (a durable wood composite), wood-stained doors and abundant window 
area. The building is varied in height to break up the massing on all three new façades and is further 
articulated with projecting elements such as masonry piers and an entry canopy facing Kansas Street.  
Decorative wall sconces provide accent lighting.  There would be a minor amount of EIFS used on the back 
of the 3rd floor addition, for the portion of the residential units located above the bowling alley.  EIFS is a 
lighter material, which is better suited above the existing roof of the bowling alley.  The EIFS should blend 
with the other building materials and will not be highly visible from the street.  
 

4. New façades would be added to the east (White Street) and north (Kansas Street) sides of the building as 
part of the proposed building addition.  The west façade (Ash Street) would have newer materials for the 
building addition, while the façade of the existing building would be refurbished, retaining some of the 
original elements & materials.  
 

5. The southern rear (technically side yard) façade would not be changed, other than making repairs and 
patching holes for the a/c wall units that would be removed.  Gutters and downspouts would be added on 
this side, connecting to the underground storm sewer.  
 

6. The proposed new façades, or changes to the existing façade, are intended to complement the original 
building and the surrounding buildings in the historic downtown.   
 

7. The exterior stairway serving the 2nd floor bowling alley would be removed and replaced with the building 
addition.  The stairway would be replaced by two new interior stairways and an elevator, which would 
also serve the basement and all 3 floors.   

6



 
8. The proposed building addition shall be compatible with other adjacent properties, regarding texture, 

massing and scale (Article 7, Section A, Part 8).  A comparison drawing has been included with the building 
elevation drawings, comparing the height of the proposed building addition with the existing Trail’s Edge 
building and Wright building, both located on Kansas Street.  Kansas Street climbs slightly when traveling 
from east to west, which helps balance the visual appearance of the proposed 3-story building addition, 
since the building addition would be located on lower ground than the existing buildings to the west.  
 

9. Several new mechanical units would be added on top of the building addition portion and screened from 
view by a parapet wall measuring approximately 4’ 2” tall.  No mechanical units are proposed on the 
portion of the roof over the bowling alley.  
 

Parking 
 

1. Article 6, Section C, Part 3 (g)(6) states, “The Village Board has determined that it may be unreasonable 
and impractical for individual building uses within the historic district to provide auxiliary parking facilities 
on site. Parking facilities to accommodate the requirements of the uses within the designated area may 
best be provided by the Village in public parking areas developed in compliance with a general plan of 
parking facilities. Therefore, any new building or structure, or any expansion to an existing building, or any 
change in use to a use which requires additional parking as compared to the original use, may be relieved 
from providing the normally required off-site parking through the approval of a variation. The Village 
Board may require, as a condition of the variation approval, compensation toward a public parking area. 
Shared parking is also encouraged in this district”. Since many of the proposed tenants are undefined, the 
required parking for the property cannot be calculated exactly.  However, the absence of any off-street 
parking spaces would require a variation from the parking requirements when they are determined.   
 

2. As noted, the proposed tenants have not all been identified at this time.  At a minimum, the building 
would contain restaurants, retail uses and residential units.  The bowling alley use is also included on the 
plans, although there was a recent article in the Patch that it would be closing at the end of June.  Some of 
the proposed uses would be permitted by-right, such as residential uses above the 1st floor.  Other uses 
would require a Special Use Permit, which may be applied for later.  To assess the future parking demands 
of the building as noted on page 3, staff lists the following potential permitted uses and special uses in the 
H-1 zone and their parking requirements:  

 

Use Parking Requirement 
Permitted 
or Special 

Use 

Bakery (grocery store) 1 space for every 200 square feet of gross floor area plus 1 
space for each employee during the largest working shift.  

Special Use 

Bed and Breakfast 1 parking space for each guest room.   Special Use 

Bowling Alleys 5 spaces for each lane, plus 1 space for each employee 
during the largest working shift. 

Special Use 

Convenience store 1 space for every 150 square feet of gross floor area.  Special Use 

Dry Cleaners 
1 space for every 200 square feet of gross floor area, plus 
1 space for each employee during the largest working 
shift.  

Permitted 

Dwelling units above the 1st  floor 2 spaces per dwelling unit, plus 0.5 spaces for each 1,200 
square feet of dwelling unit.  

Permitted 

Hotel/Motel 
1 space for each room, plus 2 spaces for each 3 
employees, plus 1 space for each 3 persons of maximum 
capacity of each meeting/banquet room.  

Special Use 

Indoor recreation and entertainment 
1 space for every 4 patrons based upon the maximum 
occupancy of the facility, plus 1 space for each employee 
during the largest working shift.  

Special Use 

7



Massage Establishment 1 space for each 200 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 
space for each employee during the largest working shift.  

Special Use 

Microbrewery/Distillery/Winery with 
sampling area 

1 space for every 500 square feet of gross floor area 
dedicated to brewing & operations, plus 1 space for each 
1,000 square feet of gross floor area dedicated to 
sampling area, retail display, customer seating and other 
non-production areas.  

Special Use 

Office, Business/professional 1 space for every 200 square feet of gross floor area.  Permitted 

Office, Healthcare 3 spaces for each exam room, plus 1 space for each 
employee during the largest working shift.  

Permitted 

Personal Service (salon, etc.) 1 space for each 200 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 
space for each employee during the largest working shift.  

Permitted 

Restaurant (full service) 1 space for each 100 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 
space for each employee during the largest working shift.  

Special Use 

Restaurant (carry out) 1 space for each 75 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 
for each 2 employees during the largest working shift.  

Special Use 

Restaurant (outdoor seating area) Same as the type of restaurant/tavern it serves.  Special Use 

Retail sales under 5,000 SF 
1 space for every 250 square feet of gross floor area, plus 
1 space for each employee during the largest working 
shift.  

Permitted 

Retail sales over 5,000 SF 
1 space for every 250 square feet of gross floor area, plus 
1 space for each employee during the largest working 
shift.  

Special Use 

Tavern 
1 space for every 100 square feet of gross floor area, plus 
1 space for each employee during the largest working 
shift.  

Special Use 

Vacation Rental 1 space for each guest room Special Use 
 

3. A possible estimated parking calculation, per the current plans, is as follows.  This does not account for 
the number of employees in each use, so the total parking requirement will be higher.  

 

 Tenant Use Sq. Ft. Requirement Spaces required 

1s
t F

lo
or

 

01A Restaurant 1,300 1:100 GFA 13 
01B Restaurant 1,100 1:100 GFA 11 
01C Retail 1,096 1:250 GFA 4.38 
01D Retail 1,075 1:250 GFA 4.3 

2 Retail 720 1:250 GFA 2.88 
3A Retail 586 1:250 GFA 2.34 
3B Retail 597 1:250 GFA 2.38 
4 Retail 981 1:250 GFA 3.92 
5 Retail 917 1:250 GFA 3.66 

2n
d 

 F
lo

or
 

Bowling Alley Bowling Alley 3,920 5 spaces/lane 30 
201 Residential 860 2 spaces/unit   2 
202 Residential 802 2 spaces/unit   2 
203 Residential 630 2 spaces/unit   2 
204 Residential 580 2 spaces/unit   2 
205 Residential 380 2 spaces/unit   2 

3r
d 

 F
lo

or
 301 Residential 875 2 spaces/unit 2 

302 Residential 570 2 spaces/unit 2 
303 Residential 540 2 spaces/unit 2 
304 Residential 580 2 spaces/unit 2 

Total 96 

8



 
4. As noted under #1 above, any new building or expansion to an existing building in the H-1 zone district 

may be relieved from providing the required on-site parking through the approval of a variation.  The 
variation for the required parking should be based upon several factors, including:  
 

a. The availability of nearby public parking lots 
b. The availability of nearby private parking lots 
c. The availability of nearby on-street parking 
d. The viability of shared parking between uses 
e. Use of alternative transportation, such as bicycles  

 
5. The site is currently served by a combination of off-street parking, on-street parking and nearby public 

parking lots.  The subject property contains 4 off-street parking spaces on private property near White 
Street, which would be removed upon completion of the building addition.  There are 10 angled parking 
spaces within the right-of-way of Kansas Street and 3 parallel parking spaces within the right-of-way of 
Ash Street.  The applicant is proposing to remove one of the angled parking spaces within the right-of-way 
of Kansas Street to provide for 2 ADA-accessible spaces.  The result would be 7 regular spaces and 2 ADA 
space along Kansas Street.  Since this change is proposed within the right-of-way, the Public Works 
Department was consulted and agrees with this change.  Currently, the closest ADA-accessible parking 
space is on Ash Street just south of the subject property.  There are no ADA-accessible spaces along the 
entire length of Kansas Street.  
 

6. In 2016, a Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation was performed by Sam Schwartz, Transportation 
Consultants.  The report (excerpt attached) provides the location of on-street parking, public parking lots 
and private parking lots, with the total number of parking spaces noted for each.  The parking analysis 
concluded that there is no shortage of parking within the downtown.  In particular, the public parking lots  
east of White Street between Elwood Street and Kansas Street are underutilized.  As part of the 7 N. 
White Street project (Integrus), staff revisited the Schwartz Downtown Parking Evaluation and found 
some errors and that some of the ground conditions had changed.  In response, staff provided an updated 
GIS map of the downtown area, clearly illustrating all public parking lots, private parking lots and on-
street parking, with a total number of parking spaces for each.  
 

7. Should the variation to waive all required off-street parking be granted, parking for the site would be 
provided within the rights-of-way of nearby streets and several nearby public parking lots.  It should be 
noted that the residential tenants would likely park their vehicles overnight either on the street or in 
public parking lots.   
 

8. The Village currently permits overnight parking in public or private parking lots.  Parking is also permitted 
overnight on streets, except during snow events of 2” or more, in which cars must be removed for 
plowing.  
 

9. The PC/ZBA retains the right to request a traffic study (Article 7, Section A, Part 3, (b)(4)), if desired.  
 

10. In the event that a variation is granted for relief of the parking requirements, staff recommends including 
a condition of approval requiring the installation of several decorative bicycle racks on or near the subject 
property.  The site plan does not illustrate any on-site or off-site bike racks.   
 

Loading 
 

1. There is an existing parking/loading space located within the existing asphalt drive at the northwest 
corner of the site, with access to Ash Street.  This parking/loading area would be removed upon 
completion of the building addition.   
 

2. Loading spaces are required for the proposed development and are calculated using the gross floor area 
of each use (Article 7, Section B, Part 4).  However, because all uses within the building are not yet 
defined, it is impossible to calculate the required number of loading spaces.  Loading spaces must 
measure at least 12’ x 50’ and be located on the subject property.   

9



 
3. One 12’x50’ loading space has been provided within the right-of-way of White Street, next to the trash 

room and “back of house” for the commercial uses.  This space would allow full-size trucks to load and 
unload, while not obstructing the existing 12’ wide southbound travel lane on White Street.  This was a 
recommendation of staff at the 1st workshop and generally supported by the PC-ZBA.  While this space 
cannot technically satisfy the off-street loading requirement because it is located in the right-of-way, the 
intent of the Ordinance would be met.  An exception would be required to waive all required off-street 
loading.   
 

4. Many, if not most, of the existing businesses within the downtown occur within downtown street rights-
of-way between 7 am and 9 am, notably on Kansas Street .  Most businesses within the downtown are not 
open before 9 am.  Loading within the travel lanes of White Street is not recommended due to the higher 
volume of traffic on this street compared to other downtown streets.   
 

Landscaping 
 
There are no existing trees or landscaping on the subject property itself.  The landscape requirements are activated 
for redevelopment projects that increase the footprint of the building by more than 25%, as in this case.  Although 
the site is currently deficient in landscaping, the applicant is proposing additional landscaping to move closer to 
compliance with the code.  Staff offers the following comments:  
 

1. The proposed Landscape Plan does not match the proposed Site Plan in terms of floorplan layout, outdoor 
dining areas, on-street loading and on-street parking because they were prepared by different companies.  
The Landscape Plan should only be used to evaluate the existing and proposed landscaping.  Please refer 
to the Site Plan (P-2) for the correct information regarding the floorplan, off-site parking, loading and 
other off-site improvements.  
 

2. Parkway (street) trees are required at a rate of 1 tree for every 35’ feet of lineal frontage.  Street trees, by 
definition, shall be located within the road right-of-way, between the curb/shoulder of the road and the 
private property line.   
 

a) The Kansas Street frontage is 145.6’, requiring 5 street trees, whereas there are 4 existing.  The 
two mature street trees along Kansas Street are noted as being preserved on the plan.  One of 
these existing trees (a sycamore) is a “preservation tree”, as defined in Appendix E of the 
Landscape Ordinance.  If preservation trees are removed, they must be mitigated on-site.  If the 
preservation trees are removed, the Village may require a cash-in-lieu based on the caliper of the 
tree(s) being removed per §158.07 D (7)(a) of the Landscape Ordinance.  The applicant is 
proposing to preserve the existing street trees and add 1 additional street with the right-of-way, 
to comply with the code.  

b) The Ash Street frontage is 86.3’ long, requiring 3 street trees, whereas there is only 1 existing.  
The applicant is proposing 2 additional street trees within the right-of-way, in compliance with 
the code.  These two new trees would be planted within a 3’x6’ metal grate to match the setup 
for the existing tree on Ash Street.  

c) The White Street frontage is 86.3’ long, requiring 3 street trees, whereas there is only 1 existing.  
The applicant is proposing 2 additional street trees within the right-of-way, in compliance with 
the code.  These two new trees would be planted in a new sod parkway within the right-of-way.  

 
3. The Zoning Ordinance requires that the front and corner side yard setbacks in the H-1 zone district be 

“…devoted to living landscape materials”.  Historically, this has meant that the setback area between the 
building and the property line be landscaped with grass, trees and shrubs.  The applicant is proposing 
landscape planters on top of paved concrete on all street frontages, which would require 3 exceptions, 
one for each road frontage.  It could be argued that the proposed landscape planters will help meet the 
intent of the ordinance and help offset the exception requests.  
 

4. The Landscape Plan does not allow for a continuous, uninterrupted 3’ wide ADA-accessible path along 
Kansas Street due to the presence of a larger outdoor seating area.  Please refer to the Site Plan and 1st 

10



Floor Plan (Sheets P-2 and P-4) for the correct outdoor seating areas, which do comply with the 3’ ADA 
path.    
 

5. It should be noted that the mature trees within the Kansas Street right-of-way, one of which is a 
preservation tree (the sycamore), may be impacted by the site development.  It’s advised that the PC/ZBA 
provide verbal feedback in the event that one or both of these trees are lost during or shortly after the 
development.  For example, the PC/ZBA may note a preference for both trees to be preserved, but if they 
are removed, the owner would be obligated to pay the Village the cash-in-lieu fee as per page 11 of the 
Landscape Ordinance for the preservation tree and that the other tree be replaced with a 2.5” caliper tree 
(or larger).   
 

Lighting 
 
The plans illustrate 5 different types of exterior, wall-mounted lights.  These lights would be placed along the 1st  
floor of all street frontages, one adjacent to each outdoor balcony and three lights on the outside of the residential 
units on the 3rd floor overhanging the existing bowling alley for rooftop maintenance.  There would be a total of 32 
building-mounted lights.  There would be no new light poles.  
 
Details of the light fixtures and their brightness are provided on Sheets P-15 and P-16 of the Photometric Plans.  All 
of the lights would be LED, although the brightness of each type varies.  LED brightness is measured in lumens.  In 
the past, light brightness was more often measured by wattage, which applied to incandescent lights.  Since 
lumens are still somewhat unfamiliar as a unit of measurement, staff has provided the following conversion table 
(roughly estimated) based upon the type of light (LED) and lumens proposed:  
 

  
Type A 
(acorn) 

Type B 
(acorn) 

Type C 
(carriage) 

Type D 
(sconce)  

Type E 
(gooseneck) 

Lumens 4,849 4,257 3,623 1,916 1,049 

Wattage 330 290 247 130 72 

 
Light fixture type and brightness were also reviewed by the HPC.  However, going forward, the HPC’s review of 
lighting will only pertain to light fixture design and not brightness.  The PC/ZBA is the appropriate body to review 
light brightness.  Between the first and second HPC meetings, light type “B” was decreased from 8,792 lumens to 
4,257 lumens.  The brightness of the other lights remains the same.  Light types “A” and “B” both received light 
shields at the top of the fixture to direct light down.  Light type “C” (carriage light) also has a shield on the top. The 
type E (gooseneck) lights are aimed down and shielded.   
 
Per the Photometric Plan, the light levels exceed the maximum permitted 0.5 foot-candles on all four sides of the 
building, requiring an exception.  However, it should be noted that due to the close proximity of the building to all 
four property lines, the presence of any type of lighting would likely exceed 0.5 foot-candles (unless they were 
extremely dim).  The location of the light fixtures are also illustrated on the color building elevation drawings.  
 
Engineering 
 
Robinson Engineering has reviewed the plans for engineering and for the Preliminary/Final Plat.  The site is 
currently served by Village water, sanitary and storm utilities.  On-site stormwater detention will not be required.  
The existing water, sanitary and stormwater mains around this block have the capacity to serve the demand from 
the proposed building addition.  
 
Plat of Resubdivision 
 
The existing building is situated on two underlying lots, which must be combined as part of the proposed building 
addition, thus requiring a Plat of Resubdivision.  The Preliminary and Final Plats may be combined into one 

11



Preliminary/Final Plat of Resubdivision.  The Plat has been reviewed by Robinson Engineering, although there may 
be minor revisions prior to recordation of the Plat.   
 
Signage 
 
Multi-tenant properties within the H-1 zone district require the approval of a Uniform Sign Plan.  The applicant 
provided the general locations of wall signage, without details of sign design, materials, lighting, etc.  The HPC 
performed a preliminary review of the signage, with the expectation that the applicant would need to return to 
the HPC for each sign that is installed, either in groups or individually.  No other signage is proposed at this time 
besides wall signage.  Freestanding signs are not permitted in the H-1 zone district.   
 
It should be noted however, that the locations of the wall signs do not comply with the Sign Code in that they do 
not all align along a common centerline (page 37).  This may be due to the change in grade of Kansas Street as it 
slopes up from White Street to Ash Street.  Also, the proposed wall signage on Ash Street contains signage on the 
1st floor and some on the 2nd floor.  Since the overall project is being reviewed as a Planned Unit Development 
(PUD), an exception could be granted to allow signs that do not follow a common centerline.  The HPC expressed 
approval of the wall signs not aligning alone one common centerline.    
 
The Sign Code requires that wall signage in the H-1 zone district generally abide by the following:  
 

• Each tenant within a multi-tenant building is permitted 1 wall sign per store frontage facing a public right-
of-way.   

• Wall signs may not exceed 15 square feet in area.  
• Sandblasted wood signs are encouraged, although alternative materials may be acceptable as determined 

by the HPC.   
• Signs may be illuminated by spot lighting only.  
• Wall signs may not project over any right-of-way.  Since the building has a near 0’ setback in some 

locations, flat wall signs may be permitted but projecting wall signs would not. 
 
Fencing 
 
The site plan (Sheet P-2) illustrates two restaurant outdoor seating areas, partially within the rights-of-way of both 
Kansas Street and Ash Street.  The Zoning Ordinance (page 86) requires that all outdoor seating areas be enclosed 
by a 3’ tall wall or fence, regardless of whether alcohol is served.  Outdoor seating for restaurants requires a 
Special Use Permit, reviewed by the Plan Commission and approved by the Village Board.  Additionally, outdoor 
seating within public right-of-way requires a lease agreement with the Village.  The proposed outdoor seating 
would be treated similarly to the formerly approved outdoor seating for Trail’s Edge, Fat Rosie’s and Francesca’s.  
It should also be noted that these outdoor seating areas were required to have removable fencing, with the 
fencing and all furniture and accessories removed between December 1st and March 1st.  
 
Details have not been provided for the proposed outdoor seating fencing, including the height, design or materials.  
Staff recommends either adding conditions of approval regarding the fencing, noting that it shall match the height, 
design and materials of Fat Rosie’s, Francesca’s and Trail’s Edge.  
 
Other 
 
Separate draft CCR’s have been submitted for both the commercial residential components of the building.  
Although the Village does not enforce CCR’s, staff performed a cursory review and provided comments to the 
applicant on May 19th.   Please see the draft CCR’s with staff’s recommended changes and comments.  The 
applicant has not provided revised CCR’s to-date.   
 
2019 Comprehensive Plan  
 
The proposed building addition, including the site layout, architecture and uses, meets the intent of several key 
aspects of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan:  
 

12



Chapter 3: Social & Cultural Vibrancy 
 

Goal 3.1 (Priority C): Strengthen Frankfort’s social capital by engaging with and connecting a diverse network of 
citizens to maintain a strong sense of community.  It could be argued that a significant investment within the 
downtown would enforce a strong sense of community, by increasing foot traffic and attracting more Village 
residents and non-residents to the downtown.  
 
Goal 3.2 (Priority A): Leverage and enhance Frankfort’s public spaces through creative place-making and thoughtful 
design that considers how people interact with space and place.  The proposed development would occur directly 
adjacent to Breidert Green, the Village’s central park and gathering place.  The building addition would benefit by 
being in very close proximity to the park and in turn, visitors to the park would increase, adding to more “eyes on 
the street” and enhancing the sense of place.  By building closer to Breidert Green, it would help complete the 
courtyard feel for the park, one of the hallmarks of good park planning.  
 
Chapter 4: Green Initiatives  
 
Goal 4.8 (Priority A): Where possible, encourage infill development and adaptive reuse.  The proposed building 
addition would be considered infill development, being placed on underutilized space currently paved with asphalt 
and surrounded by development.  The existing portion of the building containing the historic bowling alley would 
remain in place, while the ground floor would be reconfigured for a restaurant and other commercial tenants, 
thereby “reusing” the existing building.   
 
Chapter 7: Economic Prosperity  
 
Goal: Maintain and enhance downtown Frankfort as a successful and vibrant corridor for residents, local business 
and visitors.  The proposed building addition would add commercial real estate to the heart of the downtown, 
creating momentum for more development in the area.  If all or a portion of the 2nd and 3rd floors of the addition 
are developed for residential, these residents would be more likely to shop at the local businesses within walking 
distance.   
 
Chapter 9: Downtown Frankfort 
 
Downtown Commercial Core Recommendations: 
 

• Maintain the Village’s strong architectural and design standards to retain the areas charm and character.  
Within the Historic Core Business District, maintain the existing scale (two-stories, three stories maximum), 
character (use quality building materials) and style (traditional but diverse).  

• Seek qualified mixed-use developers to build on or renovate existing structures on key opportunity sites 
within the downtown core. 

 
The subject property is specifically highlighted on page 91 of the Comprehensive Plan as an “opportunity site” for 
renovation/redevelopment.  The proposed infill development would maintain the downtown’s architectural design 
standards and complement other older and newer buildings within the downtown.  As proposed, the building 
would house a mix of uses, one of the recommendations listed above.  It’s worth noting that the Comprehensive 
Plan stated that 3-story buildings would be appropriate in the downtown, although any 3-story building would 
likely require a variation to exceed the 35’ height maximum in the H-1 zone district.  
 
PUD Exceptions and Tangible Benefits 
 
The PUD process allows the PC/ZBA and Board to grant “exceptions” to Zoning Ordinance regulations that would 
typically be variations under traditional development.  These exceptions should be weighed by the PC/ZBA against 
the “tangible benefits” that a PUD development could offer to offset the exceptions.  The PC-ZBA can recommend 
approval of all, some or none of the requested exceptions when forwarding a recommendation to the Village 
Board for the PUD.  Exceptions may be granted from the Zoning Ordinance, Sign Ordinance or Landscape 
Ordinance.   
 

13



 
Exceptions (typically variation requests when not developed as a PUD) 
 

1. Front Yard of Kansas Street shall be landscaped; none proposed (Zoning Ordinance, Article 6, Section C, 
Part 3 (g)(1)).  

2. Corner Side Yard of Ash Street shall be landscaped; none proposed (Zoning Ordinance, Article 6, Section C, 
Part 3 (g)(2)). 

3. Corner Side Yard of White Street shall be landscaped; none proposed (Zoning Ordinance, Article 6, Section 
C, Part 3 (g)(2)). 

4. Minimum 10’ Corner Side Yard setback required from Ash Street, with 3’ 8 ½” proposed (Zoning 
Ordinance, Article 6, Section C, Part 1).  

5. Minimum 10’ Corner Side Yard setback required from White Street, with 0’ proposed (Zoning Ordinance, 
Article 6, Section C, Part 1). 

6. Minimum 5’ Side Yard setback required from the south property line, with 0’ proposed (Zoning Ordinance, 
Article 6, Section C, Part 1). 

7. Maximum building height of 35’ is permitted, with 45’ 4” proposed (Zoning Ordinance, Article 6, Section C, 
Part 1). 

8. Relief of all required off-street parking for a building within the H-1 zone district (Article 6, Section C, Part 
3 (g)(6)). 

9. Relief of all required off-street loading (Zoning Ordinance, Article 7, Section B, Part 4).  
10. Light levels exceed 0.5 foot-candles along all property lines (Zoning Ordinance, Article 7, Section E, Part 3).  
11. Wall signs required to align along one common centerline (Sign Code, §151.18).  

 
Tangible Benefits (to offset the requested exceptions) 
 
Modifications in zoning, subdivision, and other applicable regulations are privileges and will be considered by the 
Village only in direct response to the tangible benefits received from the planned unit development to the Village or 
the neighborhood in which it would be located. These benefits shall be in the form of exceptional amenities; 
outstanding environmental, landscape, architectural or site design; or the conservation of special man-made or 
natural features of the site. (page 24) 
 
Although no tangible benefits have been indicated on the plans, staff recommends the following possible tangible 
benefits:  
 

1. One or several decorative bike racks, could be placed on private property or public property nearby.  
2. Enhanced landscaping, above and beyond what is required per code, may be viewed as a tangible benefit.  

Although there is no space on the subject property for additional plantings, trees and shrubs could be 
planted off-site in the vicinity, such as Prairie Park.   

3. Decorative brick pavers could replace the existing concrete public sidewalks within the rights-of-way of 
Ash, White or Kansas streets.  Currently within these rights-of-way, some portions of the sidewalk are 
concrete while other portions are brick pavers.  The replacement of concrete with brick pavers would 
provide a more uniform appearance in the public space.   

 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact, (including the PUD) 
 
The following findings of fact are used to judge the merit of a Special Use Permit request.  The applicant’s 
responses to the following findings of fact have been included with this report.  
 
Findings of Fact: 
 

1. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 

2. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

14



3. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.   

4. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  

5. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variation with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.   

6. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.   

7. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.   

8. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.   

PUD Objectives: 
 

1. In addition to the general purpose of this Ordinance, the purpose of this section is to establish standards 
and procedures for Planned Unit Developments, in order that the following objectives may be obtained: 
 
a. Encourage variety and flexibility in land development that is necessary to meet the best interests of 

the entire Village; 
 

b. Regulate the allocation, maintenance and permanent preservation of common open space, recreation 
areas and facilities to offer recreational opportunities close to home and to enhance the appearance 
of neighborhoods by the conservation of natural resources; 

 
c. Provide for a variety of housing types to accommodate the life stages and lifestyle choices of a range 

of persons, by allowing development that would not be possible under the strict application of the 
other sections of this Ordinance; 

 
d. Preserve natural vegetation, topographic and geologic features, and other natural resources and 

amenities, and improve air and water quality; 
 

e. Use a creative approach to the use of land and related physical facilities that results in better design 
and provision of exceptional amenities; 

 
f. Prioritize an efficient use of land, resulting in more economic networks of utilities, streets, schools, 

public grounds and buildings and other community facilities; 
 

g. Support land use which promotes the public health, safety, comfort and welfare; and 
 

h. Encourage innovations in residential, commercial and industrial development so that growing 
demands of the population may be met by greater variety in type, design and layout of space ancillary 
to said buildings. 

 
 

15



Variation Findings of Fact 
 
The following findings of fact are used to judge the merit of a variation request.  The applicant’s responses to the 
following findings of fact have been included with this report.  
 

A. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases: 
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone; 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 

B. A variation shall be recommended to the Village Board only if the evidence, in the judgment of the Board 
of Appeals, sustains each of the three (3) conditions enumerated in Part 3(a). 

 
C. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 

determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, shall also take into 
consideration the extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by 
the evidence: 

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out; 
 

2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 
to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest 
in the property; 

 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or 

 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish 
or impair property values within the neighborhood. 

 
Requests Summarized 
 
Exceptions as part of the PUD:  
 
The ten (10) exceptions, summarized, are as follows:  
 

16



1. Front Yard of Kansas Street shall be landscaped; none proposed (Article 6, Section C, Part 3 (g)(1)).  
2. Corner Side Yard of Ash Street shall be landscaped; none proposed (Article 6, Section C, Part 3 (g)(2)). 
3. Corner Side Yard of White Street shall be landscaped; none proposed (Article 6, Section C, Part 3 (g)(2)). 
4. Minimum 10’ Corner Side Yard setback required from Ash Street, with 3’ 8 ½” proposed (Article 6, Section 

C, Part 1).  
5. Minimum 10’ Corner Side Yard setback required from White Street, with 0’ proposed (Article 6, Section C, 

Part 1). 
6. Minimum 5’ Side Yard setback required from the south property line, with 0’ proposed (Article 6, Section 

C, Part 1). 
7. Maximum building height of 35’ is permitted, with 45’ 4” proposed (Article 6, Section C, Part 1). 
8. Relief of all required off-street parking for a building within the H-1 zone district (Article 6, Section C, Part 

3 (g)(6)). 
9. Relief of all required off-street loading (Article 7, Section B, Part 4).  
10. Light levels exceed 0.5 foot-candles along all property lines (Article 7, Section E, Part 3).  

 
Special Use Permits: 
 
The two (2) Special Use Permits, summarized, are as follows:  

 
1. Restaurant (full-service) with liquor sales in the H-1 zone district.  
2. Outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant (within the right-of-way). 

 
Variation: 
 
One (1) variation is being requested:  

 
1. Relief of all required off-street parking for the property, including the existing and proposed building.  

Since all commercial tenants are not defined at this time, it’s impossible to calculate the exact number of 
required parking spaces.  However, page 8 of this report notes that the proposed uses will require at least 
96 parking spaces, but will likely be higher when the number of employees is factored.  

 
Plat of Resubdivision 
 
This project will require a Plat of Resubdivision.  There are currently two underlying lots that need to be 
resubdivided.  This Plat will also memorialize right-of-way dedication for White Street and Kansas Street.  
 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Special Use Permit for a Planned Unit Development with 
exceptions, in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public testimony, conditioned on 
final engineering approval, revising the Landscape Plan to match the Site Plan (Sheet P-2), that the 
outdoor seating fencing shall match the height, design and materials of Fat Rosie’s, Francesca’s and Trail’s 
Edge, and that any sections of public sidewalk damaged during construction shall be replaced.   
 

2. Recommend to the Village Board to approve a Special Use Permit for a full-service restaurant with liquor 
sales for Tenant 01, in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public testimony.  
 

3. Recommend to the Village Board to approve a Special Use Permit for an outdoor seating associated with a 
permitted restaurant for Tenant 01, located within the rights-of-way of both Kansas Street and Ash Street, 
in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public testimony and conditioned upon 
obtaining a lease agreement with the Village for use of public right-of-way for outdoor dining.  
 

4. Recommend to the Village Board to approve a variation to waive all required off-street parking associated 
with the existing building and proposed addition, in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact 
and public testimony and conditioned upon installation of two (2) decorative bicycle racks on the subject 
property.   
 

17



5. Recommend the Village Board approve the Preliminary/Final Plat of Resubdivision for 15 Ash Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony, subject to any technical revisions prior to 
recording and conditioned on final engineering approval.   
  

 

18



AS
H 

ST

OAK ST

KANSAS ST
N 

WH
ITE

 S
T

ELWOOD ST

CE
NT

ER
 R

D
W NEBRASKA ST

OREGON ST

S W
HI

TE
 ST

E NEBRASKA ST

CA
RP

EN
TE

R 
ST

15 Ash Street - Olde Frankfort Mall

µ

0 150 30075
Feet19



AS
H 

ST

OAK ST

KANSAS ST
N 

WH
ITE

 S
T

ELWOOD ST

CE
NT

ER
 R

D
W NEBRASKA ST

OREGON ST

S W
HI

TE
 ST

E NEBRASKA ST

CA
RP

EN
TE

R 
ST

Zoning Map

µ

0 150 30075
Feet

H-1

H-1

R-2

R-2

20



 

 

21



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

22



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 

23



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

 This Location is a focal point for the Downtown and provides an opportunity to 
enhance the District.  The current exterior of the building does not match the design 
presence or quality of neighboring structures.  The structure needs to be brought up 
to current standards and requirements for life safety and accessibility.

This property was recently purchased by a new Owner who desires to make a 
significant investment in improving the site and its ability to attract business to the 
Downtown.  The physical state of the current building needs improvement to attract 
and retain tenants.

The essential character of the locality will be enhanced and further the quality of 
projects in the Community.

Limiting the height of the Building's addition will diminish the opportunities to provide 
an aesthetically pleasing mixed-use development to this focal block in the District.  
Further there is a precedent for + 3story buildings in the H-1 District.

24

cgruba
Received



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

The conditions for this petition for variation are not directly applicable to other 
properties in the same zoning classification.

The purpose for this variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money, but to the contrary is a significant financial investment by a Frankfort resident 
interested in improving a long neglected piece of real estate on a prime corner in the 
Village's Downtown.

The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person or entity. The 
Owners have an interest in improving their property.

Granting this variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious 
to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is 
located.  This development is consistent with the Village's vision for having a vibrant, 
attractive downtown.

The architectural designer/architect of record has been involved in numerous projects 
in this locale and is committed to providing: unique structures with site-specific 
architectural appeal, functional planning, character and value to the Community.

The Proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property 
or increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

25



 
 

Review Standards Commissioner Evaluation Form – Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
 

Article 3, Section F, Part 4 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every PUD Preliminary Plan and Final Plan. The Plan Commission shall consider the extent to which the proposal fulfills the following standards.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. The plan is designed to protect the public health, 

welfare and safety. 
 
 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. The proposed development does not cause 
substantial injury to the value of other property in 
the immediate area. 
 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. The plan provides for protection of the aesthetic 
and function of the natural environment, which 
shall include, but not be limited to, flood plains, 
streams, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands, soil and 
geologic characteristics, air quality, vegetation, 
woodlands, and steep slopes. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. The plan provides for and ensures the 
preservation of adequate recreational amenities 
and common open spaces. 
 

  
YES              NO 
 

e. Residential use areas may provide a variety of 
housing types to achieve a balanced 
neighborhood. 
 

  
YES              NO 
 

26



f. The planned unit development provides land area 
to accommodate cultural, educational, 
recreational and other public and quasi-public 
activities to serve the needs of the residents 
thereof. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

g. The proposed development provide for the 
orderly and creative arrangement of all land uses 
with respect to each other and to the entire 
Village. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
 
Article 3, Section F, Part 5, letter ‘d’ of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists two additional “findings” or “standards” related specifically 
to residential or mixed-use PUDs to permit uses that are otherwise not permitted in the underlying zoning district. For these specific types of 
proposals, the Plan Commission must also find the following.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
d1. That the uses permitted by such exceptions are 

necessary or desirable and are appropriate with 
respect to the primary purpose of the planned 
unit development; 

  
YES             NO 
 

d2. That the uses permitted by such exception are 
not of such a nature or so located as to exercise a 
detrimental influence on the surrounding 
neighborhood; 

  
YES             NO 
 

 

27



28



29



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

30



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

31



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Standards 

 
Article 3, Section F, Part 4 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every PUD Preliminary Plan and Final Plan. The Plan 
Commission must consider the extent to which the proposal fulfills the following seven standards. To 
assist the Plan Commission in their review of the PUD request, please provide responses to the following 
“Review Standards.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. The plan is designed to protect the public health, welfare and safety. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. The proposed development does not cause substantial injury to the value of other property in the 

immediate area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. The plan provides for protection of the aesthetic and function of the natural environment, which 

shall include, but not be limited to, flood plains, streams, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands, soil and 
geologic characteristics, air quality, vegetation, woodlands, and steep slopes.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
4. The plan provides for and ensures the preservation of adequate recreational amenities and common 

open spaces. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



5. Residential use areas may provide a variety of housing types to achieve a balanced neighborhood. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. The planned unit development provides land area to accommodate cultural, educational, 

recreational and other public and quasi-public activities to serve the needs of the residents thereof. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. The proposed development provide for the orderly and creative arrangement of all land uses with 

respect to each other and to the entire Village. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Article 3, Section F, Part 5, letter ‘d’ of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists two additional 
“findings” or “standards” related specifically to residential or mixed-use PUDs to permit uses that are 
otherwise not permitted in the underlying zoning district. For these specific types of proposals, the Plan 
Commission must also find the following. Please provide responses to the following additional “Review 
Standards.” 
 
1. That the uses permitted by such exceptions are necessary or desirable and are appropriate with 

respect to the primary purpose of the planned unit development; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the uses permitted by such exception are not of such a nature or so located as to exercise a 

detrimental influence on the surrounding neighborhood; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



FOLKERS DR

OLD FRANKFORT WAY

SOUTH LA GRANGE RD

W
H

ITE ST

120
17

414

2

4

3

40

STUDY AREA

Private Parking Lots

On-Street Parking

175 350 525 70087
Feet

0

FIGURE 2: PARKING SUPPLY - NORTH STUDY AREA

W
HITE ST

NEBRASKA ST

KANSAS ST

OREGON ST

ELWOOD ST

BOWEN ST

ASH ST

OAK ST

HICKORY ST

W
ALNUT ST

96TH AVE

LINDEN DR

EVERGREEN DR

7362

58

38
4

25

16

28

11
20

49

4 8

10

4

93

100

14

2

26

6

52

3

413124411
2

3

3
5 1 1

12 3

4

2 2
2
1

3 2 1
5

5

5

2

10

6

4
7

34

34

6
11

2

3

4

3 7

OLD PLANK ROAD TRAIL

FIGURE 3: PARKING SUPPLY - SOUTH STUDY AREA

175 350 525 70087
Feet

0

On-Street Parking

Private Parking Lots

Public Parking Lots

STUDY AREA

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 3

this lot is private

1/2 
lot private

34



South Study Area
The south study area includes what most 
would consider the downtown core of 
historic Frankfort. Included within the 
study area are several village-owned 
properties, purchased for commercial 
redevelopment but previously occupied 
by residential uses.

Parking in the south study area includes 

There are a total of 841 parking spaces in 
the study area, of which, 639 are public 
spaces. Included in the 639 public spaces 

street spaces.  While not located within 
the study area boundaries, additional 
on-street parking is located immediately 
adjacent to the study area and also 
serves the downtown area.

As a percent, public parking makes up 
76 percent of the parking supply in the 
South Study Area.  By industry standard, 

parking supply should be public. The 

parking opportunities has resulted in not 
only a high percentage of public parking 
spaces, but a generally well-distributed 
allocation of parking spaces throughout 
the South Study Area.   

Time restricted parking is limited in 
Downtown, and mostly concentrated on 
Ash Street.  The public parking lots have 
no time restrictions. 

street parking supply in the south study 
area.

Hickory & Nebraska (LaSalle Street Securities Building) 28 26 2
35 W Nebraska (unimproved lot) 34 34 0
Breidert Green Lot (Kansas & Oak) 58 56 2
Chamber Lot (Elwood & Oak) 38 38 0
Trolley Barn Lot (11 S White) 100 97 3
1 N White Street Lot (Former Fox Lumber) 93 88 5
Prairie Lot (7 N White) 73 71 2
Fra-Milco Lot (2 Smith St) 25 25 0

Subtotal 449 435 14

106 W Nebraska 11 10 1
Luscombe Gtl Co (106 Kansas St) 16 16 0
28 W Nebraska St 49 47 2
32 W Nebraska St 20 19 1
3 N Oak St 4 4 0
105 Ash St 4 4 0
Star Vision (4 W Nebraska St) 8 8 0
3 W Nebraska 10 10 0
22 N White St 4 4 0
The GraineryShops (SWC Elwood & White) 62 61 1
3 E Nebraska St 14 13 1

Subtotal 202 196 6
TOTAL 651 633 18

TABLE 2: OFF-STREET CAPACITY- SOUTH STUDY AREA

Public Lot Capacity

Regular 
Space

Capacity

Handicap 
Space 

Capacity

Private Lot/ Owner

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 4 35



Parking Occupancy 
Parking occupancy surveys of the on-

facilities were conducted throughout the 
day on four (4) weekdays and a Saturday 

lists the days in which parking data is 
available:

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Our study approach follows the Institute 
of Transportation Engineer’s (ITE) 
Manual of Transportation Engineering 
Studies, 2nd Edition.  The occupancy 
surveys were conducted at least once an 
hour for various time periods between 

of the parking counts was to capture 
typical weekday and weekend parking 
conditions. Afternoon peak occupancy 
occurred around the midday lunch 

variations in typical peak parking 
demand in a Central Business District.  
The graph shows monthly demand over 
a year.  Parking in the South Study Area 
is impacted by weather as it relates to 
trail and recreational usage, however, 
so we were sure to capture parking 
occupancy on a very pleasant warm 

Sam Schwartz 
parking levels to eight (8) data sets 

Generally, peak parking demand 
occurred at the same times, however, 
overall demand increased by 
approximately 7 percent since Spring 

is likely attributable to the new retail 
and restaurant space opened in the 
“Sangmeister Building” at 28 W Kansas 
Street.   

North Study Area
The north study area consists of mostly 
private parking lots including Frankfort 
Place, The Square 219 N. White Street 
Condos, GNC Consulting and Kurtz 
Funeral Home, as well as some on-
street parking along White Street.  Any 
commercial parking lot with access from 
LaGrange Road only was not included 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

MONTHLY VARIATION IN TYPICAL 
PARKING DEMAND

Retail Restaurant O ce

88% 89%
93% 92% 94% 94% 92% 93% 92% 94% 94%

100%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

ESTIMATED PARKING VARIATIONS 
IN DOWNTOWN 

Source: Shared Parking, Second Edition, ULI

The graph shows the monthly parking variation estimates in Downtown Frankfort based on 
weighted factors accounting for the existing land mix in the study area.  This would account for 
development generated parking demand and not event or recreational demands. 

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 536



in the study area.  The peak overall 
parking demand in the study area, 

42 percent parking spaces occupied. 

Figure 4 (following page) show maps 
of parking demand during the peak 
hour of parking usage in the study 
area on a weekday and weekend.  

As the map shows, The Square is the 
most occupied lot in the area, followed 
by Frankfort Place, Kurtz Funeral Home, 
GNC Consulting, and 219 N White Street 
Condos.

On-street parking demand along White 
Street between Bowen and South 
LaGrange Road is low throughout 
the day. With 13 available parking 
spaces, peak overall parking demand 

parking occupancy. The results of the 
parking counts show that the individual 
buildings/sites follow the traditional 
suburban model with each site providing 
adequate on-site parking to serve 
their own parking demand with little 
usage of any on-street spaces that are 
available.  As such, no further analysis or 
projections are warranted in the North 
Study Area. 

South Study Area

occupancies were analyzed together to 
obtain an overall peak period. Midday 

the south study area, with an overall 
public parking demand ranging from 
32 percent to 47 percent.  During this 

10:00
AM

11:00
AM

12:00
PM

1:00
PM

2:00
PM

3:00
PM

4:00
PM

5:00
PM

6:00
PM

7:00 
PM

8:00
PM

9:00
PM

3/1/16 18.6% 24.4% 31.6% 32.1% 27.1% 24.7% 22.7%
3/2/15 23.9% 26.3% 31.9% 35.1% 30.2%
3/3/16 18.6% 23.5% 31.0% 32.9% 29.3% 29.1% 36.2% 46.6%
3/22/16 25.5% 25.2% 35.4% 41.5% 33.3% 30.8% 32.9% 32.1% 39.0% 37.7% 24.7%
4/16/16 26.0% 31.4% 43.9% 47.4% 43.3% 33.5% 23.4% 24.2% 32.2% 38.7% 33.3% 21.9%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

P
a

rk
in

g
 D

em
a

n
d

 (%
)

Time

DOWNTOWN FRANKFORT PARKING DEMAND 
SOUTH STUDY AREA

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 6 37



FOLKERS DR

OLD FRANKFORT WAY

SOUTH LA GRANGE RD

W
H

ITE ST

STUDY AREA

FIGURE 4: PEAK PARKING OCCUPANCY - NORTH STUDY AREA

FOLKERS D

175 350 525 70087
Feet

0

0 - 24%

25 - 49%

50 - 74%

75 - 94%

95+%

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 738



time, the most occupied public lot is 
Breidert Green Lot at Kansas and Oak. 
The least occupied lot during the midday 
peak hour is the Fra-Milco Lot at 2 Smith 
Street.  

Evening peak occupancy in the south 

ranging from 38 percent to 47 percent. 
The graph on the next page represents 
public parking demand in the south 
study area observed throughout the day.

PM, averaging 31 percent occupied 
parking spaces. When the public parking 

private parking demand is lower with an 
average of 22 percent parking spaces 
occupied.

Figures 5 and 6 on Page 9 spatially 
illustrate public and private parking 
demand, respectively, throughout the 
study area during the overall peak hour.  

According to the map, the most occupied 
public lot in the area is the Breidert 

The least occupied lot is 1 N White Street 

On-street parking occupancy during 
the evening peak hour is on average 59 
percent occupied over the entire south 
study area.  

Table 3 compares the peak occupancy 
of weekdays versus weekends.

 
 
O -Street  
Percent Occupied  

Percent Occupied  
On and O -Street Total 
 

Weekday 
(M-Th) 

Weekend 
(F-Sun) 
 

38% 45% 
  

68% 60% 
  

47% 47% 

On-Street  

TABLE 3: DAILY PUBLIC PARKING 
OCCUPANCY COMPARISON

The South Study Area has an excellent 
public parking pool with 76 percent of all 
parking resources dedicated as shared 

of parking resources.  At most, 47 percent 
of these public parking spaces in the study 
area are used during typical conditions 
which indicates more than ample parking 
is available to meet development-driven 
demand.

On-Street Parking Turnover 
A parking duration and turnover study 
was conducted along Kansas Street, 
White Street, and Oak and Ash Street 
between Kansas Street and Nebraska 
Street, as well as the Breidert Green 
Lot. The seven block faces included 77 
on-street parking spaces marked by 
pavement markings, and were selected 
for the turnover study because of their 
higher observed occupancy rates. Each 
block face was observed over the course 
of the survey on Tuesday March 22, 

Breidert Green Lot was observed over 
the course of the survey on Saturday, 

PM.  License plates of all vehicles parked 
were observed and noted each hour to 
determine parking duration.

Parking duration is the length of time 
vehicles are parked in a given space.  Of 

PM, 57 percent stayed for less than an 
hour, 24 percent stayed between one 
to two hours, 9 percent stayed two to 

three or more.  While 81 percent of the 
parkers in this sample area parked two 
hours or less, only 53 percent of survey 
respondents said they typically park 
two hours or less, with the majority of 
the remaining respondents selecting 
the option of two to four hours. The 

condition and the summary of survey 

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 8 39



W
HITE ST

NEBRASKA ST

KANSAS ST

OREGON ST

ELWOOD ST

BOWEN ST

ASH ST

OAK ST

HICKORY ST

W
ALNUT ST

96TH AVE

LINDEN DR

EVERGREEN DR

OLD PLANK ROAD TRAIL

FIGURE 6: PRIVATE PARKING PEAK OCCUPANCY - SOUTH STUDY AREA

175 350 525 70087
Feet

0

0 - 24% 25 - 49%

50 - 74% 75 - 94%

95+% Public Parking Lots

STUDY AREA

W
HITE ST

NEBRASKA ST

KANSAS ST

OREGON ST

ELWOOD ST

BOWEN ST

ASH ST

OAK ST

HICKORY ST

W
ALNUT ST

96TH AVE

LINDEN DR

EVERGREEN DR

ST

SKA ST

OLD PLANK ROAD TRAIL

STUDY AREA

FIGURE 5: PUBLIC PARKING PEAK OCCUPANCY - SOUTH STUDY AREA

175 350 525 70087
Feet

0

0 - 24% 25 - 49%

50 - 74% 75 - 94%

95+% Private Parking Lots

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 940



respondents could be due to chance, but 

to an over-representation of longer-term 
parkers in the survey results.

Of the total parked vehicles in the 
Breidert Green lot during our survey, 
39 percent stayed for less than an 
hour while 12 percent stayed over 
six hours.  An analysis of the survey 
responses naturally show a correlation 
of employees to longer typical 
visits downtown - approximately 34 
respondents say they typically stay 
downtown over 6 hours, while many of 
the same respondents answered that 
they own a business or work downtown.  
This comparison indicates those parking 
over six hours are likely employees and 
that they are utilizing about 12 percent (7 
spaces) of the Breidert Green lot. 

Parking turnover is an indicator of the 
rate of use of a parking space and the 
average number of vehicles using a given 

turnover rate is determined by dividing 
the total number of vehicles parked in 
a given location by the capacity. The 
studied areas overall had a turnover 

parking space is only being used by one 
vehicle all day and is appropriate only for 
long-term parking. Typically, a turnover 

turnover condition and is preferred for 
an area’s most convenient spaces.  

The turnover of the on-street spaces occurs 
at a very healthy frequency downtown.  
Turnover is lower in the Breidert Green 
lot than the on-street spaces, though at 
2.7, the turnover rate remains fairly high.  

preferred as compared to on-street because 
on-street spaces are typically the most 
convenient, highly coveted spaces and should 
have the highest turnover to be available as 
customers search for a space.  That being 
said, the prime location of the Breidert Green 

lot, and the determination that employees 
are using the lot, indicate potential 
opportunities exist to increase the turnover 
rate by limiting use by longer-term parkers.  

Existing Land Use Mix

TABLE 4: EXISTING 
DOWNTOWN 
LAND USE MIX
 

Size (SF) Land Use 
Restaurant 19,967 
Retail 40,320 
O ce 49,036 
Vacant 3,502 
Other* 24,198 
TOTAL 137,023 

 *Other includes uses such as the children’s museum, 
bowling alley/pool hall, periodic assembly space, meeting 
rooms, photo studio and massage space.

ON- STREET 
PARKING TURNOVER

Less than
an hour

3+
hours

2-3
hours

1-2 
hours

57%
24%

9%
10%

The Village of Frankfort provided data on 
existing buildings in the South Study Area 
for use in projecting growth over the next 

Table 4 shows a summary of the existing 
building area in the South Study Area. 

Currently, there are approximately 4.67 

square feet of commercial space in the 

41



South Study Area. Typically, we advise 
that downtown areas should provide at 

square feet to ensure adequate parking 
opportunities are available to support a 
successful downtown.

Walkability
An active pedestrian environment 
supports a walkable, vibrant downtown.  
The needs of a walkable downtown are 
closely related to a successful parking 
strategy.  Good walking conditions, 
like safe roadway crossings, adequate 
sidewalk width, adequate lighting and 

parking demand and distribute that 
demand across the system more 

further.  It is the concept of a “Park Once” 
environment where those arriving by 
car can easily park their car one time 
and stroll to several destinations on foot 
before returning to their car.   On-street 

through an area which provides the 

and increased business visibility.

The study of walkability focused on 
the South Study Area as its layout 
follows that of a traditional walkable 
downtown.  Frankfort’s historic core 
has excellent pedestrian connections 
provided by a low volume street grid and 
continuous sidewalk network.  Generally, 
crossing distances are minimized with 
narrow streets and curb extensions 
at intersections.   In addition, the Old 
Plank Road Trail passes through the 
middle of Downtown and provides direct 
connections to White and Oak Street, as 
well as several public parking lots.  

of lighting to the west parking lot as a 
barrier to Downtown walkability, as well 
as the Old Plank Road Trail crossings on 
White Street and Oak Street.

Downtown Event Conditions  
Downtown Frankfort has established 
a successful event and festival 
program that utilizes Breidert Green, 
in particular, and the surrounding area 
as a community and regional draw 
to Downtown.  This parking study 
focuses on typical development-driven 
conditions because those conditions 
occur every day of the year and are 
produced by long-term assets in the 
downtown. However, since survey 
respondents clearly indicate parking 
demand is at its highest during popular 
community events, the study does not 
ignore event conditions. 

Conducting formal parking counts during 
events is not included in the scope of 
this study, however it is our opinion that 
formal parking counts are not necessary 
to draw conclusions about how future 

event conditions. Anecdotal evidence 
makes it clear that parking demand can 
be very high on a nice warm day during 
the Frankfort Country Market, Cruisin 
Frankfort, or any other popular Frankfort 
event. As such, Sam Schwartz reviewed 
the Village event calendar and existing 
parking data collected during certain 

Frankfort Downtown Parking Evaluation - Pg. 1142



OAK ST

AS
H 

ST

KANSAS ST

OREGON ST

W NEBRASKA ST

HI
CK

OR
Y S

T

WALNUT ST

N 
WH

ITE
 S

T

ELWOOD ST

LIN
DE

N 
DR

E NEBRASKA ST

CE
NT

ER
 R

D

KAFFEL CT

SM
ITH

 S
T

S W
HI

TE
 ST

CA
RP

EN
TE

R 
ST

0 500250
Feet

µ

Downtown Frankfort Public & Private Parking Lots - April 2023

47

10 14

12
49

2011

16

25 38 45

93

87

27*

59

Site

Legend
Private Lots

Public Lots

Private Parking Lot spaces: 294         Total of all spaces: 792
Public Parking Lot spaces: 303
On-Street Parking spaces: 195
*14  Hickory Street, 10 of these spaces are reserved for La Salle Street Securities
**35 W. Kansas is not paved (estimation)

16

8

16**

4

Street Quantity
Elwood 14
Kansas 52
Nebraska 25
Hickory 12
Oak 35
Ash 28
White 29
Total 195

43

cgruba
Callout
7 N. White

cgruba
Text Box
SUBJECT PROPERTY



AS
H 

ST

KANSAS ST

S W
HI

TE
 ST

W NEBRASKA ST E NEBRASKA ST
N 

WH
ITE

 S
T

0 75 15037.5
Feet

µ
Time-limited Parking Signs

"Ash St. Business parking only
No restaurant parking 
8am-8pm
1 hour max 9am - 6pm"
(5 spaces)

"Ash St. Business parking only
No restaurant parking 
8am-8pm"
(5 spaces)

"20-minute parking
9am - 6pm" (1 space)"20-minute parking

9am - 6pm" (2 spaces)

44



Chris Gruba asked if the Plan Commission thought the proposal was ready to come to a 
Public Hearing. 

Chair Rigoni said she was, unless there were any major changes. She asked what time the 
restaurant would close.  

The applicant said that they would close at 8:00.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if they would sell food.  

The applicant stated that they would sell pre-prepared foods such as pastries, but nothing 
else. 

C. Workshop: 15 Ash Street – Old Frankfort Mall  

Chris Gruba gave the staff report. 

The applicants, Mike and Chris, approached the stand. They were joined by Chris 
Tokarz, their architect. They brought an additional presentation for the PC as well, which 
was not able to be displayed on screen due to technical issues.  

The architect explained that they had originally proposed parking along White Street. The 
Public Works Department and Village staff recommended against adding on-street 
parking within the right-of-way of White Street but were amenable to adding a 12’x50 
loading space within the right-of-way. The architect had done a lot of reorganization of 
tenant spaces on the interior of the building, so that all would have street access. Other 
changes were made to accommodate the transformer, but their options were limited since 
the building was so close to the lot lines. He created an alcove that would allow for an 
on-site interior transformer, the design of which had yet to be finalized. All tenants would 
have access to a street and an interior area for back-of-house needs. The landscape plan 
showed that trees would be provided within the rights-of-way of Ash, White and Kansas 
streets. The current plan did not include two trees which were proposed on Ash Street and 
Kansas Street, but they would be added to comply with code. The building was in a 
unique situation, since there were streets on three sides and no rear property line, which 
resulted in certain variances. The proposed building would fill out the property. The 
applicant stated that the project would not be feasible unless the building were expanded 
to nearly all property lines. One other major change was to the second-floor residential 
hall. They took some space out of the bowling alley, so now the proposed dwelling units 
were larger. The tradeoff they made was in losing event space within the bowling alley, 
but the existing bowling alley lanes would remain. A proposed roof deck and observation 
deck would be located above the bowling alley and above the 3rd floor of the addition, 
respectively. On the third floor, there was a proposed roof deck and observation deck. In 
regard to comments on the building height, Kansas Street slopes up from White Street to 
Oak Street. The proposed 45-foot building height was measured at White Street, but 42 
feet on Ash Street. 28 Kansas Street was currently the highest building along Kansas 

45

cgruba
Highlight



Street, standing at about 38 feet, meaning that due to the change in grade, the actual 
height difference was about five or six feet. The proposed three-story building addition 
would not appear as tall as a result. The submitted renderings were new to this workshop. 
The applicants were looking to have high quality architecture, stone and masonry, similar 
to the other buildings in the downtown area. The renderings showed how balconies and 
front entries interact with the sidewalk. Given the amount of space and foot traffic on and 
around the site over the course of a year, adding landscaping to the development was a 
challenge. There were no plans to remove any public landscaping, just what was on the 
subject property. They had also added detail to the façades to improve the look of the 
building and match the other facades on the block, including more detail and larger 
windows. The size of the proposed roof deck could be variable. All rooftop mechanical 
units would be screened by parapets or other screening devices, and would only would be 
visible from the south.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any comments on the site plan or related variations. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that, based on the property, there was a need for 
variances for setbacks and landscaping. He asked what the was intent for the proposed 
landscape planters. 

The architect explained that they were freestanding planters. They would keep the plants 
healthy and out of the way of traffic. They were proposed in order to meet the intent of 
the Landscape Ordinance.  

Commissioner James thanked staff for their detailed report and for showing how the 
proposed building related to the Comprehensive Plan. Knowing it was identified in the 
plan and was consistent with what was laid out there was good. He had no concerns with 
the site plan.  

Chair Rigoni asked for comments about the proposed height, which was increasing from 
35 feet to 45 feet. For clarity, she asked if the non-retail spaces on the second and third 
floor would be residential uses or office uses.  

The architect stated that there would be residential dwelling units only on the second and 
third floor of the building addition.  

Grant Currier, President of Linden Group Architects, spoke up. He noted that the Plan 
Commission had asked for a cross-section of the proposed development at the last 
workshop which would show that the floors of the addition would line up with the 
existing floors.  

The architect also noted that they were providing parapet walls, while other tall 
downtown buildings do not. He added that the parapets were necessary to screen roof-
mounted mechanical units.  

46



Commissioner Knieriem stated that design made sense, and understood that the 
applicants were looking to make the most of the property.  

Chair Rigoni noted that the Plan Commission often talked about adding density to the 
downtown area, and that the proposed residential units added that desired density.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked of the units would be owned or rented. 

The applicant noted they were uncertain at the moment, but that they were leaning 
towards selling them as owner-occupied units.  

The architect asked if they would need to complete some additional paperwork depending 
on whether the units were rented or owned. 

There was some discussion on how condominium units would be created, sold, and 
regulated.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any comments about parking. 

Commissioner Knieriem noted that there were ten proposed units. If they assumed that 
half of the units would have one car and the other half would have two, fifteen parking 
spots would be required. He asked if the applicant had given any thought to getting 
agreements signed for dedicated resident parking. 

The applicant responded that he had been looking at options and may get some parking 
agreements, or may instead purchase property for space. He noted that it would be easier 
to sell condos if they had parking.  

Chair Rigoni noted that they ought to future-proof resident’s needs against time-restricted 
parking in the downtown, too. 

The applicant noted that about fifteen cars currently parked downtown overnight.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if there were any parking spaces near the building. 

The applicant responded that there were.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if residents would be able to use loading zone. 

Chair Rigoni said they would, since it would be located within the public right-of-way. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicants were looking to build so densely so as to 
maximize their own income. He noted that some of the proposed units were less than 500 
square feet.  

47



The applicant noted that they were beginning to see more smaller units being built in 
more urban settings. There was a growing number of people with no cars who were 
utilizing less space, and that they wanted to meet that perceived demand. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the applicants had any concern about noise being an 
issue for residents, given the proximity to the bowling alley and commercial uses below 
the residences. 

The architect noted that the wall separating the existing building and the proposed 
addition was about a foot thick, with more soundproofing beyond that. They were 
planning to build adjacent to the existing exterior wall, rather than connect to it, which 
would also reduce noise. Looking at the cross section, there was a lounge, then a wall, 
then a hall, then another wall. In all, there is a lot of space which might help to dissipate 
the noise of the bowling alley, and they were doing what they could to address that. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the applicants were displacing any tenants as a result of 
the reorientation of the first floor. 

The applicant said that some tenant leases were coming to term. To the best of his 
knowledge, no current tenant wanted to leave. The ground floor layout wasn’t set in stone 
just yet.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the Plan Commission had any density concerns relating to the 
dwelling units proposed. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if there were any studio-type units in the Village. 

Chair Rigoni said she was unsure, but that she wanted to know to better gauge the 
demand for the types of dwellings proposed.  

The architect stated that he could look into it. Typically, people expected smaller living 
spaces in downtown area and that anyone who wanted more space would locate farther 
from downtown. He knew that there were people who were looking to downsize, which 
had resulted in a boom in townhouse construction.  

Chair Rigoni noted that Frankfort was unique since there was no Metra station near the 
downtown, which may result in less demand for commuter-style units. She was trying to 
understand if there was demand for that small a space despite the lack of nearby transit. 

The architect clarified that the size of one of the proposed studio spaces was determined 
by a transformer needing to be located inside the building. He had tried to maximize 
number and size of each unit. He had experience with multifamily units in other 
communities. Units were typically studio, one, or two-bedroom units. Not many had three 
or more units, but there were some examples in Mokena, Frankfort Square, and Orland 

48



Park. There were many such residential units built as part of transit-oriented 
development, but that the concept overall was relatively new to the suburbs. 

Commissioner James stated that he had no issue with the size of the proposed units, but 
had a concern that there was not adequate storage for each unit. He wanted to avoid 
balconies being used for additional storage space.  

The architect agreed, saying that it was common to have off-site storage lockers in 
multifamily developments.  

Commissioner James noted that many residents might have bicycles, since the building 
was so close to the Old Plan Road Trail. He wanted to make sure they had spaces to store 
those bicycles. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the observation deck was intended for residents only. 

The applicant stated it would be for tenants only. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if there would be patrons from the bowling alley or 
members of the public that had access to the observation deck. 

The applicant said that the deck would be for residential tenants only, though he was not 
100% certain. That was the idea at the moment, since only residential tenants would have 
access based on the current layout of building. However, one restaurant had expressed 
interest in using the observation deck. 

Chair Rigoni said that the applicant would need to be clear on who would be able to use 
the roof decks. 

Commissioner Schaeffer expressed her concern about making the roof deck accessible to 
nonresidents. In regard to the restaurant using the space, having alcohol and food on the 
deck would require a Special Use Permit and would raise liability concerns.  

The architect stated they were not currently seeking any Special Use Permits. He asked if 
a use were to come forward, whether that would require Plan Commission approval or 
not.  

Chair Rigoni stated she was unsure, but that regardless the Plan Commission should 
anticipate that future request. She reiterated that the applicants should be clear on what 
they were requesting from the Plan Commission. Approving a plan with an observation 
deck for residents would be different than approving rooftop dining.  

The architect stated they could have those details clarified prior to the next meeting.  

Chair Rigoni asked if her fellow Commissioners’’ concerns were related to the deck itself 
or rather allowing commercial tenants use the space. 

49



Commissioner Schaeffer stated she was fine with the deck, but was worried with how it 
was used. 

The applicant stated he did not wish to limit his options if possible. 

Chair Rigoni responded that there does need to be a limit on how it would be used, since 
it could be seen from the south of the building. 

The architect clarified they needed to know who would be using the proposed deck, not 
so much how it would be used used. 

Commissioner Markunas noted he had experience with other rooftop amenities in other 
places. He recalled that people tend to be very protective of those spaces.  

The architect noted that the proposed deck wouldn’t be open for use at any time, but 
would be regulated based on the tenants of the building.  

Commissioner Markunas stated that often people considered those amenities as part of 
their home. 

Chair Rigoni said that her only concern was with the timing of the use. If the proposed 
deck was only for residents, there would be certain times the deck was used. Commercial 
tenants would use such a deck more consistently. Plus, they would require alterations to 
the space, such as umbrellas or pergolas. She told the applicants to make sure they 
understand what the space would be used for.  

Commissioner Schaeffer said when she first saw deck, she was concerned with safety 
issues, particularly if the use of the deck was tied to an alcohol-related use such as a 
restaurant. She would want that space’s use regulated to avoid safety issues.  

The architect stated he was of the same mind, that if this proposed deck would be used as 
an event space, it would need to be regulated. He noted that having this kind of space 
available to rent could be popular, especially because it provided a good view. He was 
planning to have some separate way to access the deck in the event it would not just be 
used by residents.  

Mr. Currier claimed that nothing proposed by the applicant didn’t respond to the 
Comprehensive Plan.  

Chair Rigoni responded, saying that the Plan Commission was trying to understand how 
this observation deck would be used.  

Mike Schwarz noted that, per the Zoning Ordinance, all business must be conducted 
indoors. Anything else would require a Special Use Permit, on which conditions could be 
set by the Plan Commission.  

50



Chair Rigoni stated the Plan Commission wanted to be clear how the applicant wanted 
that space to be used, so they could address their concerns.  

The applicant asked if the Plan Commission would be alright with the deck if it was 
intended for residential, and whether commercial use of the space would require a Special 
Use Permit. 

Commissioner Markunas said that was the case.  

Commissioner Knieriem explained that there was a need to regulate the observation deck 
in some way. If that use changed over time, those changes could be addressed at the 
appropriate time.  

There was some discussion on what materials would be used to construct the proposed 
deck. Materials would include glass, metal, and EIFS, among others. 

Commissioner Schaeffer noted that the elevations called out two different kinds of brick 
which appeared to be similar colors. She asked if they were intended to be different 
colors or the same. 

The architect stated they were meant to be different, it was just that renderings were not 
always the best at showing the differences between the two types. He stated that they 
would have samples for the Historic Preservation Commission when they met. They were 
also working on photometrics, and would have them ready prior to a Public Hearing for 
staff comments.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked the architect if he had considered adding some decoration 
to the entryway on the north west corner of the building, since it looked so plain on the 
rendering. 

The architect clarified that there was a lot of detail already present on the facades. There 
were details there which were hard to see on the renderings, but were visible on the 
submitted elevations.  

There was some discussion on how the building transformer would be screened.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked staff to send the architect’s presentation to them, since it 
did not work on the projector.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant what their timeline for the project was. 

The applicant responded it would be about a year, and that he wanted everything done 
right around Fall Fest. He would break ground as soon as it was approved, around March 
or April. 

Commissioner Knieriem noted that the building likely wouldn’t be ready for Fall Fest. 

51



The applicant clarified that they were looking to minimize the impact of their project on 
Fall Fest, to clean up the site for that event so as to minimize disruption.  

Commissioner Knieriem thanked the applicant for their proposal. 

Commissioner James asked the applicant incorporate bike racks into the project, as well 
as comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

The architect stated those changes would be in the renderings the Plan Commission 
would receive as part of the presentation slides. He would work with staff to determine 
where to place the bike racks.  

Chair Rigoni noted that the proposed architecture was of the quality they looked for, and 
said it would be a great addition.  

Chris Gruba noted that at a future public hearing, there would be nine variance requests 
and two Special Use Permit requests.  

Chair Rigoni reminded the applicant to request all special uses and variances as soon as 
they could. The more requests they knew about ahead of time the better. She added that 
having draft covenants and restrictions would be good too. She encouraged the applicants 
to get answers to the questions the Plan Commission had raised, since the Village Board 
would have the same questions.  

There was some discussion on which meeting would be held next. The applicant would 
be in contact with staff to schedule their next meeting with the Historic Preservation 
Commission.  

D. Public Comments 

There were none.  

E. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz informed the Plan Commission that the all variances requested for the 
Plantz Residence were approved by the Village Board at their meeting on November 7th.  

The Committee-of-the-Whole held a meeting on November 9th, where they discussed the 
annexation agreement for the Olde Stone First Addition development. The feedback 
received by the applicants was less than favorable, and staff was in contact with them 
about next steps. The Committee-of-the-Whole also discussed the proposed development 
at 7 N. White Street. The applicant had requested that the Village split the costs 
associated with relocating an existing transformer on the site. They also requested either 
signing a lease agreement with the Village, or that the Village sell more land in order to 
accommodate a trash enclosure.  

52



the business located at 24 Ash Street, in accordance with the scope of work and public 
testimony. 

Motion by: Tutko   Seconded by: Kush 

Approved: (5-0).  

3. Certificate of Appropriateness: 28 Kansas Street (Change to South and West facing 
facades)  

Michael Weber, architect for 28 Kansas Street, explained that the masonry which existed 
on the facades in question was self-supporting true masonry brick. In order to complete 
the addition to the building which was approved by the Historic Preservation 
Commission in February 2023, he would have to take down the existing brick on the 
south and west facing facades. The demolition would be very specific; each brick would 
be removed individually. Not all the bricks could be reused after this demolition process, 
and between 10% and 20% of the original bricks would be unusable afterward. The 
surviving bricks would be sliced into sections in order to create a thin brick, which would 
be reapplied to the façades of the building. The building would appear exactly the same 
as before. It would be an expensive addition, but it would look the same when it was 
finished.  

Chair Steward asked what changes in appearance would be made. 

Mr. Weber said that they would be taking down the existing brick, both inside and 
outside of the addition, and replacing it with a thin brick made of the existing brick. 

Commissioner Szmurlo asked if there would be an air gap between the proposed thin 
brick and the wall of the building.  

Mr. Weber said that there would still be a water barrier in between the thin brick and the 
wall.   

Motion (#4): Approve a Certificate of Appropriateness for the proposed changes to the 
masonry on the south and west facades of the building located at 28 Kansas Street, in 
accordance with the scope of work, submitted plans, and public testimony. 

Motion by: Kush   Seconded by: Szmurlo 

Approved: (5-0). 

4. Certificate of Appropriateness: 15 Ash Street (Enclosed Third Story) 

Chris Gruba gave a brief presentation highlighting the changes to the plans. 

53

cgruba
Highlight



Chris Tokarz, the project architect said that he did not have much else to add. The 
changes were all located on the third floor. The elevations did not change much, there 
were some façade changes to accommodate the newly enclose space. The Kansas and 
White Street facades would not really change.  

Chair Steward asked if the additional residential space would go where the rooftop deck 
was previously proposed. 

Mr. Tokarz said that it would.  

Chair Steward asked if the rooftop mechanical units were new changes. 

Mr. Tokarz said that he planned some space for mechanical units, but that the design had 
not been finalized yet. There would be some screening, but any rooftop mechanical units 
would not really be visible from the street.  

Commissioner Toepper asked if future residents would have access to the roof.  

Mr. Tokarz said there would not be tenant access to the roof. 

There was some discussion about the impact of proposed changes on the sightline from 
Ash Street. 

Chair Steward noted that the proposed changes sounded like they would be beneficial to 
the applicants, in addition to future residents on the third floor. 

Mr. Tokarz said he thought the changes would make the building a better fit for the 
downtown area.  

Chair Steward said she appreciate the applicants’ flexibility on the proposed rooftop 
deck, since she knew there were concerns about it.   

Motion (#5): To approve the proposed changes to 15 Ash Street, in accordance with 
the submitted plans and public testimony. 

Motion by: Toepper   Seconded by: Tutko 

Approved: (4-1, Commissioner Kush voted no).   

Mr. Tokarz stated that they hoped to get started with the project as soon as possible, 
but noted there were a lot of moving parts. 

C. Old Business  

Chair Steward asked about the status of the water tower.  

54



DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM 

for 

OLDE FRANKFORT MALL 
COMMERCIALCONDOM.INIUM 

MAIL TO and PREPARED BY: 
Clavio, Van Ordstrand & Assoc, LLP 
10277 W Lincoln Hwy 
Frankfort, Illinois 60423 RECORDER'S STAMP 

T HIS DECLARAT ION made and entered into this __ day of ____ , 20235 by S HI-NAPS, LLC 
- SERIES I - OLDE FRANK FORT MALL. , an lllinois limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as the 
hDeclarant"): 

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, the Declarant is owner in fee simple of certain real estate hereinafter described in Exhibit A 
attached hereto and incorporated herein, in the Village of Frankfort, Will County, Illinois which real estate is part of 
a mixed use commercial/office/retail and residentia l condominium development; and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant intends to and does hereby submit such real estate together with its portion of 
the building, stn,ctures, improvements, and other permanent fix tures of whatsoever kind now or hereafter thereon, 
and all rights and privileges belonging or in anywise pertaining thereto and any and all easements appurtenant 
thereto, to the provisions of the Illinois Condominium Property Act, as amended from time to time; and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant desires to establish, in accordance with this Declaration, certain rights and 
easements in, over and upon said real estate for the benefit of itself and all future owners of any part of said real 
estate, and any unjt or units thereof or therein contained an:d to provide for the harmonious, beneficial, and proper 
use and conduct of the real estate and all units; aod 

WHEREAS, the Declarant desires and intends that the several Un it Owners, mortgagees, occupants, and 
other persons herea fter acqui1ing any interest in the Property (as defined in A11icle I) shall at all times, and subject to 
the terms oftbe Declaration, enjoy tbe benefits of, and shall at all t imes hold their interest subject to the 1igbts, 
easements. privileges. and restrictions hereioafter set forth and those set forth in the Declaration. all of which are 
declared lo be in furtherance of a plan to promote and protect the cooperative aspect of the Property and are 
established for the purpose of enhancing and perfect ing the value, desirability, and attractiveness of the Property and 
the mixed use development which the Property is a part of; and 

WH EREAS, the name of the condominium shall be "Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium" or 
such other name as may be subsequently adopted pursuant to the Act by the Declarant or Board. 

NOW THERFORE, the Dcclarant DECLARES as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of brevity and clarity, certain words and terms used in this Declaration are defined as fo llows: 

(a) Act: The Condominium Property Act of the State of Illinois, as amended from time to time. 

55

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Text Box
General Comments:-Please add language that landscape planters shall be kept neat and maintained-Please add language that the paved/patio areas surrounding the building on private property be neat and maintained. -Please add language that prohibits accessory structures or temporary buildings-Please add language specifying the allowable fence types, or note prohibited fence types-Will the commercial units be leased or owned?-Staff recommends adding a bike rack inside or outside the building (on private property) as a "tangible benefit". The CCR's should note that bike's shall be parked/locked at the rack and not to any fences or railings. Perhaps the bike rack could be placed inside or outside of the electrical equipment room. 



(b) Association: The Association of all the Unit Owners, acting pursuant to the By-Laws attached 
hereto as Exhibit C, through its duly elected Board. 

(c) Board: The Board of Managers of the Association as constiruted at any time and from time 10 

time. In the event the Association is incorporated the Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the 
incorporated Association. 

(d) Buildine: All stn,ctures located on the real estate which the Condominium is a part of, anached or 
unanached, containing one or more Units. 

(e) By-Laws: The By-Laws of the Associat;on, which are anached hereto as Exhibit C. 

(I) Common Elements : All portions of the Property, except the Units. 

(g) Common Expenses: The proposed or actual expenses affecting the Property, including Reserves, 
if any, lawfully assessed by the Board. Such Common Expenses shall consist of the expenses of the 
administration and operation of the Common Elements and any other expenses incurred in confonnance 
with the Act, the Declaration and the By-Laws, including, without limitation, the maintenance-and repair of 
the Common Elements and any and all replacements and additions thereto. 

(h) Condominium Instruments: All documents and authorized amendments thereto recorded pursuant 
to the provisions of the Act, including the Declaration, By-Laws and l11e Plat. 

(i) Declaration: The instrument by which the Property is submitted to the provisions of the Act, as 
hereinafter provided and such Declarntion as from time to time amended. 

U) Declarant: Shi -Naps, LLC - Series I - Olde Frnn.kfort Mall., an Illinois limited liability company, 
its successors and/or its assigns. 

(k) First Mortgagee: An owner of a bona tide first mortgage, first trust deed or equivalent security 
interest covering any portion of the Property. 

(I) First Unit Owner Board of Managers: T he initial Board that is comprised of a majority of Unit 
Owners other than the Declarant. 

(m) Limited Common ElemenLs: A portion of the Common Elements which is desi&'llated by this 
Declaration or the Plat as being a Limited Common Element appurtenanl to and for the exclusive use of 
Unit Owner of one or more, bnt less than all, of tl,e Dwelling Unils. The Limited Common Elements shall 
include, but not be limited to: 

(i) That part of the Common Elements contiguous 10 and serving a single Unit exclusively as 
an inseparable appurtenance thereto including specifically such portions of the perimeter walls, 
floors and ceilings, windows, doors and a ll fixrures and structures therein which lie outside the 
Unit boundaries, pipes, ducts, nues, shafts, electrical wiring or conduits or other system or 
component parts thereof which serve and Unit exclusively 10 the extent such a system or 
component part is located outside boundaries of a Uni1; 

(ii) Any area which may be so designated by this Declaration or the Plat. 

(n) Maintenance Fund: All monies collected or received by the Associa1ion pursuant to the provisions 
of !he Condominium Ins1n1ments. 

(o) Majority: The owners of more than fifty percent (50%) in the aggregate in interest of the 
undivided ownership of the Common Elements. Any specified percentage of the Unit Owners means such 
percentage in the aggregate in interest of such undivided ownership. 

2 
56



(p) Occupant: A Person or Persons, including a Unit Owner, in pos.~cssion of one or more Units. 

(q) Parcel: The lot or lots, tract or tracts of land, described in Exhibic A actached hereto, togecher with 
improvements and rights appurtenanc thereto, submitted 10 the provisions of the Act. 

(r) Person: A natural individual, corporation, parcnership, trustee or other legal entity capable of 
holding title 10 real property. 

(s) Plat: A plat or plats of survey of the Parcel and of all Units in the Property submitted to the 
provisions of the Act, which shall consist of a three-dimensional horizontal and vertical delineation of all 
such Units and such other data as, may be required by the Act. 

(t) Properry: All the land, property and space comprising the Parcel, all improvements and stn,ctures 
erected, constructed or contained therein or thereon, including the Building and all easements, rights, and 
appurtenances belonging thereto, and all fixtures and equipment intended for the natural use, benefit and 
enjoyment of the Unit Owners, submitted to the p-rovisions of the Act. 

(u) Record: To record in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds of Will County, Illinois. 

(v) Reserves: Those sums paid by Unit Owoers which are separately maintained by the Board of 
Managers for purposes specified by tl1e Board of Managers or the Condominium lusn11111ents. 

(w) Unit: Any part of the Prope11)• designed and intended for any type of independent use and wh ich 
is designated on the Plat as a Unit. 

(x) Unit Owner: The person or petsons whose estates or interests, individually or collectively, 
possess tee simple absolute ownership of a Unit and its appurtenant undivided ownership interest in the 
Common Elements. 

(y) ~: The Village ofFrankfort, Illino is. 

ARTI CLE II 

UNITS 

I. Description. A II Units arc delineated on the Plat attached hereto as Exhibit D and made a part of 
this Declaration. The Units are legally described as being a part of the following described property: 

THE SOUTH 36-1/2 FEET OF LOT 3, AND ALL OF LOT 4 fN BLCOK I IN BOWEN'S 
SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS I, 12 AND 13, IN THE ORIGINAL TOWN OF FRANKFORT, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 29, 1857, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 
276 10, fN 'NILL COUNTY, ILLINOS. 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT - INGRESS/EGRESS: 

THE COMMON AREAS AS THEY MAY EXIST FROM TIME TO TTME ON THE PLAT OF 
CONDOMINIUM 

UNDERLYING PIN: I 9-09-28-208-003-0000 

h is understood that each Unit consists of the space enclosed or bounded by the horizontal and vertical 
planes set forth and identified as a Unit in the delineation (hereof in Exhibit D. The legal description of each Unit 
shall consist of the identifying number or symbol of such Unit followed by the legal description of the Property, as 
shown on Exhibit D. Except as provided by the Act, no Unit Owner, shall, by deed, Plat or othe,wise, subdivide or 

3 
57

cgruba
Polygon

cgruba
Callout
I believe this legal description will change once the Plat is finalized



in any other manner cause the Unit to be separated into any tracts or Parcels different fi-om the whole Unit as shown 
on Exhibit D. 

2. Certain Structures Noc Cons1ituting Part ofa Unit. No structural components of the Building, and 
no pipes, wires, conduits, public utility lines (to the outle1s), ducts, flues, and shafts situated within a Unit or running 
through a Unit and forming part of any system serving one or more other Uni1s, or extending into the Common 
Elements or any part thereof, shall be deemed part of a Unit, hue shall be considered Common Elements. 

ARTICLE III 

COMMON !ELEMENTS 

I. Ownership of Common Elements. Each Unit Owner shall own an undivided interest in the 
Common Elements as a tenant in common with all the other Unit Owners of the Property, and, except as otherwise 
limited in the Declaration, shall have the right to use the Common Elements for all purposes incident to the use and 
occupancy of their U11it as a place of business, and such other incidental uses permitted by this Declaration, which 
right shall be appurtenant to and nm with their Unit. Such right shall extend to each Unit Owners, and the agents, 
employees, tenants, contractors, visitors, licensees, and invitees of each Unit Owner. Each Unit Owner's interest 
shall be expressed by a percentage amount and shall remain constant and unless otherwise provided in the Act or 
herein, may not be changed without unanimous approval of all Unit Owners, unless changed by Recorded 
amendment to this Declaration consented to in writing by all Unit Owners. The Declaration has so detem1ined each 
Unit's corresponding percentage of ownership in the Common Elements as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto, 
and each Unit Owner accepts such determination. 

2. Limited Common Elements. The Limited Common Elements are as described and defined in 
Article I of this Declaration. All expenses relating to the Limited Common Element,, shall be borne exclusively by 
the Unit(s) wh ich they serve. 

3. Transfer of Limited Common Elements. llae use of Limited Common Elements may be 
transiened between Un it Owners at their expense, provided that the transfer may be made only in accordance with 
the Condominium Instruments and the provisions of the Act. Each transfer shall be made by an amended to the 
Declaration executed by all Unit Owners who are parties to the transfer and consented to by all other Units who 
have any right to use the Limited Common Elements affected. The amendment shall contain a certificate showing 
that a copy of the amendment has been delivered to the Board. The amendment shall contain a statement fi-om the 
parties involved in the transfer which sets forth any change in the Unit Owners' proportionate share. If the Unit 
Owners cannot agree upon a reapportionment of their prop,ortionate share, the Board shall decide such 
reapportionment. No transfer shall become effective until the amendment has been recorded. 

Rights and obligations with respect to any Limited Common Element shall not be affected, nor shall any 
transfer of it be effective, unless a transaction is in compliance with the requirements of this Section and of the Act. 

ARTI CLE IV 

GENERAL PROVISIONS AS TO UNITS AND COMMON ELEMENTS 

I. Submission of Property to Provisions of Act. The Property is hereby submitted 10 the provisions 
of 1he Act. 

2. No Severance of Ownership. No Unit Owners shall execute any deed, mortgage, lease or other 
instrument affecting title to the Unit Ownership without including therein both their interest in the Unit and their 
corresponding percentage of ownership in the Common Elements, it being the intention hereof to prevent any 
severance of such combined ownership. Any such deed, mortgage, lease or other instrument purporting to affect the 
one without including also the other shall be deemed and taken to include the interest so omitted even though the 
latter is not expressly mentioned or described therein. 

3. Easements. 

4 
58



(a) Encroachments. If any portion of the Common Elements encroaches up<)n any Unit, or if 
any Unit encroaches upon any pore ion of the Common Elements or any other Unit as a result of 
the constmction, repair, reconstmction, senlement or shifting of the Building, a valid mun,al 
easement shall exist in favor of the owners of the Common Element and the respective Unit 
Owners involved to the extent of the encroachment. A valid easement shall not exist in favor of 
any Unit Owner who created an encroachment by their intentional, willful or negligent conduct or 
that of their agent. 

(b) Utility Easements. SBC/Ameri·tech, Commonwealth Edison Company, NICOR, the 
cable television company servicing the area and all other public utilities serving the Property are 
hereby granted the right to lay, constnict, renew, operate, and maintain conduits, cables, pipes, 
wires, transformers, switching apparan,s, and other equipment related to their service to the 
Property, into and through the Common Elements and the Units, where reasonably necessary for 
the purpose of providing utility and cable television services to the Property. 

(c) Cross-Access Easement. The cross-access easement, described on the subdivision plat of 
the Olde Frankforc Mall Condominium, which was recorded in the Office of tbe Recorder of 
Deeds, Will County, Illinois as Document No. _______ . As depicted on the aforesaid 
subdivision plat and as established by the Declaration, said easement is for the ingress/egress, 
which is a Common Element of the Olde Frankfo11 Mall Condominium. The easement, or 
portions thereof, will be used by and for the benefit of the Unit Owners oftbe Olde Frankforc Mall 
Commercial Condominium, the Unit Owners of the Olde Frankfo11 Mall Residential 
Condominium, and the Owners of the adljacent Property, and, as such, the Common Expenses 
directly related to the easement shall be shared by the Unit Owners, the Un it Owners of the Olde 
Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium. the Un it Owners of the Olde Frankfort Mall 
Residential Condominium, and the Owners of the adjacent Property as more fully described and 
established in the Declaration. 

4. Easements and Rights to Run with Land. All easements and rights described herein and in the 
Declaration are easements and rights runn ing with the land, perpetually in full force and effect, and at all times sball 
inure to the benefit of and be binding on the Declar.tnt, its successors and assigns, and any Unit Owner, purchaser, 
mortgagee, and Other Person having an interest in the Property, or any part or portion thereof. Re ference in the 
respective deeds of conveyance, or in any mongage or trus t deed or other evidence of obligation, to the easements 
and rights described in this Article, or described in any other part of this Declaration, shall be sufficient to create and 
reserve such easements and rights to the respecti ve grantees, mortgagees, and trustee of such Unit as fully and 
completely as though such easement$ and rights were recited fully and set forth in their entirety in such documents. 

ARTIC LEV 

COMMON EX PENSES, MORTGAGES, AND REAL ESTA TE TAXES 

1. Common Expenses. Each Unit Owner, including Declarant, shall pay their proportionate share of 
the Common Expenses of administration, maintenance, and repair of the Common Elements and of any other 
expenses incurred in confonnance with the Declaration, By-Laws, or otherwise lawfully agreed upon. Such 
proportionate share of the Common Expenses for each Unit Owner shall be in the same ratio as their percentage of 
ownership in the Common Elements. Payment thereof shaill be in such amounts and at such times as detennined in 
the manner provided in the By-Laws. If any Unit Owner shall fa il or refuse 10 make any such payment of the 
Common Expenses when due, the amount thereof together with any interest, late charges, reasonable attorneys' fees 
incun·ed prior to or after the initiation of any court action, costs of collection and the amount of any unpaid fine shall 
constitute a lien on the interest of such Unit Owner in the Property as provided in the Act. 

2. Separate Mortgages. Each Unit Owner shall have the right, subject to the provisions herein, to 
make a separate mortgage or encumbrance on their respective Unit together with their respective ownership interest 
in the Common Elements. No Unit Owner shall have the right or authority to make or create or cause to be made or 

5 
59

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Any cross-access easements would be illustrated on the Plat of Resubdivision (none are shown). It's also unclear where there is room to place an access easement outside, on private property or why one would be necessary. Maybe a very narrow access easement outside next to the loading room?



created any mortgage or encumbrance or other lien on or affecting the Property or any part thcrcM, except only to 
the extent of their Unit and their respective ownership intcrc· ... ~t in the Common Elements. 

3. Separate Real Estate Taxes. ll is undersnood that real estate taxes, special assessments, and any 
other special 1axes or charges of the Scace of Illinois or any other lawful taxing or assessing body which are 
authorized by law 10 be assessed against and levied upon real property are to be separately taxed 10 each Uni1 Owner 
for their Unit and their corresponding percentage of ownership interest in the Common Elements, as provided in the 
Act. In the event that for any year such taxes are not separately taxed 10 each Unit Owner, but are taxed on the 
Properry as a whole, then each Unit Owner shall pay their proportionate share thereof in accordance with their 
respective percentage of ownership interest in the Common Elements. 

ARTICLE VI 

INSURANCE 

I. Fire and Hazard Insurance. Subject to Article IX of the Declaration, the Board shall acquire as a 
common expense, a policy or policies of insurance insuring the Common Elements and the Units against loss or 
damage from fire, lightning and other hazards contained in the customary fire-and extended coverage, vandalism, 
and malicious mischief endorsements for the full insurable replacement cost of the Common Elements and the Units 
written in the name of the Association and which policy or policies shall include a provision that the proceeds 
thereof shall be payable to the members of tl1e Board, as trustees for each of the Unit Owners, in the percentages 
established in Exhibit 8 . 

The ful 1 insurable replacement costs of the Units shall include the replacement cost value of additions, 
bettennents, alterations, and improvements made in and to any Unit, pro,•ided, however, the Board shall not be 
responsible for obtaining insurance on sucb additions, betterments, alterations, or improvements unless and until 
such owner shall make such report and request to the Board in writing to obtain such insurance. and shall make 
arrangements satisfactory to the Board to reimburse the Board for such additional premiums, which additional 
premiums are deemed a com moo expense ( chargeable sole ly to such Unit Owner) and upon the failure of such 
owners so to do, the Board shall not be obligated to apply any insurance proceeds to restore the affected Un it to a 
condition better than the condition existing prior to the making of such additions, bettennents, alterations, or 
improvement$. 

All policies of insur.,nce ( I) shall contain standard mortgage clause endorsements in favor of the mortgagee 
or mortgagees of each Unit, if any, as their respective interest may appear, (2) shal1 provide that the insurance, as to 
the interest of the Board, shall not be invalidated by any act or neglect of any Unit Owner, (3) shall provide that 
notwithstanding any provision thereof which gives the insurer an election to restore damage in lieu of making a c.ash 
settlement therefore, such option shall not be exercisable im the event the Unit Owners elect to sell the Property or 
remove the Property from the provisions of the Act, (4) shall contain an endorsement to the effect that such policy 
shall not be terminated for nonpayment of premiums without at least thirty (30) days' prior 10 written notice to the 
mortgagee of each Unit, (5) shall contain a clause or endorsement whereby the insurer waives any right 10 be 
subrogated to any claim against Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium Association, its officers, members 
of its Board, Unit Owners, occupancs, employees and agen ts, the Association, its officers, members of the Board, the 
Declaranc, the managing agent, if any, their respective employees and agents, and the Unit Owners and occupancs, 
and (6) shall con1ain a "Replacement Cost Endorsement." The proceeds of such insurance shall be applied by the 
Board or by the Depositary on behalf of the Board for the reconstruction of the Building or shall be otherwise 
disposed of, in accordance with the provisions of the Decla ration and the Act; and the rights of the mortgagee of any 
Unit under any standard mortgage clause endorsement to such policies shall, notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary therein contained, at all times be subject to the provisions of the Act with respect to the application of 
insurance proceeds for reconstruction of the Building. Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, the Board may 
engage the services of, and such insurance may be payable to a Depositary to receive and disburse the insurance 
proceeds resulting from any loss upon such tenns as the Board shall detennine consistent with the provisions of the 
Declaration. The fees of the Depositary shall be Common Expenses. 

In the event of any loss in excess of ten tl1ousand dollars (SI 0,000.00) the Board shall solicit bids from 
good and reputable contractors before commencing any repair, reconstruction, or replacement. 

6 
60



Payment by an insurance company to the Board or to the Dc.positary, and the receipt of release from the 
Board or the Depositary of the company's liability under such policy, shall constitute a full discharge of such 
insurance company, and such company shall be under no o bligation to inquire into the tenns of any agreement under 
which proceeds may be held pursuant hereto, or to take no1ice of any standard mortgage clause endorsement 
inconsistent with the provisions hereof, or see to the application of any payments of the proceeds of any policy by 
the Board or the Depositary. 

Each Unit Owner shall inform the Board in writing of additions, alteraiions, or improvements made by said 
Unit Owner to their Unit and the value thereof which value may be included in the full replacement insurance cost 
for insurance purposes. Any increase premium charge therefore shall be assessed to that Unit Owner under the 
provisions of Section 9 of the Act. If a Unit Owner fails to perfo,m the Board as provided above and a penalty is 
assessed in the adjustment ofa loss settlement, the Unit Owner shall be responsible for such penalty. 

2. Appraisal. In acrordance with the provisions of Anicle IX of the Declaration the full insurable 
replacement cost of the Property, including the Units and Common Elements, shall be determined from time to time 
by the Board. The Board shall have the authority to obtain an appraisal by a good and reputable appraisal company 
as selected by the Board. 

3. Public Liabilitv and Property Damage h,surance. Subject to the provisions of Article IX of the 
Declaration the Board shall acquire, as a Common Expense, and shall have the authority and duty to obtain, 
comprehensive public liabil ity insurance against claims and liabilities arising in connection with the ownership, 
existence, use or management of the Property in amounts deemed sufficient in the judgment of the Board, but not for 
less than required by the Declaration, insuring the Board, the Association, the management agent, if any, and their 
respective employees, agents, and all Persons acting as agents. Declarant, its officers, directors and employees, shall 
be included as additional insureds in their capacity as Unit Owners and Board Members, as the case may be. The 
Unit Owners shall be included as additional insureds, but only with respect to that portion of the premises not 
reserved for their exclusive use. The insurance shalJ cover claims of one or more insured parties against other 
insured partiers. The insurance shaU contain a waiver of any rights to subrogation by the insuring company against 
any of the above-named insured Persons. 

4. \Vprkmen's Compensation and Qther Insurance. Subject to Article IX of the Declaration, the 
Board shall acquire, as a Common Expense~ workmen~s compensation insurance as may be necessary to comply 
with applicable laws and such other fom,s of insurance as ihe Board, in its judf,went, shall elect to obtain, including, 
but not limited to insurance lor the Association, its officers and management agent against liability from good faith 
actions allegedly beyond the scope of their authority. 

5. Costs are Common Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Declaration, premiums for all 
insurance obtained are maintained by the Association, and the cost of any appraisal required by the Declaration or 
which the Association deems advisable in connection with any insurance, shall be Common Expenses. 

6. Waiver. Each Unit Owner hereby waives and releases any and all claims which they may have 
against any other Unit Owner, the Association, its officers, members of the Board, the Declarant, the managing 
agent of the Building, if any, and their respective employees and agents, Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial 
Condominium Association, ics officers, members of its board, its Declaram and any unit owner in its association, for 
damage to the Common Elements, the Units, or to any personal property located in the Units or Common Elements, 
caused by fire or other casualry, to the extent that such damage is covered by fire or other fonn of casualty 
insurance. 

7. Unit Owner's Insurance. Each Unit Owner shall be responsible for their own insurance on the 
contents of their own Unit, and fumishings and personal property therein, and their personal liabil ity to the extent 
not covered by the policies ofliability insurance obtained by the Board for the benefit of all of the Unit Owners as 
above provided. All policies of casualty insurance carried by each Unit Owner shall be without contribution as 
respects the policies of casualty insurance obtained by the Board for the benefit of all of the Unit Owners as above 
provided. 

7 
61



8. Notice. The Board shall notify insured PcrsMs concerning the cancellation of insurance obtained 
pursuant to the tcnns of this Article. 

ARTICLE Vil 

ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATION 

1. Administration. The administration of the Property shall be vested in the Board consisting of the 
number of Persons, and who shall be elected in the manner, provided in the By-Laws. The Declarant has caused to 
be established under the name of;'OLDE FRANKFORT MALL COMMERJCAL CONDOMINIUM 
ASSOCIATION," which shall be the governing body for a ll the Unit Owners for the maintenance, repair, 
replacement, administration, and operation of the Common Elements and for such other purposes as are hereinafter 
provided. The Board of Directors of the Association shall be deemed to be the Board referred to herein, in the By
laws, and in the Act. 

2. Duties and Powers of the Association. TI1e Association is responsible for the overall 
administration of the property through its duly elected Board. The duties and powers of the Association and its 
Board shall be those set forth in its Anicles of Incorporation. the By-Laws attached hereto as Exhibit C and 
incorporated herein, this Declaration , however, that (i) the terms and provisions of the Act shall control in the even 
of an inconsistency between the Act, this Declaration, the Alticles of Incorporation, or the By-Laws, (ii) the tenns 
and provisions of this Declaration shall control in the event of any inconsistency between this Declaration, the 
Articles of Incorporation or the By-Laws. 

3. Creation of Lien and Personal Obligation. The Declarant, for each Unit, hereby covenants and 
each Unit Owner by acceptance of a deed therefore, whether or not it shall be so expressed in any such deed or other 
conveyance, shall be and is deemed to covenant and hereby agrees to pay to the Association such assessments or 
other charges or payments as are levied pursuant to the provisions of th is Declaration. Such assessments, or other 
charges or payments, together with interest thereon and costs of collection, if any. as herein provided, shall be a 
charge on the Unit and shall be a continuing lien upon the Unit again.st which e.ach such assessment is made. Eacb 
such assessment, or other charge or payment, together with such interest and costs, shall also be the personal 
obligation of the Un it Owner of such Unit at the time when the assessment or other charge or payment is due. 

4. Indemnity. The members of ~,e Board a nd the officers of the Association shall not be liable to the 
Unit owners for any mistake of judgment, or any actS or omissions made in good faith as such members or officers 
on behalf of the Unit Owners or the Association unless any such mistake shall have been made in bad faith or 
contrary lo the provisions of this Declaration. The liability of any Unit Owner arising out of any contract made by 
such members or officers or out of the aforesaid indemnity shall be limited 10 such proportion of the total liability 
thereunder as their percentage interest in the Common Elements bears to the total percentage interest of all the Unit 
Owners in the Common Elements. Each agreement made by such members or officers or by the managing agent on 
behalf of the Unit Owners or the Association shall be executed by such members or officers or the managing agent, 
as the case may be, as agents for the Unit Owners or for the Association. 

5. Board 's Determination Bindin2. In the event of any dispute or disagreement between any Unit 
Owners relating to the Property, or any question of interpretation or application of the provisions of the Declaration 
or By-Laws, the determination thereof by the Board shall be final and binding on each and all of such Unit Owners. 

6. Administration of Propertv Prior 10 Election of First Unit Board of Managers. Until the election 
of the First Unit Owner Board of Managers, the same righis, titles, powers, privileges, trusts, duties and obligations 
vested in or imposed upon the Board by the Act and in the Declaration and By-Laws shall be held and perfonned by 
the Declarant. The election of the First Unit Owner Board of Managers shall take place as provided in the By-Laws. 
If, without fault of the Declarant, the Unit Owners shall not have elected a Board before the powers of the Declarant 
shall have expired hereunder, the Declarant may, but shall not be obl igated to, continue to serve and have the powers 
herein set forth until such Board is elected, but in all events shall resign if and when required to resign under 
applicable law. 

8 
62



Dcclarant shall have the right 10 specifically assign the rights, privileges, powers, options and benelits 
reserved to Declarant under this Declaration, and upon such specific assignment, the as.signce shall be entitled to 
said rights, privileges, powers, options and benefi ts as fully and to the same extent and with the same effect as if 
such assignee were herein by name specifically granted such rights, privileges, powers, options and benefits. All 
powers, privileges, easements, rights, reservations, restrictions and limitations herein provided or otherwise created 
for the benefit of Declarant shall inure to the benefit of Oeclarant's designees, successors and assigns, including, 
without limitation, any holder of a mortgage from Oeclarant which holder acquires Oeclarant 's interest in all or part 
of the Property by foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof. 

Within sixty (60) days following the election of a majority of the First Unit Owner Board of Managers, the 
Declarant shall deliver to the Board: 

(a) All original documents pertaining to the Property and its administration such as the Declaration, 
By-Laws, Articles of Incorporation, Condominium Instruments, minutes, rules and regulations; 

(b) A detailed accounting by the Declarant, setting forth the source and nature of receipts and 
expenditures in c-0nnec-tion with the management_,. maintenance and operation of the Property. 

(c) Association funds which shall have beem at all times segregated from any other monies of the 
Declarant; 

(d) A schedule of all personal property, equipment and fixtures belonging to the Association, 
including documents transferring the Prope11y; and 

(e) Any contract, lease, or other agreement made prior to the election of the First Unit Owners Board 
of Managers by or on behalf of the Unit Owners. 

ARTICLE VIII 

MAINTENANCE, AL TERA TIONS, DECO RA TING, AND SIGNAGE 

I. Maintenance Repairs, and Replacements. Each Un it Owner shall furnish and be responsible for, 
at their own expense, all of the maintenance, repairs, and replacements within their own Unit, and $hall keep such 
Unit in good order and repair. Maintenance, repairs, and replacements of the Common Elements shall be furnished 
by the Board as part of the Common Expenses, subject to the rules and regulations of the Board. 

The Board may cause to be discharged any mechanics• lien or Other encumbrance wh ich, in the opinion of 
the Board, may constitute a lien against the Property or Common Elements, rather than against a particular Unit and 
its corresponding percentage of ownership in the Common Elements. When less than all the Unit Owners are 
responsible for the existence of any such lien, the Unit Owners responsible shall be jointly and severally liable for 
the amount necessary 10 discharge the same and for all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by 
reason of such lien. 

Whenever the Board shall determine, in its discretion, that any maintenance or repair of any Unit is 
necessary to protect the Common Elements or any other portion of the Building, the Board may cause a written 
notice of the necessity for such maintenance or repair to be served upon such Unit Owner, which notice may be 
served by delivering a copy thereof to any Occupant of such Unit or by mailing the same by certified or registered 
mail addressed to the owner at the Unit. If such Unit Owner fails or refuses to perform any such maintenance or 
repair within a reasonable time stated in the notice (or any extension thereof approved by the Board) the Board may 
cause such maintenance and repair to be performed at the expense of such Unit Owner. 

If, due to the act or neglect ofa Unit Owner or of their agent, servant, tenant, family member, invitee, 
licensee, guest, business invitee or other authorized occupant or visitor of such Unit Owner, damage shall be caused 
10 the Common Elements or to a Unit or Units owned by others (includ ing Units owned by others in Olde Frankfort 
Mall Commercial Condominium), or maintenance, repairs or replacements shall be required which would otherwise 

9 
63

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Thought that these commercial units would be rented, not owned. Please advise. 



be at the common expense, then such Unit Owner shall pay for such damage and such maintenance, repairs, and 
replaccmenL~ a~ may be determined by the Board, to the CJ<tent not covered by insurance. 

Subject ro the provisions of rhe Declaration, the Board shall have exclusive authority to rake, or refrain 
from taking, any action pursuant to this Article VHI , paragraph I. All expenses which are chargeable 10 any Unit 
Owner pursuant to this Section I, may be specifically assessed ro such Unit Owner and shall be payable by such 
Unit Owner as prescribed by the Board. 

2. Limited Common Elements. Any charge or expense in connection with expenditures for the 
Limited Common Elements shall be assessed only against lhat Unit or Units to which such Limited Common 
Elements are assigned. 

3. Alterations. Additions or Improvements. No alterations of any Common Elements or any 
additions or improvements thereto shall be made by any Unit Owner without the prior written approval of the Board. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Unit Owner may make alterations. additions, and improvements within their 
U11it and the Limited Common Elements appurtenant thereto, withom the prior written approval of the Board, bm, in 
any event, such Unit Owner shall be responsible for any damage to otl1er Units (including Units within Olde 
Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium), the Common Elements, or the Property as a result of such alterations, 
additions or improvements. Nothing shall be done in any Unit, or i11, on or to the Common Elements, which will 
impair the structural integrity of the Building(s) which Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium is a part of. 

4. Decorating, Each Unit Owners shall furnish and be responsible for, at their own expense, all of 
the decorating within their own Unit from time to time, including painting, wall papering, washing, cleaning, 
paneling, floor covering, draperies, window shades, curtains, lamps, and other furnishings and interior decorating. 
Decorating of the Common Elements (other than interior surfaces witl1 the Units as above provided) and any 
redecorJting of Units to the extent, made necessary by any damage to existing decorating of such Units caused by 
maintenance, repair or replacement work on the Common IE.lements by the Board, shall be furn ished by the Board as 
part of the Common Expenses. 

5. Signag,;. No signage shall be installed on the exterior of the Building, the Un its, the doors to the 
Units or entrances leading Lo the Units, including. but not limited to. any exterior lighting. decorations. banners. and 
temporary or portable signs without the prior written approval of the Board. All approved exterior signage shall 
confom, to and be in compliance with any Village sign ordinance and all other applicable statutes, laws, rules and 
ret,'1.llations. Internally lit signage is prohibited. The criteria for any exterior signage are set forth in Exhibit E 
attached hereto. All exterior signage must be reviewed and approved by the Village prior to installation. 

All interior signage visible to the exteiior shall be tastefully and professionally done and aesthetically 
pleasing, and must be approved by the Board. The use of llandscribed signs of any kind is expressly prohibited. All 
signage permitted shall be subjec1 to such rules and regulations a~ the Board may, from time to lime, prescribe. All 
such rules and regulations shall apply equally to and shall not discriminate between or among individua l Unit 
Owners or Occupants. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, rhe provision of this paragraph 5 of Article VIJI shall nor apply 
to any signage erected, installed or maintained by the Declaranr for sales advertising purposes. 

ARTICLE IX 

SALE, LEASING, OR OTHER ALIENATION; RESTRICTIONS 
REGARDING USE AND OCCUPANCY 

1. Covenants and Restrictions as to Sale or Lease of a Unit. 

There are no restrictions with respect to the sale or lease of a Unit, provided, however, that no Unit may be 
sold or leased to a person or entity which will operate a business from or use the Uni1 in violation of this 
Declaration, the Act or any Statute of the State of Illinois o r Ordinance (zoning or otherwise) of the Village of 
Frankfort. If a sale, lease, devise or gift of any Unit is made by any Unit Owner, the purchaser, lessee, devisee, or 

10 
64



doncc thereunder shall be bound by and be subject to all of the obligations of such prior Unit Owner with rc-spcct t<) 
such Unit as provided in the Declaration and By-Laws. Any Unit Owner making any such lease shall not be 
relieved thereby from any obligations under this Declaracion and By-Laws. All leases shall be in writing with a 
copy delivered to the Board. All leases shall specifically s-cate that any lessee is subjecc to the provisions ofche 
Declaracion, the By-Laws, and any and all Rules and Regu.lations of the Association, and that any failure of the 
Jessee to comply cherewith shall be a default under the lease. The Board may adopt such rules and regulacions 
applicable to the leasing of Units as it deems advisable and necessary. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, 
the provisions of this paragraph I of Article IX and any rules or regulations adopted hereto by the Board shall not ac 
any time apply to any Units owned by the Declarant. 

2. Covenants and Restrictions as to Use or Occupancy of Units and Common Elements. 

(a) No Unit may be used for purposes other than commercial/office/retail space or for any purpose 
which is in violation of this Declaration, the Act or any Statute of the State of Illinois or Ordinance (zoning 
or otherwise) of the Village. Each Unit Owner will comply with all zoning ordinances, building codes, 
health and environmental laws and regulations and all other applicable laws, ordinances, rules and 
regulations. 

(b) No "For Sale" or "For Rent" signs, advertising or other displays shall be maintained or permitted 
on any part of the Property. The right is reserved by the Declarant or its agent or agents, to place "For 
Sale" or "For Rent" signs on any unsold or unoccupied Un its, and on any part of the Common Elements. 
Until all the Units are sold and c-0nveyed, the Declarant shall be entitled to access. ingress and egress, to the 
Property as they shall deem necessary in c-0nnection with the sale of, or work in, the Building or any Unit. 
The Declarant shall have the right to use any unS-Old Unit or Units as a model for sales or display purposes, 
and to relocate the same from time to time, and to do such other th ings as may be necessary or advisable in 
Declarant's sole opinion to facilitate the sale or lease of unsold Units. 

(c) No animals, livestock, or fowl of any kind shall be raised, bred or kept in any Unit or in the 
Common Elements. 

(d) Nothing shall be done or kept in any Unit or in the Common Elements which will increase the rate 
of insurance on the Building without the prior consent of the Board. No Unit Owner shall permit anything 
to be done or kept in their Unit or in the Common Elements which wi II result in the cancellation of 
insurdnce on the Property, or which would be in violation of any law. No waste shall be committed in or 
on the Common Elements. 

(e) Nothing shall be done in any Unit or in, -011 or to the Common Elements, or in, on or 10 the Limited 
Common Elements, which will impair the structural integrity of the Building or which would structurally 
change the Building, except as is otherwise provided herein. No Unit Owner shall overload the electric 
wiring in the Building, or operate any machine..:;, appliances, accessories or equipment in such manner as to 
cause, in the judgment of the Board, an unreasonable disturbance to others. 

(t) Nothing shall be altered or constructed in or removed from the Common Elements (including 
Limited Common Elements) except upon the written consent of the Board. 

(g) No Unit Owner shall cause or pennit anything to be hung or displayed on the outside of windows 
or placed on the outside of che walls or roof of the Building, and no sign, awning, canopy, shutter, radio or 
television antenna, satellite dish greater than 18" in diameter shall be affixed to or placed upon the exterior 
walls or roof or any part thereof of the Building, without the prior consent of the Board. Any permitted 
radio or television antenna or satellite dish must be installed so that it is screened from view as the Board 
shall approve. Window coverings exposed to the outside from any Unit shall be a unifonn white or off
white or beige color, subject to exceptions permit4ed by the Board on an individual basis. 

(h) No unlawful, noxious, or offensive activ.ities shall be carried on in any Unit in or on the Common 
Elements or elsewhere on the Property, nor shall anything be done therein or thereon that, in the judgment 
of the Board, constitutes a nuisance or causes unreasonable noise or disturbance to others. Without limited 

11 
65



the generality of the preceding sentence, the common areas of the Property and the Limited Common 
Elements, such as but not limited t<) patios, shall be used in an orderly manner, and common walkways and 
landscaped areas of the Property shall not be used for ball-playing, roller skating or roller blading, bike 
riding, skate boarding, or similar activities. 

(i) The ou1door display of merchandise and/or other commercial good or materials is prohibited. 

(i) Trash, garbage, and other waste shall be kept only in sanitary containers, and shall be disposed of 
in a clean sanitary manner in trash receptacles designated by the Association, and as prescribed from time 
to time in mies and regulations of the Board. 

(k) That part of the Common Elements separating and located between and exclusively serving two or 
more adjacent Units used together (including, but not limited to, portions of any walkway) may be removed 
or 01herwise altered ingress and egress to and from such Units and co afford privacy to the Occupants of 
such Units when they use such Common Elements, and that part of the Common Elements so removed or 
otherwise altered may be used by the Unit Owner or Owners of such Units as a licensee pursuant to a 
license agreement with the Association, provide that: (i) such alterations shall not weaken, impair or 
endanger any of the Common Elements or any Unit; (ii) the Unit Owner or Owners desiring to make such 
alterations shall notify the Board of the nature thereof within ten ( I 0) days prior to commencing work, (iii) 
the expense of making such alterations shall be paid in full by the Unit Owner or Owners making such 
alterations, (iv) such Unit Owner or Owners shall pay in full the expense of restoring such Common 
Elements to their condition prior to such alternrions in the event such Units caused to be used together, and 
(v) such alterations shall not interfere with use and enjoyment of the Common Elements, otl1er than the 
aforesaid part of tl1e Common Elements separaring such adjacent Units, including, but not limited to, 
reasonable access and ingress to and egress from the other Units in the walkway affected by any such 
a1ter.stions. 

(I) The use, maintenance and operation of the Common Elements shall not be obstructed, damaged or 
unreasonably interfered with any Unit Owner or Occupant, and shall be subject to any easement presently 
in existence or placed into existence by the Board at some future time affecting any part or all of the 
Common Elements. Nothing shall be stored in or on the Common Elements except as otl1erwise herein 
provided. 

(m) Vehicles (which tenn when used herein shall include motorcycles) shall be parked only in those 
areas separately striped and otherwise marked as parking spaces or parking areas. The parking spaces or 
parking areas shall be used only by the Unit Owners or Occupants, and their guests, invitees, and 
employees. 

(n) Except as hereinafter provided, no trucks, truck-mounted campers, motor homes, trailers, house 
trailers, buses, boats, boat trailers, travel trailers, campers,junk automobiles, dilapidated or disabled 
vehicles of any kind shall be parked on the Property. The foregoing restrictions shall not prohibit the 
temporary parking of trucks and other vehicles providing delivery services 10 the Property. 

(o) No vehicle shall be parked ovemight except for (i) no more than one ( I) vehicle for each Unit in 
Olde Frankfor1 Mall Residential Condominium (''Residential Condominium"), and (ii) no more than one 
(I) vehicle for each Unit in Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium ("Commercial 
Condominium"), which vehicle shall be limited in size to that of a standard utility van. 

AJRTICLEX 

REMEDIES FOR BREACH OR VIOLATION 

The violation by any Unit Owner (either by their own conduct or by the conduct of their tenant, any other 
occupant of ciieir Unit, or their invitee or guest) of any rule or regulation adopted by the Association or the breach of 
any covenant or provision herein or in the By-Laws contaiued, shall, in addition to any other rights provided for in 

12 
66

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Please remove, parking will be on public property and can't be assigned. 

cgruba
Callout
Please remove, parking will be on public property and can't be assigned. 



this Declaration or the By-Laws, give the Association the right: (a) to enter upon the Unit, or any portion of the 
Property upon which, or as to which, such violation or breach exisL~ and to summarily abate and remove, at the 
expense of the defaulting Unit Owner, any structure, thing or condition that may exist thereon contrary to the intent 
and meaning of the provisions hereof, and neither the Association nor the officers, employees or agents thereof shall 
thereby be deemed guilty in any manner of trespass; or (b) co enjoin, abate or remedy by appropriate legal 
proceedings, either at law or in equity, the continuance of any breach; or (c) to take possession of such Unit Owner's 
interest in the Property and co maintain an action for possession of such Unit in the manner provided by law. 

Provided, however, that, except in cases of emergency where damage to persons or property is threatened, 
the Association shall not take any such action unless it has (a) firs t given the Unit Owner alleged to have violated 
any restriction, condition or regulation adopted by the Association or to be in breach of any covenam or provision 
herein or in the By-Laws contained, a hearing on such allegations pursuant to rules and regulations adopted by the 
Association, (b) the Association shall have detennined such allegations to be true, and (c) the Unit Owner shall not 
have desisted from such violation or breach or shall not have taken such steps as shall be necessary to correct such 
violation or breach within such reasonable period of time as detennined by the Association and communicated to the 
U11it Owner. Any and all costs and expenses incurred by the Association in the exercise of its authority as granted in 
this A11icle X, including but not limited to court costs, reasonable attorneys' fees as determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, and cost of labor and materials shall be paid by the Unit Owner in violation, and until paid 
by such Unit Owner, shall c-011stitute a lien on the interest of such Unit Owner in the Property, which lien may be 
perfected and foreclosed in the manner provided by Section 9 of the Act with respect to liens for failure to pay a 
share of the Common Expe11ses. Any such lien shall be junior and subordinate to the lien of a First Mortgagee with 
respect to such Unit. 

Fuc1hermore, if after hearing and finding as afore.said and failure of the Un it Owner to desist from such 
violation or to take such corrective action as may be required, the Association shall have the power to issue to the 
defaulting Unit Owner, a ten ( I 0) day notice in writing to tenninate the rights of the said defaulting Unit Owner to 
continue as a Unit Owner and to continue to occupy. use o:r control their Un it and thereupon an action in equity may 
be tiled by the Association against the defaulting Unit Owner for a decree declaii ng tbe termination of the defaulting 
Unit Owner's right to occupy, use, or control the Unit owned by them on account of the violation of a rule or breach 
of covenant or provision as aforesaid and ordering that all ithe right, title. and interest of the Unit Owner in the 
Property shall be sold (subject to the lien of any existing mortgage) at a judicial sale upon such notice and tenus as 
the court shall establish, except that the court shall enjoin and restrain the defaulting Unit Owner from requiring 
their interest at such judicial sale or by virtue of the exercbe of any right of redemption which may be established. 
The proceeds of any such judicial sale shall firs t be paid to discharge court costs, reasonable attorneys' fees and all 
other expenses of the proceeding and sale, and all such items shall be taxed against the defaulting Unit Owner in 
said decree. Any balance of proceeds after satisfaction of such charges and any unpaid assessments hereunder or 
any liens shall be paid to the Unit Owner. Upon the confirmation of a foreclosure, the purchaser at the foreclosure 
sale shall thereupon be entitled to a deed 10 the Unit and to immediate possession of the Unit sold and may apply to 
the court for a writ of assistance for the purpose of acquiring such possession and it shall be a condition of any such 
sale, and the decree shall so provide, that the purchaser shall take the interest in the Properly sold subject to this 
Declaration and By-Laws. 

ARTI CLE XI 

DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION AND RESTORATION OF BUILDING 

I. Sufficient Insurance. In the event the improvements forming a part of the Property, or any portion 
thereof, including any Units, shall suffer damage or destruction from any cause and the proceeds of any policy or 
policies purchased by the Association insuring against such loss or damage, and payable by reason thereof, shall be 
sufficient to pay the cost of repair or restoration or reconstn1ction, then such repa ir, restoration, or reconstruction 
shall, subject to the provisions of the Declaration, be unde11aken and the insurance proceeds thereof shall be applied 
by the Board or the payee of such insurance proceeds in payment therefore; provided, however, that in the event 
within one hundred and eighty ( 180) days after said damage or destruction, the Unit Owners shall elect either to sell 
the Property as provided in Article XIII hereof or withdraw the Property from the provisions of this Declaration, and 
from the provisions of the Act as herein provided, then such repair, restoration, or reconstruction shall not be 
undertaken. In the event such repair, restoration, or reconstruction is not undertaken, the net proceeds of said 

13 
67



insurance policies shall be divided by the Board or the payee of such insurance proceeds among all Unit Owners 
according to each Unit Owner's percentage of ownership in the C,)mmon Elements a., set forth in Exhibit B, after 
first paying ouc the amount of any unpaid liens on their Unit, in the order ofche priority of such liens. 

2. Insufficient Insurance. 

(a) Subject 10 the provisions of che Declaration, if insurance proceeds are insufficient to recons1ruc1 
che Building and che Unit Owners and all ocher parties in interesc do not voluncarily make provision for 
reconstruction of the Building within one hundred and eighty (180) days from the date of damage or 
destruction, the Board may record a notice setting forth such facts and upon the recording of such notice: 

(i) The Property shall be deemed to be owned in common by the Unit Owners; 

(ii) The undivided interest in the Property owned in common which shall appertain to each 
Unit Owner shall be tl1e percentage of undivided interest previously owned by such owner in the 
Common Elements; 

(iii) Any liens affecting any of the Units shall be deemed to be transferred in accordance with 
the existing priorities to the undivided interest of the Unit Owner in the Property as provided 
herein; and 

(iv) The Prope11y shall be subject to an action for partition at the suit of any Unit Owner, in 
which event the net proceeds of sale, together with the net proceeds of the insurance on the 
Property purchased by the Association, if any, shall be considered as one fund and shall be divided 
among all the Unit Owners in a percentage equal to the percentage ofundivided interest owned by 
each owner in the Property, atler first paying out of the respective shares of the Unit Owners, to 
the extent sufficient for the purpose, all liens on the undivided interest in the Property owned by 
each Unit Owner. 

(b) Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, io the case of damage or other destruction in which 
fewer than one-half ( In) of tl1e Units are rendered untenantable, upon the affimiative vote of not fewer 
than three-fourths (3/4) of the Unit Owners voting at a meeting called for that purpose, the Building or 
Other portion of the Property shall be reconstructed. The meeting shall be held upon notice within thirty 
(30) days following the final adjustment of insurance claims, if any. Otherwise, such meeting shall be held 
within ninety (90) days of the occurrence. At such meeting the Board, or its representative, shall present 10 

the members in attendance an estimate of the cost of repair or reconstruction~ and the estimated amount of 
necessary assessments against each Unit Owner. 

(c) In che case of damage or other destniction, upon the affirmative vote of not fewer than three-
fourths (3/4) of the Unit Owners voting at a meeting called for that purpose, any portion of the Property 
affected by such damage or destruction may be withdrawn from the Act. Upon the withdrawal of any Unit 
or portion thereof, the percentage of interest in the Common Elements appurtenant to such Unit or portion 
thereof shall be reallocated among the remaining Units on che basis of the percentage of interest of each 
remaining Unit. lfonly a portion ofa Unit is withdrawn, che percentage ofinteresc appurtenant to that Unit 
shall be reduced accordingly, upon the basis of diminution in market value of che Uni 1, as determined by 
the Board of Managers. The paymenc of just compensation or the allocacion of any insurance or o ther 
proceeds to any withdrawing or remaining Unit Owner shall be on equitable basis, which need not be a 
Unit's percentage interest. Any insurance or other proceeds available in connection with the withdrawal of 
any portion of the Common Elements, not necesSc1rily including the Limited Common Elements, shall be 
allocated on the basis of each Unit Owner's percentage interest therein. Any proceeds available from the 
withdrawal of any Limited Common Elements wi II be distributed in accordance with the interest of those 
entitled to their use. 

3. Cessation of Common Expenses. Upon -ihe withdrawal of any Unit or portion thereof, the 
responsibility for die payment of assessments on such Uni! or portion thereof by the Unit owner shall case. 

14 
68



ARTICLE XII 

EMINEN'f DOMAIN 

1. Condemnation. Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, in the event of a taking or 
condemnation by competent authority of any part of the Property, the Association, shall, if necessary, restore the 
improvements on the remaining portion of the Property to eonform as closely as possible to the general design, 
structure and materials used with respect to the improvements as they existed prior to the taking or condemnation. 
In the event that part or all of one or more units is taken or condemned, then the portions so taken or condemned 
shall be deemed to have been removed from the provisions of the Act and the percentage of ownership interest in the 
Common Elements allocated to such Unit or portion thereof (as determined by the Board on the basis of diminution 
in market value of the Unit) shall be realloc,ned among the remaining Units on the basis of the relative percentage of 
ownership interests in the Common Elements of the remaining Units. In such cases, this Declaration and the Plat 
shall be amended accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of the Act. The allocation of any condemnation award or 
other proceeds to any withdrawing or remaining Unit Owner shall be 011 an equitable basis, which need not be a 
U11it's percentage of interest in the Common Elements. Arny condemnation award or other proceeds available in 
connection with the withdrawal of any portion of the Common Elements, not necessarily including the Limited 
Common Elements, shall be allocated on the basis of each Unit Owner's percentage of interest in the Common 
Elements. Any such proceeds available from the withdrawal of Limited Common Elements shall be distributed in 
accordance with the interests of those entitled to their use. Upon the withdrawal of any Unit or portion thereof, the 
responsibility for tl1e payment of assessments on such Unit or portion thereof so withdrawn shall cease or shall be 
equitably reduced. 

2. Reallocation of Common Elements and Condemnation Award. Upon the withdrawal of any Un it 
or portion thereof due to eminent domain, the percentage of interest in the Common Elements appurtenant to such 
Unit or portion thereof shall be reallocated among the ren1aining Units on the basis of the percentage of interest of 
each remaining Unit. If only a portion of a Unit is w ithdrawn, the percentage of interest appurtenant to that Unit 
shall be reduced accordingly, upon the basis of diminution in market value of the Unit, as detenn ined by the Board. 
The allocation of any condemnation award or other proc.eeds to any withdrawing or remai_niog Unit Owner shall be 
on an equitable basis which need not be a Unit's percentage interest. Any condemnation award or other proceeds 
available in connection with the withdrawal of any portion of the Common Elements, not necessari ly including the 
Limited Common EJemenL'>, shall be allocated <m the ba.'>iS of each Unit Owner's percentage interest therein. 
Proceeds available from the withdrnwal of any Limited Common Element will be distributed in accordance with the 
intereslS of those entitled to their use. 

3. Cessation of Common Expenses. Upon the withdrnwal of any Unit or portion thereof, the 
responsibility for the payment of a5sessments on such Unit or portion thereof by the Unit Owner shall cease. 

ARTICL E Xlll 

SALE OF THE PROPE:RTY AND REMOVAL 
OF PROPERTY FROM THE ACT 

I. Sale. The Unit Owners, through the affirmative vote of Voting Members having at least seventy-
five percent (75%) of the total votes, at a meeting duly called for such purpose, may elect to sell the Property as a 
whole. Within ten (10) days after the date of the meeting a t which such sale was approved, the Board shall given 
written notice of such action to the holder of any duly reco,rded mortgage or trust deed against any Unit. Such action 
shall be binding upon all Unit Owners, and it shall thereup,on become the duty of every Unit Owner to execute and 
deliver such instruments and to perform all acts as in manner or fonn as may be necessary to effect such sale, 
provided, however, that any Unit Owner who did not vote in favor of such action and who has filed written 
objection thereto with the Board within twenty (20) days after the date of the meeting at which such sale as 
approved, shall be entitled to receive from the proceeds of such sale an amount equivalent to the fair market value of 
their interest, as detennined by arbitration provided for herein, less the amount of any unpaid assessments or charges 
due and owing from such Unit Owner. In the absence ofa_greement on the fair market value of such interest, the 
Unit Owner and the Board shall each select an appraiser, and the two so selected shall select a third appraiser, and 
the fair market value, as determined by the third appraiser, shall control. If either party shall fail to select an 

15 
69



appraiser, then the one designated by the other party shall determine the value of the Unit Owner's interest. The 
cost of the appraisal shall be divided equally between the Unit Owner and the Board, and the Board's share shall be 
a Common Expense. 

2. Removal from Act. All of the Onie Owners may remove the Propercy from the provisions of the 
Ace by an instrumenc to that effect duly recorded, provided tha1 the holders of all liens affecting any of the Units 
consent thereto or agree, in either case by instruments duly recorded, tha1 their liens be transferred 10 the undivided 
interes1 of the Unit Owner. Upon such removal, the Property shall be deemed to be owned in common by all the 
Unit Owners. The undivided interest in the Property owned in common which shall appertain to each owner shall be 
the percentage of undivided interest previously owned by such owner in the Common Elements. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Property may not be removed from the provisions of the Act unless all Unit Owners of the Olde 
Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium, together with rJ1e holders of all liens affecting any of the Units consent 
thereto or agree, in either case by instruments duly recorded. 

1. Amendments. 

ARTICLE XIV 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

(a) Subject to the provisions of this Article XIV, the Condominium Instruments may be amended, 
changed, or modified only upon the affinnative vote of three-fourths (3/4) of the Unit Owners; provided, 
however. that if any provision of the Act or any otl1er pro,•ision of this Declaration. or the By-Laws 
expressly provides for different methods of amendment. or di fferent majorities of affirmative votes 
necessary to amend, such provisions shall control over the provisions of this Article XJV. Prior to the 
recording of any amendment to the Condominium Instruments, an affidavit, executed by an officer o f the 
Association, shall be attached to such amendment . Such affidavit must certify that the requisi te affirmative 
vote of Unit Owners (or of the Board if applicable) and the approval of all mo11gagees having bona fide 
liens of record against the Units (only if any provision of the Condominium Instruments require such 
approval by mortgagees) has been made and given and that a copy of the amendment has been mailed by 
certified mail to all mortgagees baving bona fide liens of record against the Units no less than ten ( I 0) days 
prior to the date of such affidavit. 

(b) Any amendment, change or modificatiora of the Condominium Instruments shall be effective upon 
the recording of such instrument in the office of the Recorder of Deeds of Will County, Illinois, unless the 
instrument sets forth a different effective date. No provision in the Condominium Instruments may be 
amended, changed or modi fiL>d so as to conflict with the provisions of the Act. A copy of any amendment, 
change or modification shall be provided to all U,iit Owners. Unless otherwise provided by the Act, 
amendments to the Condominium Instruments shall be executed and recorded by the President of the 
Association or by such other ollicer authorized by the Board. 

(c) Subject 10 the terms of this Article XTV, no amendment which affects the rights, privileges or 
obligations of Declarant or its agents, successors or assigns shall be effective without the prior wrinen 
consent (contained on the face of any such amendment) of any such party whose rights, privileges or 
obligations are, or would be, so affected. 

(d) Except 10 the extent authorized by other provisions of chis Declaration or by the Act, no 
amendmenc to the Condominium Instruments shall change 1he boundaries of any Unit or the undivided 
interest in the Common Elements, the number of votes in the Association, or the liability for Common 
Expenses appenaining to a Unit. 

(e) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Declaration, Declarant reserves for itself, and on 
behalfof the Board, the right at any time from time to time to record an amendment to this Declaration, 
including any Exhibit hereto, or any supplement or amendment thereto, to (i) conform this Declaration with 
the requirements of the Act or any ordinance of tbe Village of Frankfort, Illinois; or (ii) correct clerical, 
typographical or i11adve11ent errors in this Declaration or in any of the Exhibit hereto; or ( iii) complete the 

16 
70



data on the Plat after improvements constructed at any time on the Parcel arc completed subsequent to the 
time this Declaration is first recorded; or (iv) comply with requirements of the Fannie Mac, the 
Government National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development, the Federal Housing Association, the Veterans 
Administration, or any other governmental agency or any other public, quasi-public or private entity which 
performs (or may in the future perform) functions similar to those currently performed by such entities, or 
(v) induce any of such agencies or entities to make, purchase, sell, insurance, or guarantee firs t mortgages 
covering the Units. In the furtherance of the foregoing, each Unit Owner and each holder of a mortgage, 
tn,st deed, or lien affecting any Unit and each Person having any other interest in the Property hereby 
grants to Declarant and Board and each of them (and Declarant hereby reserves for each of them) an 
irrevocable Power of Anorney coupled with an in terest on behalf of each Unit Owner and each such holder 
or Person to make, sign, and record on behalf of each Unit Owner and each such holder and Person any 
amendment described in this Article XIV. Each deed, mortgage, trust deed, or evidence of obligation or 
other instrument affecting a Unit or the Propeny and the acceptance of any such instrument shall be 
deemed to be a grant and acknowledgment of, and a consent to the reservation of, the aforedescribed Power 
of Anorney to Declarant, to make, sign and record on behalf of each of the Unit Owners, holders and 
Persons described in this Article XIV any amendment described in this Article XIV. The Power of 
Attorney described in this Article XIV shall tenn inate three (3) years from the recording date of this 
Declaration. 

(a) Notices provided for in the Act, this Dec laration or tl1e By-Laws shall be in writing, and shall be 
addressed to (i) the Association (in care of its Sec retary). or the Board, as the case may be, at 219 Olde 
Frankfort Mall, Frankfort, Illinois 60423, and to each Unit Owner at the address assigned to said Unit 
Owner's Un it, or, in either case, at such other add.ress ofwhicb ootice bas been given as provided herein 
below. The Association and tlie Board may designate a different address or addresses for notices to them, 
respectively, by g iving written notice of such change of address to all Unit Owners. Any Unit Owner may 
designate a different address for notices to them by g iving written notice to the Association. Notices 
addressed as above shall be deemed delivered two (2) bus iness days after mailing by United States 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or on the day when delivered in person w ith written 
acknowledgement of the receipt thereof. 

(b) Upon written request to the Board, the holder of any recorded mortgage or trust deed encumbering 
any Unit shall be given a copy of all notices pem, itted or required by the Act, this Declarntion is to be 
given to the Owner or Owners whose Unit is subject to such mortgage or trust deed. 

(c) Notices required to be given any devisee or personal representative of a deceased Unit Owner may 
be delivered either personally or by mail to such part at their or its address appearing in the records of the 
court wherein the estate of such deceased Unit Owner is being administered. 

3. Binding Effect. Each grantee of the Declarant, by acceptance of a deed of conveyance, or each 
purchaser under any contract for such deed of conveyance, accepts the same subject to all restrictions, conditions, 
covenants, reservations, liens, and charges, and the jurisdiction, rights, and powers created or reserved by the 
Declaracion, and all rights, benefits, and privileges of every character hereby granted, created, reserved, or declared, 
and all impositions and obligations hereby imposed shall be deemed and taken to be covenants running with the land 
and shall bind any Person having at any time any interest or estate in the Propeny or any Unit, and shall inure 10 the 
benefi t of such Unit Owner in the like manner as though the provisions of the Declaration were recited and 
stipulated at length in each and every deed of conveyance. 

4. Non-Waiver. Except as expressly provided in this Declaration to the contrary, no consent or 
waiver, expressed or implied, by any interested party referred to herein, to or of any breach or default by any other 
interested party referred to herein, in the performance by such other party of any obligations contained herein, shall 
be deemed a consent to or waiver of the perfonnance by such party of any other obligations hereunder, or the 
performance by any other interested party referred to herein or of the same, or of any obligations hereunder. 

17 
71



5. Waiver of Damages. The Dcclarant nor its respective rcprcscntativc'S or designccs shall be liable 
fbr any claim whatsoever arising out of or by reason of any actions pcrfonncd pursuant to any authority granted to 
or delegated by or pursuanc 10 chis Declaration, or in the Declaranc's capacit)' as developer, contraccor, Owner, 
manager, seller or lessor of the Property whether or noc such claim (a) shall be asserted by any Owner, Occupanc, the 
Board or che Associacion, or by any person or enticy claiming through any of them; or (b) shall be on accounc of 
injury 10 person or damage 10 or loss of property wherever located and however caused; or (c) shall arise ex 
contracm or ex delicm (except in case of willful malfeasance). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, che 
foregoing enumeration includes all claims for, or arising by reason of, the Propercy or any part chereof being or 
becoming out of repair or containing any patent or latent defects, or by reason of any act or neglect of any Owner, 
Occupant, the Board, the Association, and their respective agents, employees, guests, and invitees, or by reason of 
any neighboring property or personal property located on or about the Property, or by reason of the failure to 
function, or disrepair of, any utility services. 

6. Invalidity. The invalidity of any covenant, restriction, condition, limitation, or any ocher provision 
of this Declaration, or of any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any manner the validity, enforceability, or 
effect of the remainder of this Declaration. 

7. Perpen,ities and Restraints. If any of the options, privileges, covenants, or rights created by this 
Declaration wou ld otherwise be unlawful or void for violations of (a) che rule against pe,·petuities or some analogous 
statutory provision, (b) che rules restricting restraints or alienacion, or (c) any other statutory or common law rules 
imposing time limits. then such provision shall conti nue ooly until twenty-one (2 1) years after the death of the last to 
die of the now living lawful descendants of George Walker Bush, President of the United States. 

8. Liens. ln the even any lien exists againsi two (2) or more Unics and the indebtedness secured by 
such lien is due and payable, the Unit Owner of any such Unit so affected may remove such Unit and the undivided 
interest in the Common Elements appertaining thereto from such lien by payment of the proportional amount ofsucb 
indebtedness attributable to such Unit. In the event such lien ex ists against the Units or against the Property, the 
amount of sucb proportional payment shall be computed ou the basis of the percentage set forth in the Declaration. 
Upon payment as herein provided, it is the duty of the encumbrancer to execute and deliver to the Unit Owner a 
release of such Unit and the undivided interest in the Common Elements appertaining thereto from such lien. 

The owner of such Unit shall not be liable for any claims, damages, or judgments entered as a result of any 
action or inaction of the Board other than for mechanics' liens as hereinafter set forth. Each Unit Owner's liability 
for any judgment entered against the Board or the Association, if any, shall be limited to their proportionate share of 
the indebtednes.~ as set forth herein, whether collection is sought through assessment or otherwise. A Unit Owner 
shall be liable for any claim, damage, or judgment entered as a result of the use or operation of their Unit, or caused 
by their own conduct. 

If as a result of work expres.~ly authorized by the Board, a mechanics' lien claim is placed against the 
Property or any portion of the Property, each Unit Owner shall be deemed to have expressly authorized it and 
consented chereto and shall be liable for the payment of their Unit's proportionace share of any due and payable 
indebtedness. 

9. Release of Claims. Each Unit Owner hereby waives and releases any and all claims which they 
may have against any other Unit Owner, Occupant, the Association, its officers, members of the Board, the 
Declaranc, the managing agent, their respective employees and agents, the Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial 
Condominium Association, its occupants, unit owners, officers and members of its board for damage to the 
Common Elements, the Units, or to any personal Property located in the Units or Common Elements, caused by fire 
or other casualty, to the extent that such damage is covered by fire or ocher form of casualty insurance. 

10. Construction. The provisions of this Declaration shall be liberally construed to effecn,ate its 
purpose of creating a uniform plan for the operation of a mixed use commercial/office/retail and residential 
condominium building. 

11. Headings. The headings and captions contained herein are inserted for convenient reference only 
and shall not be deemed to construe or limit the sections and articles to which they apply. 

18 
72



12. Number and Gender. As used in this Declaration, the singular shall include the plural, and 
masculine, feminine and neuter pronouns shall be fully interchangeable, where the context so requires. 

13. Land Trust Owners' Exculpation. In the event title 10 any Unit ownership is conveyed to a land 
title holding trust, under the terms of which all powers of management, operation, and control of the Unit Ownership 
remain vested in the trust beneficiary or beneficiaries, then the Unit ownership under such trust and the beneficiaries 
thereunder from time 10 time shall be responsible for payment of all obligations, liens, or indebtedness and for the 
perfom1ance of all agreements, covenants, and undenakings chargeable or created under this Declaration against 
such Unit Ownership. No claim shall be made against any such title holding trustee personally for payment of any 
claim or obligation hereunder created and the trustee shall not be obligated to sequester funds or trust Property to 
apply in whole or in pan against such lien or obligation. The amount of such lien or obligation shall continue to be a 
charge or lien upon the Unit ownership and the beneficiaries of such tn,st notwithstanding any transfers of the 
beneficial interest of any such tn,st or any transfers of title of such Unit ownership. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused its name to be signed in these presents by its President 
and attested by its Secretary this ___ day of ______ ~ 2023. 

ATTEST: 

By: _________ _ 

Name: 
Its Secretary 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF __ _ 

) 
) ss. 
) 

SCH-NAPS, LLC - SERIES I -
OLDE FRANKFORT MALL. 

By: _ ________ _ 
Name: 
Its President 

I, _ _ _____ ., a Norary Public in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, 
that-~~-- ----' who is the President and Secretary of SHI-NAPS, LLC - SERJES I - OLDE 
FRANKFORT MA LL, personally known 10 me 10 be the same persons whose names are subscribed 10 the foregoing 
instrument as such President and Secretary, respectively, 3:ppeared before me this day in person, and acknowledged 
1ha1 they signed and delivered the said instrument as their free and voluntary Act and as the free and voluntary act of 
SHI-NAPS, LLC - SERIES I - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL for the use and purposes therein set forth . 

Given under my hand and seal this ____ day of ______ ., 2023. 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

19 
73



EXHilBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL (PROPERTY) 

THE SOUTH 36-1/2 FEET OF LOT 3, AND ALL OF LOT 4 IN BLCOK 1 IN BOWEN'S SUBDIVISION OF 
BLOCKS 1, 12 AND 13, IN THE ORJGINAL TOWN OF FRANKFORT, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT 
THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 29, 1857, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 27610, IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOS. 

LEGAL DESCRJPTION FOR CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT - INGRESS/EGRESS: 

THE COMMON AREAS AS THEY MAY EXIST FROM TIME TO TIME ON THE PLAT OF CONDOMINIUM 

UNDERLYING PIN: l 9-09-28-208-003-0000 

20 
74



EXHIBITB 

PERCENTAGE OF OWNERSHIP INTEREST TABLE 
FOR CONDOMINIUM UNITS 

IN 
OLDE FRANKFORT MALL COMMERCIAL CONDOMINIUM 

FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS 

Unit Percentage of Ownership 

Total 100% 

21 
75



EXHilBITD 

PLAT OF SURVEY 
FOR 

OLDE FRANKFORT MALL COMMERCIAL CONDOMINIUM A TT ACHED HERETO 

22 
76



SCHOOL DISTRICT CERTIFICATE 

STATE OF lLUNOlS 

COlJNTYOF ___ _ 

) 
) ss 
) 

We the undersigned, as Owners of the property described a s the Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium, 
hereby certify that to the best of our knowledge said proper ry is located within the boundaries of Elementar)' School 
District 157 C, and High School District 2 10, in Will Counry, lllinois. 

Dated:-------~ A.O. 2023 

SHI-NAPS, LLC - SERIES I - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL. 

BY: _____________ _ 

President 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF ____ _ 

) 
) ss 
) 

ATTEST: __________ _ 
Secretary 

I, , a notary public in and for said County in the State aforesaid, do hereby 
certify that ____________ , President, atnd __________ , secretary, of SHI-NAPS, 

LLC - SERJES I - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL .. an Illinois limited liability company, personally known to me to 
be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day and 
acknowledged tl1at they signed and delivered the foregoing instrument as thei r own free and voluntary act and as the 
free and voluntary act of said corporation. 

Given under my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ________ , A.D. 2023 

BY: ______________ _ 
Notary Public 

My commission expires _________ _ 

23 
77



DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM 

For 

OLDE FRANKFORT MALL 
RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUM 

MAIL TO and PREPARED BY: 
Clavio, Van Ordstrand & Assoc, LLP 
10277 W Lincoln Hwy 
Frankfort, Ill inois 60423 RECORDER'S STAMP 

T HIS DECLARATION made and entered into this __ day of ___ ~, 2023 by Shi-Naps, LLC-
Series I - Olde Frankfort Mall., an Illinois limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as the "Declarant"): 

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, the Declarant is owner in fee simple of certain real estate hereinafter described in Exhibit A 
attached hereto and incorporated herein, in the Village of Frankfort, Will County, Illinois which real estate is part of 
a mixed use commercial/office/retail and residential condominium development; and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant intends to and does hereby submit such real estate together with its portion of 
the building, stn,ctures, improvements, and other permanent fix tures of whatsoever kind now or hereafter thereon, 
and all rights and privileges belonging or in anywise pertaining thereto and any and all easements appurtenant 
thereto, to the provisions of the Illinois Condominium Property Act, as amended from time to time; and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant desires to establish, in accordance with this Declaration, certain rights and 
easements in, over and upon said real estate for the benefit of itself and all future owners of any part of said real 
estate, and any unjt or units thereof or therein contained an:d to provide for the harmonious, be-neficial, and proper 
use and conduct of the real estate and all units; aod 

WHEREAS, the Declarant des ires and intends that the several Unit Owners, mortgagees, occupants, and 
other persons herea fter acqui1ing any interest in the Property (as defined in A11icle I) shall at all times, and subject to 
the terms of the Declaration, enjoy tbe benefits of, and shal l at all t imes hold their interest subject to tbe 1igbts, 
easements. privileges. and restrictions hereinafter set forth and those set forth in the Declaration. all of wbich are 
declared lo be in furtherance of a plan to promote and protect the cooperative aspect of tbe Property and are 
established for the purpose of enhancing and perfect ing tbe value, desirability, and attractiveness of the Property and 
the mixed use development which tbe Property is a part of; and 

WH EREAS, the name of the condominium shall be "Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium" or 
such other name as may be subsequently adopted pursuant to the Act by the Declarant or Board. 

NOW TH ERFORE, the Declar•nt DECLARES as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of brevity and clarity, certain words and terms used in this Declaration arc defined as follows: 

(a) Act: The Condominium Property Act of the State of Illinois, as amended from time to time. 

(b) Association: The Association of all the Unit Owners, acting pursuant to the By-Laws attached 
hereto as Exhibit C, through its duly elected Board. 

78

cgruba
Received



(c) Board: The Board of Managers of the Association as constituted at any time and from time to 
cime. In the evenc the Association is inco,poratec.l che Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the 
inco,porated Association. 

(d) Building: All structures located on the real estate which the Condominium is a part of, attached or 
unanached, containing one or more Units. 

(e) By-Laws: The By-Laws of the Associat;on, which are anached hereto as Exhibit C. 

(I) Common Elements : All portions of the Property, except the Units. 

(g) Common Expenses: The proposed or actual expenses affecting che Property, including Reserves, 
if any, lawfully assessed by the Board. Such Common Expenses shall consist of the expenses of the 
administration and operation of the Common Elements and any other expenses incurred in confonnance 
with the Act, the Declaration and the By-Laws, including, without limitation, the maintenance-and repair of 
the Common Elements and any and all replacements and additions thereto. 

(b) Condominium Instruments : All documents and authorized amendments thereto recorded pursuant 
to the provisions of the Act, including the Declaration, By-Laws and the Plat. 

(i) Declaration: The instrument by which the Property is submitted to the provisions of the Act, as 
bereinaft.er provided and such Declaration as from time to t ime amended. 

(j) Declarant: Shi-Naps, LLC -
Se1ies I - Olde Frankfo11 Mall, an Illinois limited liability company, its successors and/or its assigns. 

(k) First Mortgagee: An owner of a bona fide first mortgage, first trust deed or equivalent security 
inte.rest covering any po1i ion of the Property. 

(I) First Unit Owner Board of Managm: T he i.nit ial Board that is comprised of a majority of Unit 
Owners other than the Declarant. 

(m) Limited Common ElemenLs: A portion o f the Common Elements which is desi&'llated by this 
Declaration or the Plat as being a Limited Common Element appurtenant to and for the exclusive use of 
Unit Owner of one or more, but less than all, of trne Dwelling Units. The Limited Common Element~ shall 
include, but not be limited to: 

(i) That part of the Common Elements contiguous 10 and serving a single Unit exclusively as 
an inseparable appurtenance thereto including specifically such portions of the perimeter walls, 
floors and ceilings, windows, doors and a ll fixtures and structures therein which lie outside the 
Unit boundaries, pipes, ducts, tlues, shafts, electrical wiring or conduits or other system or 
component pares thereof which serve and Unic exclusively 10 che extent such a system or 
component pare is located outside boundaries of a Unit; 

(ii) The Parking Garage, which shall be a Limited Common Element appurtenant to the Unic 
co which a Parking Space is assigned; 

(iii) Each balcony, which shall be a Limited Common Element appurtenant to the Unit which 
it serves. 

(n) Maintenance Fund : All monies collected or received by the Association pursuant to the provisions 
of the Condominium Instn,ments. 

2 
79

cgruba
Callout
Remove. There is no parking garage and all nearby parking spaces are public property within the right-of-way

cgruba
Highlight



(o) Majoritv: The owners of more than fifty percent (50%) in the aggregate in interest of the 
undivided ownership of the Common Elements. Any specified percentage of the Unit Owners means such 
percentage in the aggregate in interest of such undivided ownership. 

(p) Occupant: A Person or Persons, including a Unit Owner, in possession of one or more Units. 

(q) Parcel: The lot or lots, tract or tracts of land, described in Exhibit A anached hereto, together with 
improvements and rights appurtenanc thereto, submined 10 the provisions of rhe Act. 

(r) Parking Space: That portion of the Property which is designed and intended to be used for the 
purpose of parking a single automobile, and which is separately identified on the Plat by a distinguishing 
number assigned to it. 

(s) Person: A natural individual, corporatio11, partnership, trustee or other legal entity capable of 
holding title to real property. 

(t) Plat: A plat or plats of survey of the Parcel and of all Units in the Prope11y submitted to the 
provisions of the Act, which shall consist ofa three-dimensional horizontal and vertical delineation of all 
such U11its and such other data as, may be required by the Act. 

(u) Property: All the land, property and space comprising the Parcel, all improvements and structures 
erected, constructed or contained therein or thereon, including the Building and all easements, rights, and 
appurtenances belonging thereto, and all fixtures and equipment intended for the natural use, benefit and 
enjoyment of the Unit Owners, submitted to the provisions of the Act. 

(v) ~: To record in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds of Will County, Illinois. 

(w) Reserves: Those sums paid by Unit Owners which are separately maintained by the Board of 
Managers for purposes specified by the Board of Managers or the Condo01inium Instruments. 

(x) !.!llil: Any part of the r rope11y desi1,,>n.ed and intended for any type of independent use and which 
is designated on the Plat as a Unit. 

(y) Unit Owner: The person or persons whc,se estates or interests, individually or collectively, 
possess fee simple absolute ownership of a Unit and its appurtenant undivided ownership interest in the 
Common Elements. 

(z) Village: The Village of Frankfort, Illinois. 

ARTICLE H 

lJNITS 

I. Description. All Units are delineated on the Plat attached hereto as Exhibit D and made a part of 
this Declaration. The Units are legally described as being a part of the following described property! 

THE SOUTH 36-1 /2 FEET OF LOT 3, AND ALL OF LOT 4 IN BLCOK I IN BOWEN'S 
SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 1, 12 AND 13, IN THE ORIGTNAL TOWN OF FRANKFORT, 
ACCORDTNG TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 29, 1857, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 
27610, TN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOS. 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT - INGRESS/EGRESS: 

THE COMMON AREAS AS THEY MAY EXIST FROM TIME TO TIME ON THE PLAT OF 
CONDOMINIUM 

3 
80

cgruba
Callout
Remove. All nearby parking spaces are public property within the right-of-way. Reserving spaces not permitted

cgruba
Polygon

cgruba
Callout
The new Plat of Resubdivision should contain a new legal description.  This legal also does not match the existing legal on Will County GIS

cgruba
Highlight



UNDERLYING PIN: I 9-09-28-208-003-0000 

h is understood that each Unit consists of the space enclosed or bounded by the horizontal and vertical 
planes set forth and identified as a Unit in the delineation thereof in Exhibit D. The legal description of each Unit 
shall consist of the identifying number or symbol of such Unit followed by the legal description of the Property, as 
shown on Exhibit D. Except as provided by the Act, no Unit Owner, shall, by deed, Plat or otherwise, subdivide or 
in any other manner cause the Unit to be separated into any tracts or Parcels different from the whole Unit as shown 
on Exhibit D. 

2. Certain Stmctures Not Constituting Pan of a Unit. No stmctural components of the Building, and 
no pipes, wires, conduits, public utility lines (to the outlets), ducts, flues, and shafts situated within a Unit or running 
through a Unit and forming part of any system serving one or more other Units, or extending into the Common 
Elements or any part thereof, shall be deemed part of a Unit, but shall be considered Common Elemems. 

ARTICLE Ill 

COMMON ELEMENTS 

I. Ownership of Common Elements. Each Unit Owner shall own an undivided interest in the 
Common Elements as a tenant in common with all the other Unit Owners of the Property, and, except as otherwise 
limited in the Declaration, shall have the right to use the Common Elements for all purposes incident to the use and 
occupancy of their Unit as a place of business, and such other incidental uses permitted by this Declararion, wh ich 
right shall be appurtenant to and mn with their Unit. Such right shall extend to each Unit Owners, and the agents, 
employees, tenants, contractors, visitors. licensees. and invitees of each Unit Owner . .Each Unit Owner's interest 
shall be expressed by a percentage amount and shaJI remain constant and unless otherwise provided in the Act or 
herein, may not be changed without unan imous approval of all Unit Owners, unless changed by Recorded 
amendment to this Declaration consented to in writing by all Unit Owners. The Declaration has so determined eacb 
Unit's corresponding percentage of ownership in the Comn1on Elements as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto. 
and each Unit Owner accepts such detennination. 

2. Limited Common ElemenLs. The Limited Common Elements arc as described and defined in 
Article I of this Declaration. All expenses relating to the Limited Common Elements shall be borne exclusively by 
the Unit(S) which they serve. 

3. Transfer of Limited Common Elements. The use of Limited Common Elements may be 
lr.tnsferred bcLwecn Unit Owners at their expense, provided that the transfer may be made only in accordance w ith 
the Condominium lnstrnments and the provisions of the Act. Each transfer shall be made by an amended to the 
Declaration executed by all Unit Owners who are parties to the transfer and consented to by all other Units who 
have any right to use the Limited Common Elements affecled. The amendment shall contain a certificate showing 
that a copy of the amendment has been delivered to the Board. The amendment shall contain a statement from the 
parties involved in the transfer which sets forth any change in the Unit Owners' proponionate share. If the Unit 
Owners cannot agree upon a reapportionment of their prop-0rtionate share, the Board shall decide such 
reapportionment. No transfer shall become effective until the amendment has been recorded. 

Rights and obligations with respect to any Limited Common Element shall not be affected, nor shall any 
transfer of it be effective, unless a transaction is in compliance with the requirements of this Section and of the Act. 

ARTICLE IV 

GENERAL PROVISIONS AS TO UNITS AND COMMON ELEMENTS 

I. Submission of Properly to Provisions of Act. The Property is hereby submitted to the provisions 
of the Act. 

4 
81

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Staff thought that the residential units would be rentals, not individually owned, please confirm



2. No Severance of Ownership. No Unit Owners shall execute any deed, mortgage, lease or other 
instrument affecting title to the Unit Ownership without induding therein both their interest in the Unit and their 
corresponding percentage of ownership in the Common Elements, it being the intention hereof to prevent any 
severance of such combined ownership. Any such deed, mortgage, lease or other instrument purporting co affecc the 
one without including also the other shall be deemed and taken to include the interest so omined even though the 
latter is not expressly mentioned or described therein. 

3. Easements. 

(a) Encroachments. If any portion of the Common Elements encroaches upon any Unit, or if 
any Unit encroaches upon any ponion of the Common Elements or any ocher Unit as a result of 
the constn,ction, repair, reconstruction, senlement or shifting of the Building, a valid mutual 
easement shall exist in favor of the owners of the Common Element and the respective Unit 
Owners involved to the extent of the encroachment. A valid easement shall not exist in favor of 
any Unit Owner who created an encroachment by their intentional, willful or negligent conduct or 
that of their agent. 

(b) Utility Easements. SBC/ Ameritech, Commonwealth Edison Company, NICOR, the 
cable television company servicing the area and all other public utilities serving the Property are 
hereby granted the right to lay, construct., renew, operate, and maintain conduits, cables, pipes, 
wires, transformers, switch ing apparatus., and other equipment related to their service to the 
Property, into and through the Common Elements and the Units, where reasonably necessary for 
the purpose of providing utility and cable television services to the Property. 

(c) Cross-Access Easement. The crnss-access easement, described on the subdivision plat of 
the Olde Frank.fort Mall Condominium, which was recorded in the Otlice of the Recorder of 
Deeds, Will County, Illinois as Document No. _______ . As depicted on the aforesaid 
subdivision plat and as established by the Declaration, said easement is for the ingress/egress, 
which is a Common Element of the Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium. The 
easement, or portions thereof, will be used by and for the benefit oftbe Unit Owners of the Olde 
Frankfort Mall Residential Condominiu1J1, the Unit Owners of tbe Olde Frankfort Mall 
Commercial Condominium, and the Owners of the adjacent Property, and, a5 such, the Common 
Expenses directly related to the ea5ement shall be shared by the Unit Owners, the Unit Owners of 
the Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium, the Unit Owners of the Olde Frankfort Mall 
Commercial Condominium, and the Owners of the adjacent Property as more fully described and 
established in the Declaration. 

4. Easements and Rights to Run with Land. All easements and rights described herein and in the 
Declaration are easements and rights running with the land, perpetually in full force and effect, and at all times shall 
inure to the benefit of and be binding on the Declarant, its successors and assigns, and any Unit Owner, purchaser, 
mortgagee, and other Person having an interest in the Property, or any part or portion thereof. Reference in the 
respective deeds of conveyance, or in any mortgage or trust deed or other evidence of obligation, to the easements 
and rights described in this Article, or described in any 0th.er part of this Declaration, shall he sufficient to create and 
reserve such easements and rights to the respective grantees, mortgagees, and trustee of such Unit as fully and 
completely as though such easements and rights were recired fully and set forth in their entirety in such documents. 

ARTICLE V 

COMMON EXPENSES, MORTGAGES, AND REAL ESTA TE TAXES 

I. Common Expenses. Each Unit Owner, including Declarant, shall pay their proportionate share of 
the Common Expenses of administration, maintenance, and repair of the Common Elemems and of any other 
expenses incurred in conformance with the Declaration, By-Laws, or otherwise lawfully agreed upon. Such 
proportionate share of the Common Expenses for each Unit Owner shall he in the same ratio as their percentage of 
ownership in die Common Elements. Payment thereof shall be in such amounts and at such times as determined in 
the manner provided in the By-Laws. If any Unit Owner shall fa il or refuse to make any such payment of the 

5 
82

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
A Plat of Condominium would be used if the residential units are individually owned. If owned, a Plat of Condominium is needed.



Common Expenses when due, the amount thcrcoftogcthcf' with any interest, late charges, reasonable attorneys' fees 
incurred prior to or after the initiation of any court action, costs of collection and the amount of any unpaid fine shall 
constitute a lien on the interest of such Unit Owner in the Property as provided in 1he Act. 

2. Separace Mortgages. Each Unil Owner shall have the right, subjec1 to the provisions herein, 10 
make a separate mortgage or encumbrance on their respective Unit together with the ir respective ownership interest 
in the Common Elements. No Uni1 Owner shall have the right or authority to make or create or cause to be made or 
created any mortgage or encumbrance or other lien on or affecting the Property or any part thereof, except only to 
the extent of their Unit and their respective ownership interest in the Common Elements. 

3. Separate Real Estate Taxes. It is understood that real estate taxes, special assessments, and any 
other special truces or charges of the State of Illinois or any other lawful taxing or assessing body which are 
atnhorized by law to be assessed against and levied upon real property are to be separately taxed to each Unit Owner 
for their Unit and their corresponding percentage of ownership interest in the Common Elements, as provided in the 
Act. ln the event that for any year such taxes are not separately taxed to each Unit Owner, but are taxed on the 
Property as a whole, then each Unit Owner shall pay their proportionate share thereof in accordance with their 
respective percentage of ownership interest in the Common Elements. 

ARTICLE VI 

INSURANCE 

I. Fire and Hazard Insurance. Subject to Al1icle IX of the Declaration, the Board shall acquire as a 
common expense, a policy or policies of insurance insuring the Common Elements and the Units against loss or 
damage from fire, lightning and other hazards contained in the customary fire and extended coverage, vandalism, 
and malicious misch ief endorsements for the full insumble replacement cost of the Common Elements and the Units 
written in the name of the Association and which policy or policies shall include a provision that the proceeds 
thereof shall be payable to the members of the Board, as trustees for each of the Unit Owners, in the percentages 
established in Exhibit B. 

The full insumble replacement costs of the Units shaU include the replacement cost value of additions, 
bettennents, alterations, and improvements made in and to any Unit, provided, however, the Board shall not be 
responsible for obtaining insurance on such additions, bettcnnents. alterations. or improvements unless and until 
such owner shall make such report and request to the Board in writing to obtain such insurance, and shall make 
arrangements satisfactory to the Board to reimburse the Board for such additional premiums, which additional 
premiums are deemed a common expense (chargeable sole ly to such Unit Owner) and upon the fa ilure of such 
owners so lo do, the Board shall not be obligated to apply any insurance proceeds to restore the affected Unit to a 
condition bener than the condition existing prior to the making of such additions, benerments, alterations, or 
improvements. 

All policies of insurance ( I) shall contain standard mortgage clause endorsements in favor of the mortgagee 
or mortgagees of each Unit, if any, as their respective interest may appear, (2) shall provide that the insurance, as to 
the interest of the Board, shall not be invalidated by any act or neglect of any Unit Owner, (3) shall provide that 
notwithstanding any provision thereof which gives the insurer an election to restore damage in lieu of making a cash 
settlement therefore, such option shall no1 be exercisable in 1he event 1he Unit Owners elect to sell the Property or 
remove the Property from the provisions of the Act, (4) shall concain an endorsement to the effect that such policy 
shall not be terminated for nonpayment of premiums without a1 least thirty (30) days' prior to wrinen notice to the 
mortgagee of each Unit, (5) shall contain a clause or endorsemen1 whereby the insurer waives any right to be 
subrogated to any claim against Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium Association, its officers, members of 
its Board, Unit Owners, occupants, employees and agents, the Association, its officers, members of the Board, the 
Declarant, the managing agent, if any, their respective employees and agents, and the Unit Owners and occupants, 
and (6) shall contain a "Replacement Cost Endorsement." The proceeds of such insurance shall be applied by the 
Board or by the Depositary on behalfofthe Board for the reconstruction of the Building or shall be otherwise 
disposed of, in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration and the Act; and the rights of the mortgagee of any 
Unit under any standard mortgage clause endorsement to such policies shall, notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary therein contained, at all times be subject to the provisions of the Act with respect to the application of 

6 
83



insurance proceeds for reconstruction of the Building. Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, the Board may 
engage the services of, and such insurance may be payable: to a Depositary to receive and disburse the insurance 
proceeds resulting from any loss upon such cerms as the Board shall decermine consistent with che provisions of the 
Declaracion. The fees ofche Depositary shall be Common Expenses. 

ln che evenc of any loss in excess of ten chousand dollars($ I 0,000.00) che Hoard shall solicit bids from 
good and repucable conrraccors before commencing any repair, reconscruction, or replacemenc. 

Payment by an insurance company to the Board or to the Depositary, and the receipt of release from the 
Board or the Depositary of the company's liability under such policy, shall constitute a full discharge of such 
insurance company, and such company shall be under no obligation to inquire into the tenns of any agreement under 
which proceeds may be held pursuant hereto, or to take notice of any standard mortgage clause endorsement 
inconsistent with the provisions hereof, or see to the application of any payments of the proceeds of any policy by 
the Board or the Depositary. 

Each Unit Owner shall inform the Board in writing of additions, alterations, or improvements made by said 
U11it Owner to their Unit and the value thereof which value may be included in the full replacement insurance cost 
for insurance purposes. Any increase premium charge therefore shall be assessed to that Unit Owner under the 
provisions of Section 9 of the Act. If a Unit Owner fails to perform the Board as provided above and a penalty is 
assessed in the adjustment of a loss settlement, the Unit Owner shall be responsible for such penalty. 

2. Appraisal. lo accordance with the provisions of Article IX of the Declaration the full insurable 
replacement cost of the Property, including the Units and Common Elements, shall be detennined from time to time 
by the Board. 111e Board shall h.-•e the authority to obtain an appraisal by a good and reputable appraisal company 
as selected by the Board. 

3. Public Liability and Property Damage lnsumnce. Subject to the provisions of Article IX of the 
Declaration the Board shall acquire, as a Common Expense, and shall have the authority and duty to obtain, 
comprehensive public liabil ity insurance against claims and liabil ities arising in connection with the ownership. 
existence, use or management of the Pioperty in amounts deemed sufficient in the judgment of the Board. but not for 
less than required by the Declaration, insuri ng the Board, the Association, the management agent, if any, and their 
respective employees, agents, and all Persons acting as agents. Declarant, its officers, directors and employees, shall 
be included as additional insureds in their capacity as Unit Owners and Board Members, as the case may be. The 
Unit Owners shall be included as additional insureds, but only with respect to that portion of the premises not 
reserved for their exclusive use. The insurJnce shall cover claims of one or more insured parties against other 
insured particrs. The insurance shall contain a waiver of any rightS to subrogation by the insuring company against 
any of the above-named insured Persons. 

4. Workmen's Compensation and Other Insurance. Subject co Article IX of the Declaration, the 
Board shall acquire, as a Common Expense, workmen's compensation insurance as may be necessary to comply 
with applicable laws and such other forms of insurance as the Board, in ics judgment, shall elect to obtain, including, 
but not limited to insurance for the Associacion, its ollicers and management agent against liabilicy from good fai th 
actions allegedly beyond the scope of their authority. 

5. Costs are Common Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Declaration, premiums for all 
insurance obtained are maintained by che Association, and the cost of any appraisal required by che Declaration or 
which the Association deems advisable in connection with any insurance, shall be Common Expenses. 

6. Waiver. Each Unit Owner hereby waives and releases any and all claims which they may have 
against any other Unit Owner, the Association, its officers, members of the Board, the Declara111, the managing 
agent of the Building, if any, and their respective employees and agencs, Olde Frankfort Mall Residential 
Condominium Association, its officers, members of its board, its Declarant and any unit owner in its association, for 
damage to the Common Elements, the Units, or to any personal property located in the Unics or Common Elements, 
caused by fire or other casualty, 10 the extent that such damage is covered by fire or other fonn of casualty 
insurance. 

7 
84



7. Unit Owner's Insurance. Each Unit Owner shall be responsible for their own insurance on the 
contents of their own Unit, and furnishings and personal property therein, and their personal liabili ty to the extent 
not covered by the policies of liability insurance obtained by the Board forthe benefit of all of the Unit Owners as 
above provided. All policies of casualty insurance carried by each Unit Owner shall be without contribution as 
respects the policies of casualty insurance obtained by the Board for the benefit of all of the Unit Owners as above 
provided. 

8. Notice. The Board shall notify insured Persons concerning the cancellation of insurance obtained 
pursuant to the tenns of this Article. 

ARTICLE VII 

ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATION 

I. Adminisn·ation , The administration of the Property shall be vested in the Board consisting of the 
number of Persons, and who shall be elected in the manner, provided in the By-Laws. The Declarant has caused to 
be established under the name of"OLDE FRANKFORT MALL RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUM 
ASSOCIATION," which shall be the governing body for aill the Unit Owners for the maintenance, repair, 
replacement, administration, and operation of the Common Elements and for such other purposes as are hereinafter 
provided. The Board of Directors of the Association shall be deemed to be the Board referred to herein, in the By
laws, and in the Act. 

2. Duties and Powers of the Association. The Association is responsible for tl1e overall 
administration of tl1e prope,ty through its duly elected Board. The duties and powers of the Association and its 
Board shall be tl1ose set forth in its Articles of Incorporation, the By-Laws attached hereto as Exhibit C and 
incorporated be.rein, th is Dec1arntion, however. that (i) the tenns and provisions of the Act shall control in the even 
of an inconsistency between the Act, tl1is Declaration, the Articles of lncorpomrion, or the By-Laws, (ii) the tenns 
and provisions of this Declaration sha11 control io the event of any inconsistency between tbis Declaration, the 
Articles of Incorporation or the By-Laws. 

3. Creatjon of Ljen and Personal Obligation. The Declarant, for each Unit, hereby covenants and 
each Unit Owner by acceptance of a deed therefore, whether or not it shall be so expressed in any such deed or other 
conveyance, shall be and is deemed to covenant and hereby agrees to pay to the As..<,;ociation such assessment$ or 
other charges or payments as are levie.d pursuant to the provisions of this Declaration. Such assessments, or other 
charges or payments, together with interest thereon and costs of collection, if any, as herein provided, shall be a 
charge on the Unit and shall be a continuing lien upon the Unit against which c.ach such assessment is made. Each 
such assessment, or other charge or payment, together with such interest and coSL'>, shall also be the personal 
obligation of the Unit Owner of such Unit at the time when 1he assessment or other charge or payment is due. 

4. Indemnity. The members of the Board and the officers of the Association shall not be liable to the 
Unit owners for any mistake of judgmeni, or any acts or omissions made in good fai th as such members or officers 
on behalf of the Unit Owners or the Associaiion unless any such mistake shall have been made in bad faith or 
contrary to the provisions of this Declaration. The liability of any Unit Owner arising our of any contract made by 
such members or officers or out of the aforesaid indemnity shall be limited to such proportion of the roral liability 
thereunder as their percentage interest in the Common Elernents bears to the total perceniage interest of all the Unit 
Owners in the Common Elements. Each agreement made by such members or officers or by the managing agent on 
behalf of the Unit Owners or the Association shall be execu ted by such members or officers or the managing agent, 
as the case may be, as agents for the Unit Owners or for the Association. 

5. Board 's Determination Bindine. In the event of any dispute or disagreement between any Unit 
Owners relating to the Property, or any question of interpretation or application of the provisions of the Declaration 
or By-Laws, the determination thereof by the Board shall be final and binding on each and all of such Unit Owners. 

6. Administration of Propertv Prior to Election of First Unit Board of Managers. Until the election 
of the First Unit Owner Board of Managers, tl1e same rights, tit les, powers, privileges, trnsts, duties and obligations 
vested in or imposed upon the Board by the Act and in the Declaration and By-Laws shall be held and perfonued by 

8 
85



the Declarant. The election of the First Unit Owner Board of Managers shall take place as provided in the By-Laws. 
If, without fault of the Dcclarant, the Unit Owners shall not have elected a Board before the powers of the Dcclarant 
shall have expired hereunder, the Declarant may, but shall not be obligated to, continue to serve and have the powers 
herein set forth until such Board is elected, but in all events shall resign if and when required 10 resign under 
applicable law. 

Declarant shall have the right 10 specifically assign the rights, privileges, powers, options and benefits 
reserved 10 Declarant under this Declaration, and upon such specific assignment, the assignee shall be entitled 10 
said rights, privileges, powers, options and benefits as fully and to the same extent and with the same effect as if 
such assignee were herein by name specifically granted such rights, privileges, powers, options and benefits. All 
powers, privileges, easements, rights, reservations, restrictions and limitations herein provided or otherwise created 
for the benefit ofDeclarant shall inure to the benefit ofDeclarant's designees, successors and assigns, including, 
without limitation, any holder of a mortgage from Declarant which holder acquires Declarant's interest in all or part 
of the Property by foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof. 

Within sixty (60) days following the election of a majority of the First Unit Owner Board of Managers, the 
Declarant shall deliver to the Board: 

(a) All original documents pertaining to the Property and its administration such as the Declaration, 
By-Laws, Articles of Incorporation, Condominium Instruments, minutes, ru les and regulations; 

(b) A detailed accounting by the Declarant, setting forth the source and nature of receipts and 
expenditures in connection with the management, maiotenance and operation of the Property. 

(c) Association funds wh ich shall have been at all times segregated from any other monies of the 
Declaraot; 

(d) A schedule of all personal property, equipment and fixtures belonging to the Association, 
including documents transferring tl1e Property; and 

(e) Any coutract, lease, or other agreemeut made prior to the election of the First Unit O,mers Board 
of Managers by or on behalf of the Unit Owners. 

ARTICLE VIII 

MAINTENANCE, AL TERA TIONS, DECO RA TING, AND SIG NA GE 

I. Maintenance Repairs and ReplacemenLs. Each Unit Owner shall furnish and be responsible for, 
al their own expense, all of the main1enance, repairs, and replacements wi1hin their own Unit, and shall keep such 
Unit in good order and repair. Maintenance, repairs, and replacements of the Common Elements shall be furnished 
by the Board as part of the Common Expenses, subject to the rules and regulations of the Board. 

The Board may cause to be discharged any mechanics' lien or other encumbrance which, in the opinion of 
the Board, may constitule a lien against lhe Property or Common Elements, rather than against a particular Unil and 
its corresponding percentage of ownership in lhe Common Elements. When less than all the Unit Owners are 
responsible for the exis1ence of any such lien, the Unit Owners responsible shall be jointly and severally liable for 
the amount necessary 10 discharge the same and for all cos ls and expenses (including anomeys' fees) incurred by 
reason of such lien. 

\Vhenever the Board shall detennine, in its discretion, that any maintenance or repair of any Unit is 
necessary to prolect 1he Common Elements or any other portion of the Building, 1he Board may cause a written 
notice of the necessity for such maintenance or repair 10 be served upon such Uni I Owner, which notice may be 
served by delivering a copy thereof lo any Occupanl of such Uni! or by mailing the same by certified or registered 
mail addressed to lhe owner at the Unit. If such Unit Owner fails or refuses to perfonn any such maintenance or 
repair within a reasonable time slated in the notice (or any extension thereof approved by the Board) the Board may 
cause such mainlenance and repair to be performed at the expense of such Unit Owner. 

9 
86



If, due to the act or neglect of a Unit Owner or of their agent, servant, tenant, family member, invitee, 
licensee, guest, business invitee or other authorized occupant or visitor of such Unit Owner, damage shall be caused 
10 the Common Elements or to a Unit or Units owned by others (including Units owned by others in Olde Frankfort 
Mall Residential Condominium), or maintenance, repairs or replacements shall be required which would otherwise 
be at the common expense, then such Unit Owner shall pay for such damage and such maintenance, repairs, and 
replacements as may be determined by the Board, to the extent not covered by insurance. 

Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, the Board shall have exclusive authority to take, or refrain 
from taking, any action pursuant to this Article VIII, parag,aph I. All expenses which are chargeable to any Unit 
Owner pursuant to this Section I, may be specifically assessed to such Unit Owner and shall be payable by such 
Unit Owner as prescribed by 1he Board. 

2. Limited Common Elements. Any charge or expense in connection with expenditures for the 
Limited Common Elements shall be assessed only against ·that Unit or Units to which such Limited Common 
Elements are assigned. 

3. Alterations. Additions or Improvements. No altera1ions of any Common Elements or any 
addi1ions or improvements !hereto shall be made by any UJ1it Owner without the prior wriuen approval of the Board! 
Notwithstanding the foregoin~ any Unit Owner may make alterations, additions, and improvements within their 
Unit and the Limited Common Elements appu11enant thereto, without the prior wril!en approval oftl1e Board. but, in 
any event, such Unit Owner shall be responsible for any damage to other Units (including Un its witl1in Olde 
Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium), the Common Elements, or the Property as a result of such alterations. 
additions or improvements. Nothing shall be done in any Unit, or in, on or to the Common Elements, which will 
impair tl1e structural integrity of the Building(s) which Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium is a pm1 of. 

4. Decorating. Each Unit Owners shall furnish and be res)J<)nsible for, at their 0\\11 expense, all of 
the decorating with in their own Unit from time to time, including painting, wall papering. washing. cle--.• ming. 
paneling. floor covering. draperies, window shades. cm1ains, lamps, and other furnishings and interior decorating. 
Decorating of the Common Elements ( other than interior surfaces with the Units as above provided) and any 
redecorating of Units to the extent, made necessary by any damage to existing decorating of such Units caused by 
maintenance, repair or replacement work on the Common :ElcmcnL'> by the Board, shall be furnished by the Board as 
part of the Common Expenses. 

5. fil!l!!l!~- No signage shall be installed on the exterior of the Building, the Units, the doors to the 
Units or entrances leading to the Units, including. but not Uimite.d to, any exterior Jighting, decorations, banners, and 
temporary or portable signs without the prior written approval of the Board. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the provision of this paragraph 5 of Article VIII shall no! apply 
to any signage erected, installed or maintained by the Declarant for sales advertising purposes. 

ARTICLE IX 

SALE, LEASING, OR OTHER ALIENATION; RESTRICTIONS 
REGARDING USE ANO OCCUPANCY 

I. Covenants and Restrictions as to Sale or Lease of a Unit. 

(a) There are no restrictions with respect to the sale or lease ofa Unit, provided, however, that no Unit 
may be sold or leased to a person or entity which will operate a business from or use the Unit in violation 
of this Declaration, the Act or any Statute of the State of Illinois or Ordinance (zoning or otherwise) of the 
Village of Frankfort. Ifa sale, lease, devise or gift of any Unit is made by any Unit Owner, the purchaser, 
lessee, devisee, or donee thereunder shall be bound by and be subject to all of the obligations of such prior 
Unit Owner with respect to such Unit as provided in the Declaration and By-Laws. Any Unit Owner 
making any such lease shall not be relieved thereby from any obligations under this Declaration and By
laws. All leases shall be in writing with a copy delivered to the Board. All leases shall specifically state 

10 
87



that any k~~see is subject w the provisions of the Declaration, the By-Laws, and any and all Rules and 
Regulations of the Association, and that any failu,e <)f the lessee to comply therewith shall be a default 
under the lease. The Board may adopt such mies and regulations applicable to the leasing of Units as it 
deems advisable and necessary. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the provisions of this 
paragraph I of Ar1icle IX and any mies or regulations adopted hereto by the Board shall not at any time 
apply to any Units owned by the Declarant. 

(b) At no time shall more than twenty percemt (20%) of the total number of Units of the Olde 
Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium be leased by Unit Owners to any parties and so long as the 
aforesaid limit has been reached, any purported lease made by a Unit Owner which would cause said Unit 
to be exceeded shall be null and void and of no forther force or effect. The Board sha II infonn any Unit 
Owner requesting such infonnation, the number of Units then under lease. 

2. Covenants and Restrictions as to Use or Occupancy of Units and Common Elements. 

(a) No Unit may be used for purposes o ther than housing and related common purposes for which the 
Property was designed. Each Unit, and any two or more adjoining Units used together, shall be used as a 
res idence for a single family, and for no other purpose, except that professional and quasi-professional 
Occupants may use their residences as facilities a11cillary or secondary to an office established elsewhere. 
The foregoing restrictions as to residence shall not, however, be constrned in such manner as to prohibit a 
Unit Owner or Occupant from (i) maintaining his personal professional library, (ii) keeping his personal 
business or professional records or accounts, ( iii) handling his personal business or professional telephone 
calls or con espondence. Such uses are expressly declared to be customarily incident to the principal 
res idential use and not in violation of such restrictions. 

(b) No "For Sale" or " For Rent" sii,•ns, ad,•ertising or other displays shall be maintained or permitted 
on any part of the Prope1iy. l11e right is reserved by the Declaraot or its agent o r agents. to place "For 
Sale" or "For Rent" signs on any unsold or unocc;upied Units, and on any part of the Common Elements. 
Until all the Units are sold and conveyed, tbe Declarant shall be entitled to access, ingress and egress, to the 
Property as they shall deem necessary in connection with the sale ot; or work in, the Building or any Un it. 
The Declarant shall have the right to use any unsold Unit or Un its as a model for sales or display purposes, 
and to relocate the same from time to time, and to do such other things as may be necessary or advisable in 
Declarant's sole opinion to facilitate the sale or lease of unsold Units. 

(c) No animals, livestock, or fowl of any ki111d shall be raised, bred or kept in any Unit or in the 
Common Elements, cxc,ept that no more than one ( I) customary household pet such as a dog and cat may 
be kept in the Unit provided that such household pet shall not exceed thirteen ( 13) pounds in weight. All 
such pen-nilled household pets shall be kept subje,ct to rules and regulations adopted by the Board, provided 
that such permitted pets are not kept, bred or maintained for any residential purpose; provide further that 
any pet penn itted to be kept hereunder which causes or creates, in the opinion of the Board, a nuisance or 
unreasonable disturbance shall be pennanently removed from the Property upon three (3) days written 
notice from the Board. The Board shall have sole discretion to determine whether such a nuisance or 
disturbance exists. 

(d) The Parking Spaces shall be used for parking of one /1 \ vehicle only per Unit in each Unit 
assiened Parking Space. Nothing shall be kept or stored in the Parking Space withou1 the prior consent of 
the Board, and the Parking Spaces shall not be obstructed in any way. 

(e) Nothing shall be done or kepi in any Unit or in the Common Elements which will increase the rate 
of insurance on the Building without the prior consent of the Board. No Unit Owner shall permit anything 
to be done or kept in their Unit or in the Common Elements which will result in the cancellation of 
insurance on the Property, or which would be in violation of any law. No waste shall be committed in or 
on the Common Elements. 

(t) Nothing shall be done in any Unit or in, on or to the Common Elements, or in, on or to the Limited 
Common Elements, which will impair the stmctural integrity of the Building or which would structurally 

11 
88

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Can note that each unit is only permitted one vehicle, but public parking spaces in ROW or in public parking lots can't be assigned. Parking will be first-come basis



change the Building, except as is otherwise provided herein . No Unit Owner shall overload the electric 
wiring in the Building. or operate any machines. appliances, aoccs..4;orics or equipment in such manner as to 
cause, in the judgment of the Board, an unreasonable disturbance to others. 

(g) Nothing shall be altered or constructed in or removed from the Common Elements (including 
Limited Common Elements) except upon the written consent of the Board. 

(h) No Unit Owner shall cause or permit anything to be hung or displayed on the ouiside of windows 
or placed on the outside of the walls or roof of the Building, and no sign, awning, canopy, shutter, radio or 
television antenna, satellite dish greater than 18" in diameter shall be affixed to or placed upon the exterior 
walls or roof or any part thereof of the Building, w ithout the prior consent of the Board. Any permitted 
radio or television antenna or satellite dish must be installed so that it is screened from view as the Board 
shall approve. Window coverings exposed to the outside from any Unit shall be a unifonn white or off
white or beige color, subject to exceptions permitied by the Board on an individual basis. 

(i) No unlawful, noxious, or offensive activities shall be carried on in any Unit in or on the Common 
Elements or elsewhere on the Property, nor shall anything be done therein or thereon that, in the judgment 
of the Board, constitutes a nuisance or c-auses unreasonab]e noise or disn1rbance to others. \Vithout Jimited 
the generality of the preceding sentence, the common areas of the Property and the Limited Common 
Elements, such as but not limited to patios, shall be used in an orderly manner, and common walkways and 
landscaped areas oftbe Property shall not be used for ball-playing, roller skating or roller blading. bike 
riding, skate boarding, or similar activities. 

(j) Trash, garbage, and otl1er waste shall be kept only in sanitary containers, and shall be disposed of 
in a clean san itary manner in trash receptac les designated by the Association, and as prescribed from time 
to time in rules and regulations of the Board. 

(k) That part of the Common Elements separating and located between and exclusively serving two or 
more adjacent Units used together (including, but not limited to, portions of any walkway) may be removed 
or otherwise altered ingress aod egress to and from such Units and to afford privacy to the Occupants of 
such Units when they use such Common Elements, and that part of tbe Common Elements so removed or 
otherwise altered may be used by the Unit Owner or Owners of such Units as a licensee pursuant to a 
license agreement with the Association, provide that: (i) $uch aJtcr.nions shall not weaken, impair or 
endanger any of the Common Elements or any Unit; (ii) the Unit Owner or Owners desiring to make $uch 
alterations shall notify the Board of the nature thereof within ten (10) days prior to commencing work, ( iii) 
the expense of making such alterations shall be paid in fu ll by the Unit Owner or Owners making such 
alterations, (iv) such Unit Owner or Owners shall pay in full the expense of restoring such Common 
Elements 10 their condition prior to such alterations in the event such Units caused 10 be used together, and 
(v) such alterations shall not interfere with use and enjoyment of the Common Elements, other than the 
aforesaid part of the Common Elements separatin_g such adjacent Units, including, but not limited 10, 

reasonable access and ingress 10 and egress from the other Units in the walkway affected by any such 
alterations. 

(1) Nothing shall be stored in or on the Common Elements except as otherwise herein provided. The 
use, maintenance and operation of the Common E lements shall not be obstructed, damaged or unreasonably 
interfered with by any Unit Owner or Occupant, and shall be subject 10 any easement presently in existence 
or entered into by the Board at some future time affecting any part or all of the Common Elements. 

(m) The use, maintenance and operation of tbe Common Elements shall 1101 be obstructed, damaged or 
unreasonably interfered with any Unit Owner or Occupant, and shall be subject to any easement presently 
in existence or placed into existence by the Board. at some future time affecting any part or all of the 
Common Elements. Nothing shall be stored in or on the Common Elements except as otherwise herein 
provided. 

(n) Vehicles (which term when used herein shall include motorcycles) shall be parked only in tl1ose 
are.as separately striped and otherwise marked as parkina: spaces or parking are.as. The parking spaces or 

12 
89

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Please add that laundry may not be hung outside to dry (just to be clear)

cgruba
Callout
replace with balconies? There are no residential patios

cgruba
Callout
Remove? There are no outdoor landscaped areas for the residential CCR's because they're on the 2nd & 3rd floors

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Remove. Parking is public, not private.

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
add "shall be disposed of using the trash chute"



parking art>as shall be used only by the Unit Owners or OccupanLS. and their gucsLs invitct'S. and 
employees. 

(o) Except as hereinafter provided, no trucks, truck-mounted campers, motor homes, trailers, house 
trailers, buses, boats, boat rrailers, travel trailers, campers, junk automobiles, dilapidated or disabled 
vehicles of any kind shall be parked on the Properry. The foregoing res1ric1ions shall not prohibit rhe 
remporary parking of trucks and other vehicles providing delivery services 10 the Property. 

(p) No vehicle shall be parked overnight except for (i) no more than one (1) vehicle for each Unit in 
Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium ("Residential Condominium"), and (ii) no more than one 
(I) vehicle for each Unit in Olde Frankfort Mall Commercial Condominium (''Commercial 
Condominium"), which vehicle shall be limited in size 10 thal ofa standard utility van. 

ARTJCLE X 

REMEDIES FOR BREACH OR VIOLATION 

The violation by any Unit Owner (either by their own conduct or by the conduct of their tenant, any other 
occupant of their Unit, or their invitee or guest) of any rule or regulation adopted by the Association or the breach of 
any covenant or provision herein or in the By-Laws contained, shall, in addition to any other rights provided for in 
this Declaration or the By-Laws, give the Association the right: (a) to enter upon the Un it. or any portion of the 
Property upon which, or as to which, such violation or breach exists and to summarily abate and remove, at the 
expense of the defaulting Unit Owner, any structure, thing or condition that may exist thereon contrary to the intent 
and meaning of the provisions hereof. and neither the Association nor the officers, employees or agents thereof shall 
thereby be deemed guilty in any manner of trespass; or (b) to enjoin, abate or remedy by appropriate legal 
proceedings, e ither at law or in equity, the continuance of any breach; o r (c) to take possession of such Unit Owner's 
interest in the Property and to maintain an action for possession of such Un.it in the manner provided by law. 

Provided, howevert that, except in cases of emergency where danrnge to _persons or property is threatened, 
the Association shall not take any such action unless it has (a) first giveo the Unit Owner alleged to ha,•e violated 
any restriction, condition or regulation adopted by the Association or to be in breach of any covenant or provision 
herein or in the By-Laws contained, a hearing on such allegations pursuant to rules and regulations adopted by the 
Association, (b) the Association shall have dctcnnined such allegations to be true, and (c) the Unit Owner shall not 
have desisted from such violation or breach or shall not have taken such steps as shall be necessary to correct such 
violation or breach within such reasonable period of time as determined by the Association and communicated to the 
Unit Owner. Any and all costs and expenses incurred by the Association in the exercise of its authority as granted in 
this Article X, including but not limited to court costs, reasonable attorneys' fees as detem1ined by a court of 
compe1en1 jurisdiction, and cost of labor and materials shall be paid by the Unit Owner in violation, and until paid 
by such Unit Owner, shall constitute a lien on the interesr of such Unit Owner in the Property, which lien may be 
perfected and foreclosed in the manner provided by Section 9 of the Act with respect 10 liens for failure 10 pay a 
share of the Common Expenses. Any such lien shall be junior and subordinare to the lien of a First Mortgagee with 
respect to such Unit. 

Furthermore, if after hearing and finding as aforesaid and failure of the Unit Owner to desist from such 
violation or to take such correcrive action as may be required, the Association shall have the power to issue 10 the 
defaulting Unit Owner, a ten ( I 0) day notice in writing to terminate the rights of the said defaulting Unit Owner to 
continue as a Unit Owner and to continue to occupy, use or control their Unit and thereupon an action in equity may 
be filed by the Association against rhe defaulting Unit Owner for a decree declaring the termination of the defaulting 
Unit Owner's right to occupy, use, or control the Unit owned by them on account of the violation of a ru le or breach 
of covenant or provision as aforesaid and ordering that all the right, title, and interest of the Unit Owner in the 
Property shall be sold (subject to the lien of any existing mortgage) at a judicial sale upon such notice and terms as 
the court shall establish, except that the court shall enjoin and restrain the defaulting Unit Owner from requiring 
their interest at such judicial sale or by virtue of the exercise of any right of redemption which may be established. 
The proceeds of any such judicial sale shall first be paid to• discharge court costs, reasonable attorneys' fees and all 
other expenses of the proceeding and sale, and all such items shall be taxed against the defaulting Unit Owner in 
said decree. Any balance of proceeds after satisfaction of such charges and any unpaid assessments hereunder or 

13 
90

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
This sentence should be removed. There's no space to park a delivery truck on private property and CCR's shouldn't regulate parking within the ROW

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Callout
Not applicable, should be removed



any liens shall be paid to the Unit Owner. Upon the eonfinnation of a foreclosure, the purchaser at the foreclosure 
sale shall thereupon be entitled to a deed to the Unit and to immed iate possession of the Unit sold and may apply to 
the court for a writ of assistance for the purpose of acquiring such possession and it shall be a condition of any such 
sale, and the decree shall so provide, chac the purchaser shall cake the interest in the Property sold subjecc 10 this 
Declaracion and By-Laws. 

ARTICLE XI 

DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION AND RESTORATION OF BUILDING 

I. Sufficient Insurance. In the event the improvements forming a part of the Property, or any portion 
thereof, including any Units, shall suffer damage or destruction from any cause and the proceeds of any policy or 
policies purchased by the Association insuring against such loss or damage, and payable by reason thereof, shall be 
sufficient to pay the cost of repair or restoration or reconstruction, then such repair, restoration, or reconstruction 
shall, subject to the provisions of the Declaration, be unde11aken and the insurance proceeds thereof shall be applied 
by the Board or the payee of such insurance proceeds in payment therefore; provided, however, that in the event 
within one hundred and eighty ( 180) days after said damage or destruction, the Unit Owners shall elect either to sell 
the Property as provided in Article XIII hereof or withdraw the Property from the provisions of this Declaration, and 
from the provisions of the Act as herein provided, then such repair, restoration, or reconstruction shall not be 
undertaken. In the event such repair, restoration, or reconstn1ction is not undertaken, the net proceeds of said 
insurance policies shal I be divided by the Board or the payee of such insurance proceeds among all Unit Owners 
according to each Un it Owner's percentage of ownersh ip iu the Common Elements as set fo r1h in Exhibit 8 , after 
first paying out the amount of any unpaid liens on their Unit, in the order of the priority of such liens. 

2. Insufficient Insurance. 

(a) Subject to the provisions of the Declarati.on, if insurance proceeds are insufficient to reconstruct 
the Building and the Unit Owners and all other parties in interest do riot voluntarily make provision for 
reconstruction of the Building within one hundred and eighty ( 180) days from the date of damage or 
destruction, the Board may record a notice setting forth such facts and upon the recording of such notice: 

(i) The Property shall be deemed to be owned in common by the Unit Owners; 

(ii) The undivided interest in the Property owned in common which shall appertain to each 
Unit Owner shall be the percentage of undivided interest previously owned by such owner in the 
Common Elements; 

(iii) Any liens affecting any of the Uni cs shall be deemed co be transferred in accordance with 
the existing prioricies to che undivided in.terest of the Unit Owner in the Property as provided 
herein; and 

(iv) The Property shall be subject co an action for partition at the suit of any Unit Owner, in 
which event the net proceeds of sale, together with the net proceeds of the insurance on the 
Property purchased by the Association, if any, shall be considered as one fund and shall be divided 
among all the Unit Owners in a percentage equal to the percentage of undivided interest owned by 
each owner in the Property, after firs t paying out of the respective shares of the Unit Owners, to 
the extent sufficient for the purpose, all liens on the undivided interest in the Property owned by 
each Unit Owner. 

(b) Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, in the case of damage or other destruction in which 
fewer than one-half (1/2) of the Units are rendered untenantable, upon the affirmative vote of not fewer 
than three-fourths (3/4) of the Unit Owners voting at a meeting called for that purpose, the Building or 
other portion of the Property shall be reconstructed. The meeting shall be held upon notice within thir1y 
(30) days following the final adjustment of insurallce claims, if any. Otherwise, such meeting shall be held 
within ninety (90) days of die occurrence. At suC:h meeting the Board, or its representative, shall present to 

14 
91



the members in attendance an estimate of the cost ofrcpair or reconstruction, and the estimated amount of 
necessary assessments against each Unit Owner. 

(c) ln rhe case of damage or other desrmction, upon the affinnative vote of not fewer than three-
fourths (3/4) of the Unit Owners voting at a meeting called for that purpose, any portion of the Property 
affected by such damage or destruction may be withdrawn from the Act. Upon the withdrawal of any Unit 
or portion thereof, the percentage of interest in the Common Elements appurtenant 10 such Unit or portion 
thereof shall be reallocated among the remaining Units on the basis of the percentage of interest of each 
remaining Unit. Ifonly a portion ofa Unit is withdrawn, the percentage of interest appurtenant to that Unit 
shall be reduced accordingly, upon the basis of diminution in market value of the Unit, as determined by 
rhe Board of Managers. The payment of just compensation or the allocation of any insurance or other 
proceeds to any withdrawing or remaining Unit Owner shall be on equitable basis, which need not be a 
Unit's percentage interest. Any insurance or other proceeds available in connection with the withdrawal of 
any ponion of rhe Common Elements, nor necessarily including the Limited Common Elements, shall be 
allocated on the basis of each Unit Owner's percentage interest therein. Any proceeds available from the 
withdrawal of any Limited Common Elements wi II be distributed in accordance with the imeresr of those 
entitled ro their use. 

3. Cessation of Common Expenses. Upon the withdrawal of any Unit or portion thereof, the 
responsibility for the payment of assessments on such Unit or po,tion thereof by the Unit owner shall case. 

ARTICLEXJI 

EMINENT DOMAIN 

I. Condemnation. Subject to tbe provisions of the Declaration, in the event of a tak ing or 
condemnation by competent authority of any part of the Property, the Association, shall, if necessary, restore the 
improvements on the remaining portion of the Prope11y to conform as closely as possible to the generJI design, 
structure and materials used with respect to the improvements as they existed prior to the taking or condemnation. 
In the event that part or all of one or more units is taken or oondemned. then the portions so taken or condemned 
shall be deemed to have been removed from the provisions of the Act and the percentage of ownership interest in the 
Common Elements allocated 10 such Unit or portion thereof (as determined by the Board on the basis of diminution 
in market value of the Unit) shall be reallocated among the remaining Units on the basis of the relative percentage of 
ownership interests in the Common Elements of the remaining Units. In such cases, this Declaration and the Plat 
shall be amended accordingly, pursuant 10 the provisions of the Act. The allocation of any condemnation award or 
Other proceeds to any withdrJwing or remaining Unit Owner shall be on an equitable basis, which need not be a 
Unit's percentage of interest in the Common Elements. A111y condemnation award or other proceeds available in 
connection with the withdrawal of any portion of the Common Elements, not necessarily including the Limited 
Common Elements, shall be allocated on the basis of each Unit Owner's percentage of interest in the Common 
Elements. Any such proceeds available from the withdrawal of Limited Common Elements shall be distributed in 
accordance with the interests of those entitled to their use. Upon the withdrawal of any Unit or portion thereof, the 
responsibility for the payment of assessments on such Unic or portion thereof so withdrawn shall cease or shall be 
equitably reduced. 

2. Reallocation of Common Elements and Condemnation Award. Upon the withdrawal of any Unit 
or portion thereof due 10 eminent domain, the percentage of interest in the Common Elements appurtenant to such 
Unit or portion thereof shall be reallocated among the remaining Units on the basis of the percentage of interest of 
each remaining Unit. If only a portion of a Unir is withdrawn, the percentage of interest appurtenant to that Unit 
shall be reduced accordingly, upon the basis of diminution in market value of the Unit, as determined by the Board. 
The allocation of any condemnation award or other proceeds to any withdrawing or remaining Unit Owner shall be 
on an equitable basis which need not be a Unit's percenrage interest. Any condemnation award or other proceeds 
available in connection with the withdrawal of any portion of the Common Elements, not necessarily including the 
Limited Common Elements, shall be allocated on the basis of each Unit Owner's percentage interest therein. 
Proceeds available from the withdrawal of any Limited Common Element will be distributed in accordance with the 
interests of those entitled to their use. 

15 
92



3. Cessation of Common Expenses. Up<)n the withdrawal of any Unit or portion thereof, the 
responsibility for the payment of as_~essmenL~ on such Unitt or portion thereof by the Unit Owner shall cease. 

ARTICLEXJU 

SALE OF THE PROPERTY AND REMOVAL 
OF PROPERTY FROM THE ACT 

I. Sale. The Unit Owners, through the affin native vote of Voting Members having at least sevemy-
five percem (75%) of the total votes, at a meeting duly called for such purpose, may elect to sell the Property as a 
whole. Within ten (10) days after the date of the meeting a t which such sale was approved, the Board shall given 
writlen notice of such action to the holder of any duly recorded mortgage or trust deed against any Unit. Such action 
shall be binding upon all Unit Owners, and it shall thereupon become the dmy of every Unit Owner to execuie and 
deliver such instruments and to perform all acts as in manner or form as may be necessary to effect such sale, 
provided, however, that any Unit Owner who did not vote-in favor of such action and who has filed written 
objection thereto with the Board within twenty (20) days after the date of the meeting al which such sale as 
approved, shall be enti!led to receive from the proceeds of such sale an amount equivalent to the fair market value of 
their interest, as determined by arbitration provided for herein, less the amount of any unpaid assessments or charges 
due and owing from such Unit Owner. In the absence of agreement on the fair market value of such interest, the 
U11it Owner and the Board shall each select an appraiser, alld the two so selected shall select a third appraiser, and 
the fair market value, as detenuined by the third appraiser, shall control. If either party shall fail to select an 
appraiser, then the one designated by the other party shall determine the value of the Unit Owner's interest. The 
cost of the appraisal shall be divided equally between the Unit Owner and the Board, and the Board's share shall be 
a Common Expense. 

2. Removal from Act. All of the Unit Owners may remove the Property from the provisions of the 
Act by an instrument to that effect duly recorded, provided that the holders of all liens affecting any of the Uni ts 
consent thereto or agree .. in either case by instruments duly recorded. that their liens be transferred to the undivided 
interest of the Unit Owner. Upon such removal, the Property shall be deemed to be owned in common by all the 
Unit Owners. The undivided interest in the Property owned in common which shall appertain to each owner shall be 
the percentage of undivided interest previously owned by such owner in the Common Elements. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Property may not be removed from the provisions of the Act unleS-~ all Unit Owners of the Olde 
Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium, together with the holders of all liens affecting any of the Units consent 
thereto or agree, in either case by instruments duly recorded. 

I. Amendments. 

ARTI CLE XIV 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

(a) Subject to the provisions of this Article XIV, the Condominium Instruments may be amended, 
changed, or modified only upon the affirtnative vote of three-fourths (3/4) of the Unit Owners; provided, 
however, that if any provision of the Act or any od,er provision of this Declaration, or the By-Laws 
expressly provides for different methods of amendment or different majorities of affirmative votes 
necessary to amend, such provisions shall control over the provisions of this Article XIV. Prior to the 
recording of any amendment to the Condominium Instruments, an affidavit, executed by an officer of the 
Association, shall be attached to such amendment. Such affidavit must certify that the requisite affinnative 
vote of Unit Owners (or of the Board if applicable) and the approval of all mortgagees having bona fide 
liens of record against the Units ( only if any provision of the Condominium Instruments require such 
approval by mortgagee.s) has been made and given and that a copy of the amendment has been mailed by 
certified mail to all mortgagees having bona fide liens of record against the Units no less than ten (I 0) days 
prior to the date of such affidavit. 

(b) Any amendment, change or modificatioo of the Condominium Instruments shall be effective upon 
the recording of such instrument in the office of the Recorder of Deeds of Will County, Illinois, unless the 

16 
93



instrument sets forth a different effective date. No provision in the C,)ndominium Instruments may be 
amended, changed or modified so as to conflict with the provisions of the Act. A copy of any amendment, 
change or modification shall be provided to all U,iit Owners. Unless otherwise provided by the Act, 
amendments to the Condominium Instruments shall be executed and recorded by the President of the 
Association or by such other officer authorized by the Board. 

(c) Subject to the terms of this Article XIV, no amendment which affeccs the rights, privileges or 
obligations of Oeclarant or its agents, successors o r assigns shall be effective wi1hou1 che prior written 
consent (contained on the face of any such amendment) of any such party whose rights, privileges or 
obligations are, or would be, so affected. 

(d) Except to the extent authorized by other provisions of this Declaration or by the Act, no 
amendment to the Condominium Instruments shall change che boundaries of any Unit or the undivided 
interest in the Common Elements, the number of votes in che Association, or the liability for Common 
Expenses appertaining to a Unit. 

(e) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Declaration, Declarant reserves for itself, and on 
behalfofthe Board, the right at any time from time to time to record an amendment to this Declaration, 
including any Exhibit hereto, or any supplement or amendment thereto, to (i) confonn this Declaration with 
the requirements of the Act or any ordinance of the Village of Frankfo11, Illinois; or (ii) con-ect clerical, 
typographical or inadve11ent enors in this Declaration or in any of the Exh ibit hereto; or (iii) complete the 
data on the Plat after improvements constructed at any time on the Parcel are completed subsequent to the 
time this Declaration is first recorded; or (iv) c-0mply with requirements of the Fannie Mae, the 
Government National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mo11gage Corporation, the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development, the Federal Housing Association, the Veterans 
Administration, or any other governmental agency or any other public, quasi•public or private entity wbicb 
performs (or may in the future perfonn) tlmctions s imilar to those currently perfom1ed by such entities, or 
(v) induce any of such agencies or entities to make. purchase .• sell, insurnnce, or guarnntee first mo11gages 
covering the Units. In the furtherance of the foregoing, each Unit Owner and each holder of a mortgage, 
trust deed, or lien affecting any Unit and each rerson having aoy other interest in the Prope11y bereby 
grants to Declarant and Board and each of tl1em (and Declarant hereby reserves for each oftbem) an 
irrevocable Power of Attorney coupled with an interest on behalf of each Unit Owner and each such holder 
or Person to make, sign, and record on behalf of each Unit Owner and each such ho Ider and Person any 
amendment described in this Article XIV. Each deed, mortgage, trust deed, or evidence of obligation or 
Other instrument affecting a Unit or the Property and the acceptance of any such instrument shall be 
deemed to be a gr.311t and acknowledgment of. and a consent to the reservation of, the aforedescribed Power 
of Attorney to Declarant, to make, sign and record on behalf of each of the Unit Owners, holders and 
Persons described in this Article XIV any amendment described in this Article XIV. The Power of 
Attorney described in this Article XIV shall terminate three (3) years from the recording date of this 
Declaration. 

(a) Nocices provided for in the Ace, this Declaration or the By-Laws shall be in writing, and shall be 
addressed to (i) the Association (in care of its Secretary), or the Board, as the case may be, at 2 19 Olde 
Frankfort Mall , Frankfort, Illinois 60423, and to each Unit Owner at the address assigned 10 said Unic 
Owner's Unic, or, in either case, at such other address of which notice has been given as provided herein 
below. The Association and the Board may designate a different address or addresses for notices 10 them, 
respectively, by giving written notice of such change of address to all Unit Owners. Any Unit Owner may 
designate a different address for notices to them by giving written notice to the Association. Notices 
addressed as above shall be deemed delivered two (2) business days after mailing by United States 
regiscered or ce11itied mail, retum receipt requesced, or on the day when delivered in person with written 
acknowledgement of the receipt thereof. 

17 
94



(b) Up-On written request to the Board, the ho lder of any recorded mMtgagc or trust deed encumbering 
any Unit shall be given a copy of all Mtices pem1.itted or required by the Act, this Declaration is to be 
given to the Owner or Owners whose Unit is subject to such mortgage or trust deed. 

(c) No1ices required to be given any devisee or personal representative of a deceased Unit Owner may 
be delivered either personally or by mail to such part a1 their or its address appearing in the records of the 
court wherein the estate of such deceased Uni1 Owner is being administered. 

3. Binding Effect. Each grantee of the Dedarant, by acceptance of a deed of conveyance, or each 
purchaser under any contract for such deed of conveyance, accepts the same subject to all restrictions, conditions, 
covenants, reservations, liens, and charges, and the jurisdiction, rights, and powers creaced or reserved by the 
Declaration, and all rights, benefits, and privileges of every character hereby granted, created, reserved, or declared, 
and all impositions and obligations hereby imposed shall l>e deemed and taken to be covenants running with the land 
and shall bind any Person having at any time any interest or estate in the Property or any Unit, and shall inure to the 
benefit of such Unit Owner in the like manner as though the provisions of the Declaration were recited and 
stipulated at length in each and every deed of conveyance. 

4. Non-Waiver. Except as expressly provided in this Declaration to the contrary, no consent or 
waiver, expressed or implied, by any interested party refen·ed to herein, to or of any breach or default by any other 
interested party refen-ed to herein, in the performance by such other pany of any obligations contained herein, shall 
be deemed a consent to or waiver of the perfonnance by such party of any other obligations hereunder, or the 
performance by any other interested party referred to herei:n or of the same, or of any obligations hereunder. 

5. Waiver of Damages. The Declarant nor its respective representative.s or designees shall be liable 
for any claim whatsoever arising out of or by reason of any actions perfonned pursuant to any authority granted to 
or delegated by or pursuant to th is Dec1aration, or in tbe Declaranfs capacity as developer. contractor, Owner, 
manager, seller or lessor of the Property whether or not such claim (a) shall be asserted by any Owner, Occupant, the 
Board or the Association, or by any person or entity claiming tbrough any of them; or (b) shall be on account of 
injury to person or damage to or loss of property wherever located and however caused; or (c) shall arise M 
contrnctu or ex deijctu (except in ca,,e of willful malfeasance). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, tbe 
foregoing enumeration includes all claims for, or arising by reason ot~ the Property or any part tbereofbeing or 
becoming out of repair or containing any patent or latent defects, or by rea.')on of any act or neglect of any Owner, 
Occupant, the Board, the Association, and their respective agents, employees, guests, and invitees, or by reason of 
any neighboring property or personal property located on or about the Property, or by reason of the failure to 
function, or disrepair or. any utility services. 

6. Invalidity. The invalidity of any covenant, restriction, condition, limitation, or any other provision 
of this Declaration, or of any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any manner the validity, enforceability, or 
effect of the remainder of this Declaration. 

7. Pemetuities and Restraints. If any of the options, privileges, covenants, or rights created by this 
Declaration would otherwise be unlawful or void for violations of (a) the rule against perpetuities or some analogous 
statutory provision, (b) 1he rules restricting restraints or alienation, or (c) any other statutory or common law mies 
imposing time limits, then such provision shall continue only un1il twency-one (2 1) years after the death of the last to 
die of the now living lawful descendants of George Walker Bush, President of the United States. 

8. Liens. In the even any lien exists against two (2) or more Units and the indebtedness secured by 
such lien is due and payable, the Unit Owner of any such Unit so affec1ed may remove such Unit and the undivided 
interest in the Common Elements appertaining thereto from such lien by payment of the prop-0rtional amount of such 
indebtedness attributable 10 such Unit. In the event such lien exists against the Units or against the Property, the 
amount of such proportional payment shall be computed on the basis of the percentage set forth in the Declaration. 
Up-0n payment as herein provided, it is the duty of the encumbrancer to execute and deliver 10 the Unit Owner a 
release of such Unit and the undivided interest in the Common Elements appertaining thereto from such lien. 

The owner of such Unit shall not be liable for any claims, damages, or judgments entered as a result of any 
action or inaction of the Board other than for mechanics' liens as hereinafter set forth. Each Unit Owner's liability 

18 
95



fbr any judgment entered against the Board or the Association, if any, shall be limited to their proportionate share of 
the indebtedness as set forth herein, whether collection is s.ought through a~sessment or otherwise. A Unit Owner 
shall be liable for any claim, damage, or j udgment entered as a result of the use or operation of their Unit, or caused 
by their own conduct. 

!fas a result of work expressly authorized by the Board, a mechanics' lien claim is placed against the 
Property or any portion of the Property, each Unit Owner shall be deemed 10 have expressly authorized it and 
consented thereto and shall be liable for the payment of their Unit's proportionate share of any due and payable 
indebtedness. 

9. Release of Claims. Each Unit Owner hereby waives and releases any and all claims which they 
may have against any other Unit Owner, Occupant, the Association, its officers, members of the Board, the 
Declarant, the managing agent, their respective employees and agents, the Olde Frankfort Mall Residential 
Condominium Association, its occupants, unit owners, officers and members of its board for damage to the 
Common Elements, the Units, or to any personal Property located in the Units or Common Elements, caused by fi re 
or other casualty, to the extent that such damage is covered by fire or other fonn of casualty insurance. 

I 0. Constmction. The provisions of this Declaration shall be liberally constmed to effectuate its 
purpose of creating a uniform plan for the operation of a mixed use commercial/office/retail and residential 
condominium build ing. 

I I. Headings. The headings and captions contained herein are inserted for convenient reference only 
and shall not be deemed to construe or limit the sections an d articles to which they apply. 

12. Number and Gender. As used in this Declaration, the singular shall include the plural, and 
masculine, feminine and neuter pronouns shall be fully inte.rchangeabte., where the context so requires. 

13. Land Trust Owners' Exculpation. In the event tit le to any Unit ownership is conveyed to a land 
title holding trust, under the tenns of which all powers of management, operation, and control of the Un it Ownership 
remain vested in the trust beneficiary or beneficiaries. then the Unit owoership under such trust and the beneficiaries 
thereunder from time to ti.me sball be responsible for payment of all obligations, liens, or indebtedness and for the 
performance of all agreemcntS, covenants, and undertakings chargeable or created under this Declaration against 
such Unit Ownership. No claim shall be made against any such title holding trustee personally for payment of any 
claim or obligation hereunder created and the trustee shall not be obligated to sequester funds or trust Property 10 

apply in whole or in part against such lien or obligation. The amount of such lien or obligation shall continue to be a 
charge or lien upon the Unit ownership and the beneficiaries of such trust notwithstanding any trJnsfers of the 
beneficial interest of any such trust or any transfers of title of such Unit ownership. 

19 
96



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caus ed its name t<) be signed in these presents by its President 
and aucsted by its Secretary this ___ day of ______ ~ 2023 . 

ATTEST: 

By: _________ _ 
Name: 
Its Secretary 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF __ _ 

) 
) ss. 
) 

SHI-NAPS, LLC - SERIES I 
OLDE FRANKFORT MALL 

By: ____________ _ 
Name: 
Its Pres ident 

I, ______ _,. a Notary Public in and for the County aod State aforesaid, DO HEREBY CERTI FY, 
that , who is the President and Secretary of SHI-NA.PS, LLC - SERIES I - OLDE 
FRANKFORT MALL, personally known to me to be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the foregoing 
instrument as such President and Secretary, respectively, 3J)peared before me th is day i_n person, and acknowledged 
that they signed and delivered the said instrument as their free and voluntary Act and as the free and voluntary act of 
SHI-NA.PS, LLC - SERIES I - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL. for the use and purposes therein set forth. 

Given under my hand and seal this ____ day of ______ ., 2023. 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

20 
97



EXHilBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL (PROPERTY) 

THE SOUTH 36- 1/2 FEET OF LOT 3, AND ALL OF LOT 4 IN BLCOK I IN BOWEN'S SUBDIVISION OF 
BLOCKS I, 12 AND 13, fN THE ORIGINAL TOWN OF FRANKFORT, ACCORDfNG TO THE PLAT 
THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 29, 1857, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 27610, IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOS. 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT - INGRESS/EGRESS: 

THE COMMON AREAS AS THEY MAY EXIST FROM TIME TO TIME ON THE PLAT OF CONDOMINIUM 

UNDERLYING PIN: I 9-09-28-208-003-0000 

21 
98



EXHIBITB 

PERCENTAGE OF OWNERSHIP INTEREST TABLE 
FOR CONDOMINIUM UNITS 

IN 
OLDE FRANKFORT MALL RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUM 

FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS 

Unit Percentage of Ownership 

Total 100% 

22 
99



EXHfBITD 

PLAT OF SURVEY 
FOR 

OLDE FRANKFORT MALL RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUM ATTACHED HERETO 

23 
100



SCHOOL DISTRICT CERTIFICATE 

STATE OF lLUNOlS 

COlJNTYOF ___ _ 

) 
) ss 
) 

We the undersigned, as Owners of the property described as the Olde Frankfort Mall Residential Condominium, 
hereby certify that to the best of our knowledge said proper ry is located within the boundaries of Elementar)' School 
Disirict 157 C, and High School District 210, in Will County, Illinois. 

Dated:-------~ A.O. 2023 

SHI-NAPS, LLC - SERIES I - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL 

BY: _____________ _ 

President 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF ____ _ 

) 
) ss 
) 

ATTEST: _____ _____ _ 
Secretary 

I, ______________ _, a notary public in and for said County in the State aforesaid, do hereby 
certify that ____________ , President, atnd , secretary, of SHI-NAPS, 
LLC - SERJES I - OLDE FRAN KFORT MALL, an Ill inois limited liabil ity company, personally known to me to 
be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day and 
acknowledged ll,at they signed and delivered the foregoing instrument as their own free and voluntary act and as the 
free and voluntary act of said corporation. 

Given under my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ________ , A.D. 2023 

BY: ___ __________ _ _ 
Notary Public 

My commission expires _________ _ 

24 
101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110

cgruba
Received



111



112



113



114



115



OLDE FRANKFORT MALL
PROPOSED NEW 3-STORY MIXED USE

DEVELOPMENT
15 ASH STREET / 22 WHITE STREET, FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS 60423

ISSUED FOR PCZBA - 04/28/2023

SHEET INDEX
P-0 TITLE SHEET AND PROJECT INFORMATION

15 ASH STREET RESUBDIVISION PLAT
PLAT OF SURVEY

L-1 LANDSCAPE PLAN

P-1 EXISTING CONDITIONS PHOTOS
P-2 PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN
P-3 PRELIMINARY BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN
P-4 PRELIMINARY FIRST FLOOR PLAN
P-5 PRELIMINARY SECOND FLOOR PLAN
P-6 PRELIMINARY THIRD FLOOR/ LOW ROOF PLAN
P-7 PRELIMINARY ROOF PLAN
P-8 PRELIMINARY BUILDING ELEVATIONS
P-8R PRELIMINARY BUILDING ELEVATIONS RENDERED
P-9 PRELIMINARY BUILDING ELEVATIONS
P-9R PRELIMINARY BUILDING ELEVATIONS RENDERED
P-10 EXTERIOR MATERIALS
P-11 PRELIMINARY BUILDING SECTION
P-12 RENDERED VIEWS
P-13 RENDERED VIEWS
P-14 SUN STUDY
P-15 SITE / FIRST FLOOR PHOTOMETRIC PLAN
P-16 THIRD FLOOR PHOTOMETRIC PLAN
P-17 EXAMPLES OF OTHER 3 STORY BUILDINGS

COVER
SHEET

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-0

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

RECEIVED 5.4.23

116



145.60'

N 89°33'46" E

8
6
.
3
0
'

S
 
0
1
°
3
3
'
5
4
"
 
E

145.60'

S 89°33'46" W

8
6
.
3
0
'

N
 
0
1
°
 
3
3
'
 
5
4
"
 
W

[
3
6
.
5
0
'
]

[
4
9
.
5
0
'
]

FOUND CROSS-NOTCH

AT PROPERTY CORNER

FOUND IRON PIPE AT

PROPERTY CORNER

FOUND NOTCH AT

PROPERTY LINE

A
P

P
R

O
X

I
M

A
T

E
 
C

E
N

T
E

R
L
I
N

E
 
O

F
 
P

A
V

E
M

E
N

T

C

L THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 36 1/2 FEET OF

LOT 3 IN BLOCK 1 IN BOWEN'S SUBDIVISION

C

L

[
3
6
.
5
0
'
]

[
4
9
.
5
0
'
]

SET

CONCRETE

MONUMENT

SET

CONCRETE

MONUMENT

[159.50']

[159.50']

[
1
3
.
0
'
]

[
4
0
.
0
0
'
]

[
2
0
.
0
0
'
]

[
1
3
.
0
'
]

[
4
0
.
0
0
'
]

[
2
0
.
0
0
'
]

[159.50']

[159.50']

[159.50']

[13.00']

[13.00']

[13.00']

[
3
6
.
5
0
'
]

[13.00']

[13.00']

[
3
7
.
0
0
'
]

[13.00']

[
1
2
.
5
0
'
]

DEDICATED PER DOC. NO. 897898

2
0
'
 
D

E
D

I
C

A
T

E
D

 
P

E
R

 
D

O
C

.
 
N

O
.
 
2
7
6
1
0
 
(
B

O
W

E
N

'
S

 
S

U
B

D
I
V

I
S

I
O

N
)

13' DEDICATED PER DOC. NO. 681758

13' DEDICATED PER DOC. NO. 681759

13' DEDICATED PER DOC. NO. 559054

E
A

S
T

 
L
I
N

E
 
O

F
 
L
O

T
 
4

E
A

S
T

 
L
I
N

E
 
O

F
 
L
O

T
 
3

[20.00']

[20.00']

[20.00']

DEDICATED PER DOC. NO. 897897

60.00'

D
E

D
I
C

A
T

E
D

 
P

E
R

 
D

O
C

.
 
N

O
.
 
2
2
8
7
7

(
O

R
I
G

I
N

A
L
 
T

O
W

N
 
O

F
 
F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

)

S
M

I
T

H
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

OREGON    STREET

FRANKFORT, IL

...                                            ...

INDICATES SITE LOCATION

VICINITY MAP

(NOT TO SCALE)

NEBRASKA    STREET

KANSAS STREET

ELWOOD STREET

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

S
T

R
E

E
T

O
A

K
 
 
 
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

A
S

H
 
 
 
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

W
H

I
T

E
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

C
E

N
T

E
R

 
R

O
A

D

L
I
N

D
E

N
 
D

R
I
V

E

An easement is hereby reserved for and granted to

and the

15 ASH STREET  RESUBDIVISION

GRAPHIC SCALE

( IN FEET )

0

201020

1 inch = 20 ft.

SHI NAPS, LLC - SERIES 1 - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL

8802 CALUMET AVENUE

ST. JOHN, INDIANA 46373

its respective successors and assigns ("NI-Cor") to install, operate,  maintain, repair, replace and remove,

facilities used in connection with the transmission and distribution of natural gas in, over, under, across, along

and upon the surface of the property shown on this plat marked "Easement,"  "Common Area or Areas" and

streets and alleys, whether public or private,  and the property designated in the Declaration of Condominium

and/or on this plat as "Common Elements," together with the right to install required  service connections over or

under the surface of each lot and Common Area  or Areas to serve improvements thereon, or on adjacent lots,

and Common  Area or Areas, and to serve other property, adjacent or otherwise, and the  right to remove

obstructions, including but not limit to, trees, bushes, roots  and fences, as may be reasonably required incident

to the rights herein given, and the right to enter upon the property for all such purposes. Obstructions shall not be

placed over NI-Cor's facilities or in, upon or over the property identified on this plat for utility purposes without the

prior written  consent of NI-Cor. After installation of any such facilities, the grade of the  property shall not be

altered in a manner so as to interfere with the proper operation and maintenance thereof.

The term "Common Elements" shall have that meaning set forth for such  term in Section 605/2(e) of the

"Condominium Property Act" (Illinois Compiled Statutes, Ch. 765, Sec. 605/2(e) ) as amended from time to time.

The term "Common Area or Areas" is defined as a lot, parcel or area of real property, including real property

surfaced with interior driveways and walkways, the beneficial use and enjoyment of which is reserved in whole

as an appurtenance to the separately owned lots, parcels or areas within the property, even though such areas

may be designated on this plat by other terms.

PUBLIC UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENTS

ALL EASEMENTS INDICATED AS PUBLIC UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENTS ON THE PLAT ARE RESERVED

FOR AND GRANTED TO THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT AND TO THOSE PUBLIC UTILITY COMPANIES

OPERATING UNDER FRANCHISE FROM THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO,

AMERITECH TELEPHONE COMPANY, NICOR GAS COMPANY, COMMONWEALTH EDISON ELECTRIC

COMPANY, COMCAST TELEVISION COMPANY AND THEIR SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, FOR PERPETUAL

RIGHT, PRIVILEGE AND AUTHORITY TO CONSTRUCT, RECONSTRUCT, REPAIR, INSPECT, MAINTAIN AND

OPERATE VARIOUS UTILITIES, TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS INCLUDING STORM AND/OR

SANITARY SEWERS, WATER MAINS, VALVE VAULTS, AND HYDRANTS TOGETHER WITH ANY AND ALL

NECESSARY MANHOLES, CATCH BASINS, CONNECTIONS, APPLIANCES AND OTHER STRUCTURES AND

APPURTENANCES AS MAY BE DEEMED NECESSARY BY SAID VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, OVER, UPON,

ALONG, UNDER, THROUGH SAID INDICATED EASEMENT, TOGETHER WITH RIGHT OF ACCESS ACROSS

PROPERTY FOR NECESSARY MEN AND EQUIPMENT TO DO ANY OF THE ABOVE WORK; THE RIGHT IS ALSO

GRANTED TO CUT DOWN, TRIM, OR REMOVE TREES, SHRUBS, OR OTHER PLANTS ON THE EASEMENT

THAT INTERFERE WITH THE OPERATION OF THE SEWERS AND OTHER UTILITIES. NO PERMANENT

BUILDINGS, TREES OR OTHER STRUCTURES SHALL INTERFERE WITH THE AFORESAID USES OR RIGHTS.

WHERE AN EASEMENT IS USED FOR BOTH SEWER AND/OR WATER MAINS AND OTHER UTILITIES, THE

OTHER UTILITY INSTALLATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO THE ORDINANCES OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT.  THE

PLACEMENT OF ANY LANDSCAPING NOT IN WITH THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN OR GRADING PLAN

FOR A GIVEN PROPERTY, OR ANY ACCESSORY BUILDING OR STRUCTURE, SWIMMING POOL, FENCE OR

OTHER IMPROVEMENT WHICH IN ANY WAY COULD CAUSE AN IMPEDIMENT TO THE OVERLAND FLOW OF

STORM WATER WITHIN SAID DRAINAGE EASEMENT IS HEREBY PROHIBITED.

01-26-2022

P

P

L

.

R

M

A

N

E

,

L

I

E

N

A

D

.

W

R

R

NE

K

O

M

A

PROFESSIONAL

LAND

SURVEYOR

STATE OF

ILLINOIS

O

3152

BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4  OF SECTION 28, TOWNSHIP 35

NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT

WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

P.I.N.  =  19-09-28-208-003-0000

CONTAINING 12,564 SQ.FT., 0.288 ACRE.

NOTARY CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ____________________ )

COUNTY OF __________________  ) SS

I, ________________________________________, NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR SAID COUNTY AND STATE, DO

HEREBY CERTIFY THAT______________________________,  OF SHI NAPS, LLC - SERIES 1 - OLDE FRANKFORT

MALL DID PERSONALLY APPEAR BEFORE ME THIS DAY AND ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY DID SIGN THE

HEREON DRAWN PLAT AS THE FREE AND  VOLUNTARY ACT OF SAID LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY.

GIVEN MY SIGNATURE AND  SEAL

DATED THIS _________DAY OF________________________________, A.D.  2022.

____________________________________________________________________________

                                                NOTARY PUBLIC

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES _________________________________

TAX MAPPING AND PLATTING CERTIFICATION

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF WILL ) SS

I , ____________________________________________ ,DIRECTOR OF THE TAXING MAPPING AND PLATTING

OFFICE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I HAVE CHECKED THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON THIS PLAT AGAINST

AVAILABLE COUNTY RECORDS AND FIND SAID DESCRIPTION TO BE TRUE AND CORRECT. THE PROPERTY

HEREIN DESCRIBED IS LOCATED ON TAX MAP NO. _________ AND IDENTIFIED AS

PERMANENT REAL ESTATE TAX INDEX NUMBER (PIN) 19-09-28-208-003-0000.

DATED THIS _____________ DAY OF ____________________________ , 2022, A.D..

BY: ___________________________________________________________________________

                                                              DIRECTOR

DRAINAGE  CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF WILL  ) SS

TO THE BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF THE DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATERS WILL NOT BE

CHANGED BY THE CONSTRUCTION OF SUCH SUBDIVISION OR ANY PART THEREOF, OR, THAT IF SUCH

SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE WILL BE CHANGED, REASONABLE PROVISIONS HAVE BEEN MADE FOR THE

COLLECTION AND DIVERSION OF SUCH SURFACE WATER INTO PUBLIC AREAS OR DRAINS WHICH THE

SUBDIVIDER HAS THE RIGHT TO USE, AND THAT SUCH SURFACE WATERS WILL BE PLANNED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED ENGINEERING PRACTICES SO AS TO REDUCE THE

LIKELIHOOD OF DAMAGE TO ADJOINING PROPERTY BECAUSE OF THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE

SUBDIVISION.

DATED  THIS _______ DAY OF _____________________________________ , A.D.  2022.

___________________________________________________________________________

                                      REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

___________________________________________________________________________

                                                   OWNER OR ATTORNEY

their respective successors and assigns, jointly and severally, to install, operate, maintain and remove, from

time to time, facilities used in connection with underground transmission and distribution of electricity and

sounds and signals in, under, across, along and upon the surface of the property shown within the dashed

lines on the plat and marked "Easement", the property designated in the Declaration of Condominium and/or

on this plat as "Common Elements", and the property designated on the plat as "Common area or areas", and

the property designated on the plat for streets and alleys, whether public or private, together with the right to

install required service connections under the surface of each lot and common area or areas to serve

improvements thereon, or on adjacent lots, and common area or areas, the right to cut, trim or remove trees,

bushes and roots as may be reasonably required incident to the rights herein given, and the right to enter

upon the subdivided property for all such purposes.  Obstructions shall not be placed over grantees' facilities

or in, upon or over the property within the dashed lines marked "Easement" without the prior written consent

of grantees.  After installation of any such facilities, the grade of the subdivided property shall not be altered in

a manner so as to interfere with the proper operation and maintenance thereof.

The term "Common Elements" shall have that meaning set forth for such term in Section 2(e) of "An act in

relation to condominiums" (Illinois Revised Statutes, Ch. 30, par. 302(e), as amended from time to time.   .

The term "common area or areas" is defined as a lot, parcel or area of real property, the beneficial use and

enjoyment of which is reserved in whole as an appurtenance to the separately owned lots, parcels or areas

within the planned development, even though such be otherwise designated on the plat by terms such as,

"outlots", "common elements", "open space", "open area", "common ground", "parking and common area".

The terms "common area or areas" and "Common Elements" includes real property surfaced with interior

driveways and walkways, but excludes real property physically occupied by a building, Service Business

District or structures such as a pool or retention pond, or mechanical equipment.      Relocation of facilities will

be done by Grantees at cost of Grantor/Lot Owner, upon written request.

An easement for serving the subdivision and other property

with electric and communications service is hereby reserved

for and granted to

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION APPROVAL

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF WILL ) SS

I, _______________________________, CHAIRMAN OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLANNING AND ZONING

COMMISSION, DO CERTIFY THIS __________ DAY OF_____________________, 2022 A.D., THIS PLAT OF

SUBDIVISION WAS DULY APPROVED BY THE PLANNING AND ZONNING COMMISSION OF THE VILLAGE OF

FRANKFORT.

ATTEST: ________________________________________________________

                                             CHAIRMAN

BY: ______________________________________________________________

VILLAGE BOARD APPROVAL

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF WILL ) SS

APPROVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, WILL COUNTY,

ILLINOIS, THIS  __________ DAY OF_____________________, 2022 A.D.

ATTEST: ________________________________________________________

                                       VILLAGE CLERK

BY: ______________________________________________________________

                                     VILLAGE PRESIDENT

                           _____________________________ (SEAL)

CIVIL ENGINEERING  LAND SURVEYING  ENVIRONMENTAL  LAND PLANNING  GPS SERVICES

PHONE: 708-720-1000    FAX: 708-720-1065

9455 ENTERPRISE DRIVE, MOKENA, ILLINOIS 60448

e-mail: survey@jaseng.com      http://www.jaseng.com

Joseph A. Schudt & Associates

COUNTY CLERK CERTIFICATION

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF WILL ) SS

I, _____________________________________, COUNTY CLERK OF WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS, DO HEREBY

CERTIFY THAT THERE ARE NO DELINQUENT GENERAL TAXES, OR UNPAID CURRENT GENERAL TAXES

AGAINST ANY OF THE ESTATE DESCRIBED IN THE FOREGOING CERTIFICATES.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL AT _________________________, ILLINOIS,

THIS ___________ DAY OF _____________________________, 2022, A.D.

        _________________________________________________       (SEAL)

                                 COUNTY CLERK

SURVEYORS CERTIFICATION

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF WILL ) SS

I, D. WARREN OPPERMAN, A PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, DO HEREBY

CERTIFY THAT UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE OWNER THEREOF, I HAVE SURVEYED, RESUBDIVIDED AND

PLATTED SAID PROPERTY INTO ONE LOTS ALL OF WHICH IS REPRESENTED ON THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN,

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF  SECTION 28, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

THE SOUTH 36 1/2 FEET OF LOT 3, AND ALL OF LOT  4, IN BLOCK 1 IN BOWEN'S SUBDIVISION OF BLOCKS 1, 12

AND 13, IN THE ORIGINAL TOWN OF FRANKFORT, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JUNE 29,

1857, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 27610, IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS (EXCEPT THAT PART TAKEN FOR PUBLIC

ROAD PURPOSES PER DEDICATION DOCUMENT 681758, IN BOOK 1153, PAGE 579, RECORDED OCTOBER 27,

1950 AND EXCEPT THAT PART TAKEN FOR PUBLIC ROAD PURPOSES PER DEDICATION DOCUMENT 681759, IN

BOOK 1153, PAGE 583, RECORDED OCTOBER 27, 1950).

I DO FURTHER CERTIFY THAT:

1. THE ACCOMPANYING PLAT IS A TRUE AND CORRECT REPRESENTATION OF SAID SURVEY AND

          SUBDIVISION AS MADE BY ME.

2. THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT WE HAVE EXAMINED FIRM MAP NUMBER 17197C0326 G, WHICH BEARS AN

          EFFECTIVE DATE OF FEBRUARY 15, 2019, AS ISSUED BY THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

          AGENCY FOR WILL COUNTY, WITH REFERENCE TO THE ABOVE NAMED  TRACT, AND FIND THE

          PROPERTY TO BE IN ZONE "X" UNSHADED WHICH IS AN AREA DETERMINED TO BE AREA OF MINIMAL

          FLOOD HAZARD. THIS STATEMENT IS FOR FLOOD INSURANCE PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT

          NECESSARILY INDICATE ALL AREAS SUBJECT TO FLOODING.

3.      THE PROPERTY OR PLAT IS SITUATED WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT.

4.      TO THE BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE, ALL REGULATIONS ENACTED BY THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT HAVE

         BEEN COMPLIED WITH IN THE  PREPARATION OF THIS PLAT.

5.       ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN FEET AND DECIMAL.

6.       EXTERIOR CORNERS HAVE BEEN MONUMENTED WITH CONCRETE, NOT LESS THAN SIX INCHES (6”) IN

          DIAMETER AND THIRTY-SIX INCHES  (36”) DEEP, WITH A CENTER COPPER DOWEL THREE INCHES (3”)

          LONG CAST IN PLACE, AND ALL INTERIOR CORNERS ARE TO BE SET WITH  9/16” X 30” IRON RODS

          WITHIN ONE YEAR FROM DATE OF RECORDATION.

7.       BASIS OF BEARING IS ASSUMED.

8.       THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICE COMFORMS TO THE CURRENT ILLINOIS MINIMAL STANDARDS FOR

          A BOUNDARY SURVEY.

DATED THIS ____________ DAY OF __________________________, 2022, A.D.

ILLINOIS REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR NO. 3152

BY:______________________________________________________________

       ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR NO. 3152 (EXP. 11-30-22)

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ____________________ )

COUNTY OF __________________  ) SS

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT  SHI NAPS, LLC - SERIES 1 - OLDE FRANKFORT MALL, A SERIES LIMITED LIABILITY

COMPANY IS THE OWNER OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN THE FOREGOING CERTIFICATE AND HAS CAUSED

THE SAME TO BE SURVEYED AND RESUBDIVIDED, AS INDICATED ON THE PLAT, FOR THE USES AND

PURPOSES THEREIN SET FORTH, AND THAT THE SAME ABOVE DESCRIBED PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN

SCHOOL DISTRICTS:  FRANKFORT SCHOOL DISTRICT 157C AND LINCOLN-WAY SCHOOL DISTRICT 210, AND

JOLIET JUNIOR COLLEGE DISTRICT 525 AND THAT THEY  HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE AND ADOPT THE SAME

UNDER THE STYLE AND TITLE THEREON INDICATED, AS THEIR OWN FREE AND VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED.

DATED THIS _________ DAY OF ____________________________ , A.D.  2022.

__________________________________________________________________

                                                         MANAGER

PLAT PREPARED BY

AND RETURN TO:

COUNTY RECORDER CERTIFICATION

THIS INSTRUMENT NO. _____________________________ WAS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE RECORDER’S

OFFICE OF WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AFORESAID ON THE

________ DAY OF _________________________ , 2022, A.D. AT ________O’CLOCK __.M.

                                _______________________________________

                                                       COUNTY RECORDER

07-13-2022

    ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM 184-001172

CLIENT NAME / CONTACT

AND

 MAIL FUTURE TAX BILLS TO:

NOTE:  XXX.XX' MEASURED  DISTANCE,   N   X°XX'XX" E  MEASURED BEARING

            [XXX.XX'] RECORDED DISTANCE,  [ N   X°XX'XX" E ]  RECORD  BEARING

08-12-2022

M
:
\
2
0
2
1
\
2
1
-
0
7
0
 
O

l
d
 
F

r
a
n
k
f
o
r
t
 
M

a
l
l
 
W

h
i
t
e
 
S

t
\
D

r
a
w

i
n
g
s
\
S

u
r
v
e
y
\
2
1
-
0
7
0
-
0
1
2
.
d
w

g
,
 
3
6
x
2
4
 
S

U
B

D
I
V

I
S

I
O

N
,
 
8
/
1
2
/
2
0
2
2
 
9
:
0
4
:
1
8
 
A

M
,
 
D

W
G

 
T

o
 
P

D
F

.
p
c
3

117

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY) (HERETOFORE DEDICATED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE                STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
 L O T   1

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY) (HERETOFORE DEDICATED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21-070-012

AutoCAD SHX Text
Commonwealth Edison Company

AutoCAD SHX Text
NI-Cor Gas Company

AutoCAD SHX Text
Authorized C.A.T.V. Franchise

AutoCAD SHX Text
At&t Telephone Company

AutoCAD SHX Text
Easement Provisions



118



E- #6

3'x6' Metal Grate

L

E

E E

G

E

E

C

New Tree - 2.5"*

in 3'x6' metal grate

(match existing)

*Columnar form

E- #7

3'x6' Metal Grate

E- #8

New Tree - 2.5"*

in 3'x6' metal grate

(match existing)

*Columnar form

Sheared Wintercreeper

Annuals

New Tree - 2.5"

in 5'x5' metal grate

(match existing)
Bench

E- #5

5'x5' Metal Grate

E- #4

5'x5' Metal Grate

E- #3

5'x5' Metal Grate

4- Upright boxwood

(1- Dead)

E- #2

Hydrangea

2- Heuchera

Dwarf Prairie Dropseed

Wintercreeper

New Tree - 2.5"*

*Columnar form

New Tree - 2.5"*

*Columnar form

Hydrangea

Iris

Trash Receptacle

Dwarf Prairie Dropseed

Iris

Annuals

Bench

Perennials Salvia

2- St. johnswort

2- Boxwood (sheared)

Annuals

Perennial GeraniumPerennial GeraniumPerennial Geranium

Sod ParkwaySod Parkway

E- #9

E- #10

E- #1

Yew hedge

2- Rectangular

Planters

2- Rectangular

Planters

Square planter (typ.)

Rectangular planter (typ.)

Rectangular

planter (typ.)

Square

planter (typ.)

TREE PIT DETAIL

0 10

SCALE  1" = 10'

20

L-1

1"=10'

PRELIMINARY

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

Know what's below.

Call before you dig.

T

no.

157-000129

JOHN M. RYAN

C

E

T

I

H

C

R

A

E

P

A
C

S

D

N

A

L

D

E

S

N

E

C
I

L

PROJECT NO.: JOB NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

PLANNER:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED:

SHEET

REVISIONS

JMR

IRG

Ives/Ryan

Group, Inc.

www.ivesryangroup.com

Landscape Architecture

Park & Recreation Design

Municpal Consulting

1741 S. WIESBROOK ROAD

WHEATON, IL 60189

PHONE: 630.738.0726

 c  2022 Ives/Ryan Group, Inc.

The drawings, specifications, design ideas, and

other information contained within as prepared

by the Landscape Architect and/or Land

Planner for this project are instruments of the

Landscape Architect's and/or Land Planner's

service, for use solely with respects to this

project and, unless otherwise provided, the

Landscape Architect and/or Land Planner shall

be deemed the author of these documents and

shall retain all common law, statutory, and

other rights, including copyright.  This drawing

is not to be reproduced without the expressed

written consent of IVES/RYAN GROUP, INC.

CAUTION:   IF THIS SHEET IS NOT 24"x36", THEN IT IS NOT AT THE SCALE INDICATED. 

L2422-9352

OLDE FRANKFORT

MALL

Frankfort, IL

TREE PRESERVATION DETAIL

NTS

4' TALL DRIVEN STEEL POSTS @ 8' O.C. MAX.

ORANGE POLYETHYLENE SAFETY FENCING

PLACED AT OR BEYOND DRIP-LINE

ALL EXISTING LANDSCAPING NOTED FOR PRESERVATION, SHALL BE 

PROTECTED DURING CONSTRUCTION VIA PLASTIC SAFETY FENCING. 

FENCING SHALL BE 4' HIGH AND ATTACHED TO STEEL DRIVEN 

POSTS SET NO FARTHER THAN 8' O.C. IT SHALL BE INSTALLED AT 

THE PERIPHERY OF THE DRIP LINE OF EXISTING PLANT MATERIAL 

OR BEYOND TO PREVENT  STORAGE OF VEHICLES OR MATERIALS 

AND THE ENCROACHMENT OF GRADING AND CONSTRUCTION 

EQUIPMENT.

CONSTRUCTION FENCING SHALL BE ERECTED PRIOR TO ANY GRADING 

OR CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITES-PREVENTING COMPACTION OF ROOT 

SYSTEMS OF EXISTING TREES AND SHRUBS.  THE FENCING SHALL 

ENCLOSE THE AREA BENEATH THE DRIP LINE OF THE TREE CANOPY 

AND SHALL REMAIN IN PLACE UNTIL ALL CONSTRUCTION IS 

COMPLETED. NO PARKING, MATERIAL STORAGE OR CONSTRUCTION 

ACTIVITIES SHALL BE PERMITTED WITHIN THE FENCED AREA.

DECIDUOUS TREE

2 TIMES BALL WIDTH

DRAINAGE MATERIAL WHEN

WETNESS OR DRAINAGE 

PROBLEMS ENCOUNTERED

DRAINAGE TUBING AND/0R

NTS

2-PLY 1/2"

REINFORCED HOSE

FROM TRUNK

KEEP MULCH AWAY

AROUND PLANTING PIT

FORM MULCH SAUCER

HARDWOOD MULCH

3" OF SHREDDED

OF 75% SOIL & 25%

PEAT OR COMPOST.

PREPARED BACKFILL

45° OR LESS

3 METAL STAKES @ 8'

#12 GAUGE STEEL WIRE

UNTREATED BURLAP NEED NOT

BE REMOVED, HOWEVER ALL

TWINE AROUND THE TRUNK

SHALL BE REMOVED.  TREATED

BURLAP & PLASTIC WRAP SHALL

BE REMOVED OR ROLLED DOWN

AROUND THE ROOTBALL

NOTE: STAKING OF DECIDUOUS

TREES NOT REQUIRED UNLESS

PROTECTED W/ TREE WRAP.

SECURE WRAP W/ TWINE @

TOP & REMOVE THE NEXT

DO NOT STAKE INTO

TRUNK OF TREE SHALL BE

TREE WILL NOT REMAIN PLUMB.

SPRING

ROOTBALL

2022-09-09

119

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'x5' 0R 6'x3' METAL TREE GRATE & FRAME (MATCH EXISTING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ON 2- SIDES UNDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALKWAY/PAVERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE PIT BACKFILL (45-77%%% SILT;

AutoCAD SHX Text
0-25%%% CLAY; 25-33%%% SAND; 3-5%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORGANIC MATTER W/ A SOIL PH OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
CU STRUCTURAL SOIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" LAYER OF BLACK LAVA ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CU STRUCTURAL SOIL.  COMPACT TO NOT LESS  THAN 95% PROCTOR DENSITY (AASHTO T-99)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.0-7.0)

AutoCAD SHX Text
*SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR TREE PIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIZE AT EACH LOCATION



EXISTING ASH STREET FACADEEXISTING SOUTH FACADE

EXISTING KANSAS STREET FACADE EXISTING WHITE STREET FACADE

EXISTING CONDITIONS AT OLDE FRANKFORT MALL

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

PHOTOS

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-1

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

120



L

SECT
P-6

SECT
P-6

ZONING DATA - 15 ASH ST. / 22 WHITE ST.

PRELIMINARY
ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN

SCALE: 1" = 10'-0"

0 5' 10' 20'

KANSAS STREET (75FT R.O.W.)

W
HITE STREET

(66' ROW
)

AS
H 

ST
RE

ET
(6

0' 
R.O

.W
.)

145.60'

86.21'86.21'

GROSS BUILDING AREA

PROPOSED 3-STORY
COMMERCIAL BUILDING
(4,684 SQ. FT.  FOOTPRINT

AT GROUND LEVEL)

EXISTING 2-STORY
COMMERCIAL BUILDING

TO BE RENOVATED
(6,873 SQ. FT.  FOOTPRINT)

PRELIMINARY
ARCHITECTURAL

SITE PLAN

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-2

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

121



PRELIMINARY BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

SECT
P-6

SECT
P-6

STAIR 1

HALL

STAIR 2

ELEV

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-3

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

PRELIMINARY
BASEMENT FLOOR

PLAN

122



TENANT 02
Commercial Sp.

720 SF

STAIR 1

TENANT 01b
Possible Eatery

1,100 SF
Elev. -5'-4"

(+15'-0" Ceiling)

ELEV

PRELIMINARY FIRST FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16' (ADDITION = (4,684 square ft.)

Tenant 01c
Possible Event Space

OR Rental Unit
1,096 SF

HALL NEW MENS'
RM.

NEW WOMENS'
RM.

TENANT 3a
Commercial Sp.

586 SF

TENANT 3b
Commercial Sp.

597 SF

TENANT 4
Commercial Sp.

981 SF

TENANT 5
Commercial Sp.

917 SF

Tenant 01d
Back of House Space

OR Rental Unit(s)
1,075 SF

NEW HC
REST RMS.

12x50
LOADING

SPACE

HALL

HALL

HALL

K  A  N  S  A  S    S  T  R  E  E  T

A 
 S 

 H
    

S  
T  

R 
 E 

 E 
 T

W
  H

  I 
 T 

 E 
   S

  T
  R

  E
  E

  T

Outdoor Dining
Patio
188 SF

L

P A V E R S
P A V E R S PAVERS

A 
S 

P 
H

 A
 L

 T
P 

A 
V 

E 
R

 S
P 

A 
V 

E 
R

 S

NEW
HANDICAP
PARKING

STALL

SECT
P-6

SECT
P-6

STAIR 2

Trash Rm.
250 SF

Corridor

NEW
HANDICAP
PARKING

STALL

O
ut

do
or

 D
ini

ng
 P

at
io

20
0 S

F

TENANT 01a
Possible Eatery

1,300 SF
Elev. -4'-0"

(+13'-8" Ceiling)

ACCESS TO
TRASH ROOM

PAVERS

TURF

TURFMULCH
MULCH

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-4

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

PRELIMINARY
FIRST FLOOR

PLAN

123



UNIT 201
1-BEDROOM

860 SF

STAIR 1

STAIR 2

BALCONY

ROOF BELOW

UNIT 204
1-BEDROOM

580 SF

UNIT 205
STUDIO
380 SF

BEDRM

K

LR

LR

ELEV

RESIDENT HALL

LOUNGE / EVENT SPACE
2,275 SF

EXISTING BOWLING LANES
3,920 SF

6 ALLEYS

EQ./PIN
SETTERS

BATH

PRELIMINARY SECOND FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

EXISTING
BAR

EXISTING
COUNTER

EXIST.
MECH.

(ADDITION = 4,819 square ft.)

SECT
P-6

SECT
P-6

BALCONY BALCONY

UNIT 202
1-BEDROOM

802 SF

UNIT203
1-BEDROOM

630 SFBEDRM

K
LR

BATH

K
BEDRM

LRV BATH
BATH

CLOSET

UTILITY

UTILITY

BATH

V

NEW
WOMEN'S

NEW
MEN'S

CO
M

M
O

N 
HA

LL

T

K

KLR

BATH

BEDRM

BALCONY

UTILITY

PRELIMINARY
SECOND FLOOR

PLAN

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-5

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

124



STAIR 1

balcony

balcony

ELEV

PRELIMINARY THIRD FLOOR / LOW ROOF PLAN

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16' (ADDITION = 7,320 square ft.)

SECT
P-6

SECT
P-6

STAIR 2

T

balcony

UNIT 304
1-BEDROOM

945 SF

RESIDENT HALL

BALCONY

UNIT 302
2-BEDROOM

1,585 SF

UNIT303
1-BEDROOM

970 SF

T

UNIT 301
3-BEDROOM

1,975 SF

PRELIMINARY
THIRD FLOOR/

LOW ROOF PLAN

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-6

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

125



PRELIMINARY ROOF PLAN

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

SECT
P-6

SECT
P-6

PRELMINARY
ROOF PLAN

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-7

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

126



KANSAS STREET ELEVATION (WHITE STREET TO OAK STREET) 
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

0 8' 16' 32'

10

KANSAS STREET BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

112 2 23 6 77

99 1021 239

714 1414

5 45

4 4

16 1799

22 2211

5 253

20 20 20 20

28 28 28

SOUTH BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

1 244 20 209

9 2020

5 12 23

10

26 2623 24

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

NEW CONSTRUCTION ELEVATION TAG KEY

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

11

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

P-8
PRELIMINARY

BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-8

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

127



KANSAS STREET BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

112 2 23 6 77

99 1021 239

714 1414

5 45

4 4

16 1799

22 2211

5 253

20 20 20 20

28 28 28

SOUTH BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

1 244 20 209

9 2020

5 12 23

10

26 2623 24

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

NEW CONSTRUCTION ELEVATION TAG KEY

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

11

22

23

24

25

26

EXTERIOR MATERIAL PALETTE

27

28

P-8R
PRELIMINARY

BUILDING
ELEVATIONS
RENDERED

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-8R

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

128



WHITE STREET BUILDING ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

1 2 234 7

9 911

14

591819

4 20 20 22 22 1

1010 25 3

914

9 320 2028 28

ASH STREET BUILDING ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

1 26 37

10

14

59

7 7

28 28

2852612

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

NEW CONSTRUCTION ELEVATION TAG KEY

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

11

22

23

24

25

26

EXTERIOR MATERIAL PALETTE

27

28

P-9
PRELIMINARY

BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-9

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

129



WHITE STREET BUILDING ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

1 2 234 7

9 911

14

591819

4 20 20 22 22 1

1010 25 3

914

9 320 2028 28

ASH STREET BUILDING ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

1 26 37

10

14

59

7 7

28 28

2852612

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

NEW CONSTRUCTION ELEVATION TAG KEY

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

11

22

23

24

25

26

EXTERIOR MATERIAL PALETTE

27

28

P-9R
PRELIMINARY

BUILDING
ELEVATIONS
RENDERED

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-9R

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

130



P-10
EXTERIOR MATERIALS

RENDERED

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-10

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

131



BUILDING SECTION (LOOKING WEST)

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

BOWLING LANES
(DEPRESSED FLOOR +- 24")

MAIN LEVEL
RETAIL/COMMERCIAL

LOWER LEVEL
RETAIL/STORAGE/MECH.

LOUNGE /BAR

LVL 3 - RESIDENTIAL

LVL 2 - RESIDENTIAL

COMMERCIAL
SPACE

HALL

MAIN LEVEL
RETAIL/COMMERCIAL

LOWER LEVEL
STORAGE/MECH.

PRELIMINARY
BUIDING SECTION

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-11

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

132



133



134



135



SITE
PHOTOMETRICS PLAN
NOT TO SCALE

SITE
PHOTOMETRICS

PLAN

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-15

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

136



THIRD FLOOR
PHOTOMETRICS PLAN
NOT TO SCALE

C

C C

C

CC

C C

C

C

CC

CC

THIRD FLOOR
PHOTOMETRICS

PLAN

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-16

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

137



EXAMPLES
OF OTHER
3 STORY

BUILDINGS

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
NE

W
 3-

ST
O

RY
 M

IXE
D

US
E D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

15
 A

SH
 ST

RE
ET

 / 
22

 W
HI

TE
 ST

RE
ET

FR
AN

KF
O

RT
, IL

LIN
O

IS 
60

42
3

2021-0226

04/28/2023

CT GC

P-17

01/
12/

202
2

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
C/

HP
C 

RE
VIE

W
06/

10/
202

2
ISS

UE
 FO

R O
WN

ER
 RE

VIE
W

07/
15/

202
2

ISS
UE

 FO
R O

WN
ER

 RE
VIE

W
09/

22/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R P

C 
WO

RK
SH

OP
 #

2 R
EV

IEW
12/

09/
202

2
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

01/
10/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R H
PC

 RE
VIE

W
03/

31/
202

3
ISS

UE
D 

FO
R H

PC
 RE

VIE
W

04/
28/

202
3

ISS
UE

D 
FO

R P
CZ

BA

138



139

cgruba
Text Box
Grass/Mulch

cgruba
Text Box
Tree Grate (Metal)

cgruba
Text Box
Concrete Sidewalk

cgruba
Text Box
Brick Pavers

cgruba
Text Box
LEGEND

cgruba
Callout
PROPERTY LINE (RED)

cgruba
Information Only stamp



140

cgruba
Text Box
Grass/Mulch

cgruba
Text Box
Tree Grate (Metal)

cgruba
Text Box
Concrete Sidewalk

cgruba
Text Box
Brick Pavers

cgruba
Callout
Property Line (red)

cgruba
Information Only stamp



1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                           June 8, 2023 

 
Project: Grounded Coffee – Outdoor dining patio  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing   
Request: Special Use Permit – Outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant 
Location:   15 Ash Street 
Applicant:  Stephen Giannone 
Prop. Owner:  SHI NAPs LLC 
Representative: Stephen Giannone 
Plan Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 12,565.3 square feet (0.29 acres)      Figure 1. Location Map     
PIN(s): 19-09-28-208-003-0000 
Existing Zoning: H-1 (Historic District)   
Proposed Zoning: N/A  
Buildings: 1   
Total Sq. Ft.: ±735 square feet (patio area) 
 
 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Bowling 
Alley/Retail 

Mixed Use H-1 

North Park Parks/Open Space H-1 

South  Commercial Mixed Use H-1 

East Commercial Mixed Use H-1 

West Commercial Mixed Use H-1 

 
Project Summary  
 

Grounded Coffee is seeking to install an outdoor dining patio along the north façade of the Old Frankfort Mall 
building, adjacent to their existing coffee shop.  The outdoor seating area would measure approximately 735 
square feet and would be located along the north side of the building on the existing asphalt surface.  The seating 
area would be enclosed by the existing split rail fence adjacent to the public sidewalk along Kansas Street and 
landscape planter boxes on either end (east and west).  Hanging landscape boxes would also be placed along the 
wood split rail fence.  The outdoor seating area would contain three 4-seat tables and three 2-seat tables.  The 
tables would have tan umbrellas which would not have any advertisement.  The patio area is intended to be 
available during the existing business hours.   
 
Outdoor seating areas associated with a permitted restaurant require a Special Use Permit, reviewed by the 
PC/ZBA for final action by the Village Board.  Since this project is also located in the H-1 (Historic) district, review is 
also required by the Historic Preservation Commission, which would need to grant a Certificate of 
Appropriateness.  The HPC meeting has been scheduled for May 31, 2023.  The applicant was permitted by the 
Building Department to set up the tables and chairs as long as there is an active application for a Special Use 
Permit for outdoor seating.  This was done in part to allow Grounded Coffee to have outdoor seating in time for 
the 60423 Village celebration.  



2 
 

Attachments 
• Aerial photographs, GIS, prepared by staff 
• Survey of property, with approximate location of outdoor seating area noted 
• Site plan provided by the applicant, received May 4, 2023  
• Findings of Fact for a Special Use Permit, completed by the applicant 
• Photographs of the site, taken by staff on March 17, 2022 and September 23, 2022 
• Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Outdoor seating location 

• The proposed outdoor dining area would measure approximately 735 square feet, located along the north 
side of the building.  Being on the north side of the building, this area is typically shaded.  The owner of 
this property submitted plans for a 3-story building addition, for which a public hearing is scheduled for 
June 8, 2023.  If approved, this building addition would be placed in the area of the proposed outdoor 
seating for Grounded Coffee.  Should this happen, the Special Use Permit for outdoor seating for 
Grounded Coffee would be nullified.  This has been added as a condition of approval.  

 
Design and Construction Materials 
 

• The only new materials proposed are landscape planters on the ground, landscape planters hung on the 
existing split rail fence and the addition of tables and chairs outside.  There would be no changes to the 
existing asphalt surface or walls of the building.  
 

• Village Zoning Ordinance requires all outdoor seating areas be enclosed by a fence, wall, or landscaping 
with a minimum height of 36”, regardless of whether alcohol is served.  The outdoor seating area would 
be enclosed by the existing split rail wood fence and landscape planters, meeting this requirement.  No 
alcohol would be served on the patio.  
 

• There is a break in the fence along Kansas Street.  The outdoor seating area would end at this break and 
be enclosed by landscape planters.  
 

• The adjacent concrete public sidewalks would remain unobstructed.  
 

• No awning (retractable or otherwise) is proposed for the patio expansion.    
 

• The proposed outdoor seating area will remain ADA accessible.   
 

• The exterior stairs to the bowling alley would not be obstructed by the outdoor seating area or landscape 
planters.  
 

Lighting 
 

• The applicant has not proposed additional lighting for the patio expansion.  The existing patio is currently 
illuminated by two public lamp posts on either end of the patio, within the right-of-way.     

 
Other 

 
• The Building Department has noted that the existing restroom facilities are adequate to serve the increase 

of patrons for the outdoor dining expansion.   
 



3 
 

 
 

Standards for Special Use 
 
No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  

 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  

 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 



4 
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a permanent outdoor seating 
area associated with a permitted restaurant on the property located at 15 Ash Street, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact with the condition that if the outdoor 
seating area is replaced with a building addition, this Special Use Permit will become null and void.  

 



AS
H 

ST

OAK ST

KANSAS ST
N 

WH
ITE

 S
T

ELWOOD ST

CE
NT

ER
 R

D
W NEBRASKA ST

OREGON ST

S W
HI

TE
 ST

E NEBRASKA ST

CA
RP

EN
TE

R 
ST

15 Ash Street - Olde Frankfort Mall

µ

0 150 30075
Feet



cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Callout
Fence

cgruba
Callout
Planters

cgruba
Callout
Planters



50’

11’

20’

13’

N S

E

W

Planter Box Planter Box Planter Box

10 along fence

along cinderblock wall

3 bar height 2 tops
3 dining height 4 tops

3 umbrellas in tan

Planter Box Planter Box Planter Box

RECEIVED 5.4.23

7.76'

approx 735 SF



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agreed

Agreed

Agreed

Agreed



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

Agreed

Agreed

Agreed



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 



cgruba
Polygonal Line





1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                     June 8, 2023 

 
Project: Musard-Hawtree Residence Addition 
Meeting Type:  Workshop 
Request(s): Reduce required rear yard setback from 30 feet to 12 feet 11 inches; Reduce required total 

of the side yards from 25 feet to 18 feet; and Plat of Resubdivision to consolidate lots; to 
allow construction of a first-floor addition to the rear of an existing single-family home.  

Location: 240 Oak Street  
Applicant: Lara Musard 
Prop. Owner:  Same as above  
Consultants:  Robert Juris & Associates Architects, Ltd.   
Representative: None  
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 12,500 SF                                                      Figure 1: Location Map  

PIN(s):          19-09-28-225-022-0000  
Existing Zoning:  R-2, Single-Family Detached Residential 
Prop.  Zoning: N/A   
Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 building / 1 lot             
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-Family Residential Single Family 
Residential 

R-2 

North  Vacant Lot 
 

Single Family 
Residential 

R-2 

South Single-Family Residential Single-Family 
Residential 

R-2 

East Single-Family Residential Single Family 
Residential 

R-2 

West Single-Family Residential Single Family 
Residential 

R-2 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Lara Musard, is seeking to build a 500 square-foot first-floor addition to rear of an existing 1,812 
square-foot one-story home located at 240 Oak Street. The applicant intends to create an additional living space 
(new bedroom, bathroom, and kitchenette) on the rear/west side of the home for an elderly family member. The 
applicants are requesting: 

1. A zoning variation to reduce the required rear yard from 30 feet to 12 feet, 11 inches;  
2. A zoning variation to reduce the required total of the required side yards from 25 feet to 22 feet, 1 inch (for 

the new addition); and, 
3. A Plat of Resubdivision to consolidate the two existing underlying lots of record which are under the same 

ownership pursuant to Article 10, Section L of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Attachments 

• 2022 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• Photographs of site taken 6.2.23  



2 

• Plat of Survey dated 8.2.11, received 4.26.23 
• Site Plan last revised 4.19.23, received 5.25.23 
• Floor Plans (Demo and New) last revised 4.19.23, received 5.25.23 
• Exterior Elevations last revised 4.19.23, received 5.25.23 
•   Variation Findings of Fact prepared by applicant 
• Variation Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The following table is provided to compare the subject property with the R-2 District dimensional and bulk 
standards: 

 
 R-2 Single-Family 

Detached Residential 
District Requirement 

 
Subject Property 

 
Comments 

Minimum Lot Size (square 
feet)  
(Single-Family Dwelling) 

15,000 SF 12,500 SF Legally nonconforming 

Minimum Lot Width (Feet) 100 feet 100 feet Complies 
Minimum Lot Depth 150 feet 125 feet Legally nonconforming 
Minimum Required Yards 
(feet) 

• Front 
• Side 
• Rear 
• Corner Side 

 

• 30 feet 
• Total 25 feet; min. 

10 feet on any side 
• 30 feet 
• 30 feet 

• 29 feet, 9 inches 
existing 

• Total of 18 feet 
existing, Total of 22 
feet, 1 inch (for the 
proposed addition)  

• 12 feet, 1 inch 
existing (south side 
yard)  

• 5 feet, 11 inches 
existing (north side 
yard) 

Variation of rear yard 
requested.  
Variation of total of side 
yards is requested. 

Maximum Height (feet) 35 feet 14 feet, 2 inches Complies 
Maximum Lot Coverage 20% (25% for one-story)  25% proposed Complies 
Maximum Impervious 
Coverage 

40% 3,997 SF or 31.98% 
existing, 4,627 SF or 
37% proposed 

Complies 

Maximum Rear Yard 
Coverage 

30% <5% existing, 300 SF or 
10% proposed 

Complies 

Minimum Gross Floor Area 
(square feet, includes 
basement) 

2,400 (for a one-story) 1,812 SF existing, 2,312 
SF proposed 

Legally nonconforming 

Minimum Basement Size 80% of the ground floor 
area 

0% existing, 0% 
proposed 

Legally nonconforming 

 
• The existing property is Lots 67 and 68 in McDonald’s Subdivision, which was recorded circa late 1940’s. 

At the time the subdivision was recorded, the lot complied with the minimum standards for the R-2 
district. 
 

• The existing 12,500 square-foot lot is smaller than the typical 15,000 square-foot R-2 lot as described in 
the Zoning Ordinance. The existing 125-foot lot depth is also less than the standard R-2 lot depth of 150 
feet.  If the existing home, including the proposed 500 square-foot addition was built on a standard R-2 
lot, depending on the lot dimensions, it is unknown if the applicant would still need to request the a 



3 

variation to reduce the required 30-foot rear yard setback and a variation to reduce the required total of 
the required side yards from 25 feet to 22 feet, 1 inches (for the new addition). 
 

• The existing non-conformities for this R-2 District property include: 
 
1. Existing 12,500 SF lot area (15,000 SF minimum lot area required) 
2. Existing 125’ lot depth (150’ minimum lot depth required) 
3. Existing 29’-9” front yard setback (30’ minimum front yard setback required) 
4. There is no existing basement (80% of first floor area is required but this only applies to new 

construction or redevelopment of single-family dwelling units within the ER, R1, and R2 zoning 
districts platted after January 1, 2000 and constructed upon after April 29, 2013 per Article 6, Part 
4(c) on Page 122 of the Zoning Ordinance.      

5. The existing house has lap siding on first floor (the brick/stone/masonry requirement for the first-
floor addition would be applicable only if expanding the floor area of the house by more than 50% 
per Article 10, Part 2, Section D of the Zoning Ordinance) 

6. The existing house has a 6/12 roof pitch (a minimum 8/12 roof pitch is required) 
 

Standards for Variations  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the 
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest 
in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 



4 

applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially 
increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.04

1: 1,128

0 Miles

240 Oak Street

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

6/1/2023 Date:

0.02

Address Points
Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels
Townships



Site Photos – 240 Oak Street 

 

 

Figure 1: 240 Oak Street, view of front façade, looking west from Oak Street. 

 
  Figure 2:  240 Oak Street, view of rear façade, looking east from west property line.   

    



   

 

 

  Figure 3: 240 Oak Street, view of existing rear patio and yard, looking northwest from rear entrance. 

 

    
. 





mschwarz
Received







 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

 Correct.  This addition will be for the purpose of housing my elderly parents.  No 
rentals for profit will be concidered.  It is worth noting here that there is access to the 
addition through the current structure which makes the addition an extention of the 
current house and less an indepentant domicile.

Correct.  The setback requirements were estabilished after the initial home was built 
and subsequent additions were made.

Correct. The variations will allow for an addition to our private residancy as it 
complies with the essential character of the locality.

Without the variance, we would be required to add a second floor.  This brings 
hardship in two main ways:  The addition's function is to house my elderly parents 
and traversing stairs is physically prohibitive.  Additionally, a second story addition 
would significatly change the historic mid century style of the property, which is a 
major componant of our motivation to invest in the historic village, and would erase 
it's historical significance.



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

I can not speak to the conditions for which others with the same zoning classification 
might petition, but it is true that without demotiontion and complete rebuild, there is 
not another option to acommodate my elderly parents AND preserve the historic 
accuracy of the existing structure.

Correct.  Integration with the current structure as well as the additions proposed use 
do not lend itself to additional income.

Correct.  The currently structure was built and lived in since the 1940s by the 
Osmunds.  Additionally, the intended use of the addition was created by the natural 
order of things... i.e. aging.

Correct.  The addition will not only be an intuitive extention of the current structure, 
but will necessitate new isding and roofing on the whole of the structure which will 
lend itself to the further beautification of the property.

Correct.  The addition will add value, not decrease it.

Correct.  This has been considered by the Architect as well as the General Manager 
of the project.



 
 

St
an

da
rd

s 
of

 V
ar

ia
ti

on
 C

om
m

is
si

on
er

 E
va

lu
at

io
n 

Fo
rm

 
 

Ar
tic

le
 3

, S
ec

tio
n 

B,
 P

ar
t 3

 o
f t

he
 V

ill
ag

e 
of

 F
ra

nk
fo

rt
 Z

on
in

g 
O

rd
in

an
ce

 li
st

s “
fin

di
ng

s”
 o

r “
st

an
da

rd
s”

 th
at

 th
e 

Zo
ni

ng
 B

oa
rd

 o
f A

pp
ea

ls 
m

us
t u

se
 

to
 e

va
lu

at
e 

ev
er

y 
va

ria
tio

n 
re

qu
es

t. 
Th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
oa

rd
 o

f A
pp

ea
ls 

m
us

t a
ns

w
er

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
th

re
e 

fin
di

ng
s f

av
or

ab
le

 to
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

an
t b

as
ed

 u
po

n 
th

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 p

ro
vi

de
d.

  
 

 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 

N
O

TE
S 

M
EE

TS
 

1.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 in
 q

ue
st

io
n 

ca
nn

ot
 y

ie
ld

 a
 

re
as

on
ab

le
 re

tu
rn

 if
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 to
 b

e 
us

ed
 o

nl
y 

un
de

r t
he

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

llo
w

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
re

gu
la

tio
ns

 
in

 th
at

 zo
ne

;  

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

2.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

pl
ig

ht
 o

f t
he

 o
w

ne
r i

s d
ue

 to
 u

ni
qu

e 
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s;

 
 

 YE
S 

   
   

   
   

 N
O

 
 

3.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

va
ria

tio
n,

 if
 g

ra
nt

ed
, w

ill
 n

ot
 a

lte
r t

he
 

es
se

nt
ia

l c
ha

ra
ct

er
 o

f t
he

 lo
ca

lit
y.

 
 

 YE
S 

   
   

   
   

 N
O

 
 

 Fo
r t

he
 p

ur
po

se
 o

f s
up

pl
em

en
tin

g 
th

e 
ab

ov
e 

st
an

da
rd

s,
 th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
oa

rd
 o

f A
pp

ea
ls 

al
so

 d
et

er
m

in
es

 if
 th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

se
ve

n 
fa

ct
s,

 fa
vo

ra
bl

e 
to

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
an

t, 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

es
ta

bl
ish

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
ev

id
en

ce
.  

 
 

ST
AN

DA
RD

 
N

O
TE

S 
M

EE
TS

 
1.

 
Th

at
 th

e 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

 p
hy

sic
al

 su
rr

ou
nd

in
gs

, s
ha

pe
 

or
 to

po
gr

ap
hi

ca
l c

on
di

tio
ns

 o
f t

he
 sp

ec
ifi

c 
pr

op
er

ty
 in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ill
 b

rin
g 

a 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

 
ha

rd
sh

ip
 u

po
n 

th
e 

ow
ne

r, 
as

 d
ist

in
gu

ish
ed

 fr
om

 
a 

m
er

e 
in

co
nv

en
ie

nc
e,

 if
 th

e 
st

ric
t l

et
te

r o
f t

he
 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
 w

as
 c

ar
rie

d 
ou

t; 
 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 



2.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

s u
po

n 
w

hi
ch

 th
e 

pe
tit

io
n 

fo
r 

va
ria

tio
n 

is 
ba

se
d 

w
ou

ld
 n

ot
 b

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

, 
ge

ne
ra

lly
, t

o 
ot

he
r p

ro
pe

rt
y 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
sa

m
e 

zo
ni

ng
 c

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
n;

  

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

3.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

pu
rp

os
e 

of
 th

e 
va

ria
tio

n 
is 

no
t b

as
ed

 
ex

cl
us

iv
el

y 
up

on
 a

 d
es

ire
 to

 m
ak

e 
m

or
e 

m
on

ey
 

ou
t o

f t
he

 p
ro

pe
rt

y;
  

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
4.

 
Th

at
 th

e 
al

le
ge

d 
di

ffi
cu

lty
 o

r h
ar

ds
hi

p 
ha

s n
ot

 
be

en
 c

re
at

ed
 b

y 
an

y 
pe

rs
on

 p
re

se
nt

ly
 h

av
in

g 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 in

 th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

;  

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
5.

 
Th

at
 th

e 
gr

an
tin

g 
of

 th
e 

va
ria

tio
n 

w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

de
tr

im
en

ta
l t

o 
th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 w
el

fa
re

 o
r u

nd
ul

y 
in

ju
rio

us
 to

 o
th

er
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

or
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 
th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
 in

 w
hi

ch
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 is

 
lo

ca
te

d;
  

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

6.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

ex
te

rio
r a

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 a
pp

ea
l a

nd
 

fu
nc

tio
na

l p
la

n 
of

 a
ny

 p
ro

po
se

d 
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

w
ill

 
no

t b
e 

so
 a

t v
ar

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 e

ith
er

 th
e 

ex
te

rio
r 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
al

 a
pp

ea
l a

nd
 fu

nc
tio

na
l p

la
n 

of
 th

e 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 a
lre

ad
y 

co
ns

tr
uc

te
d,

 o
r i

n 
th

e 
co

ur
se

 
of

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

or
 th

e 
ch

ar
ac

te
r o

f t
he

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
 d

ist
ric

t, 
as

 to
 

ca
us

e 
a 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
l d

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

in
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 

va
lu

es
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

; o
r  

 
    YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

7.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 v
ar

ia
tio

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 im

pa
ir 

an
 

ad
eq

ua
te

 su
pp

ly
 o

f a
ir 

to
 a

dj
ac

en
t p

ro
pe

rt
y,

 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

lly
 in

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
da

ng
er

 o
f f

ire
, 

ot
he

rw
ise

 e
nd

an
ge

r t
he

 p
ub

lic
 sa

fe
ty

 o
r 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 d
im

in
ish

 o
r i

m
pa

ir 
pr

op
er

ty
 v

al
ue

s 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

.  

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

   


	6.8.23
	PC Minutes 5.25.23 DRAFT
	Binder1-Stone Creek
	Staff Report - Public Hearing 6.8.23
	PC Minutes 5.11.23 SIGNED
	Binder1 - 8563 Stone Creek
	1. GIS aerial map 1-4000
	1. GIS map 1-1000
	2. Findings of Fact 5.5.23
	3. Survey 4.19.23
	4. Fence detail
	5. Landscape Plan 4.19.23 cgg notes


	Gulfstream
	Binder1-Sparks
	0. Staff Report 6.8.23
	1. GIS map 1-3000
	1. GIS map 1-1500
	2. Isometric aerial Google
	3. Findings of Fact-PUD-Applicant
	3. Findings of Fact-Special Use Permit-Applicant
	4. PC Minutes 11.10.22 EXCERPT
	4. PC Minutes 1.26.23 EXCERPT
	5. pics 2 per page
	Survey
	Submittal 5.23.23
	Sign Plan 5.1.23 (meets code)

	Binder1-bowling alley
	0. Staff Report 6.8.23 (public hearing) - 15 Ash
	1. GIS Aerial OUT
	2. GIS Zoning
	3. Isometric aerial
	4. Findings of Fact_Variation_Commissioners
	5. Findings of Fact - Variation 3.30.22
	6. Findings of Fact_PUD_Commissioners
	7. Findings of Fact - SUP 6.2.23
	8. Findings of Fact_SUP_Commissioners
	9. Findings of Fact - PUD 1.26.23
	10. 2016 Parking Evaluation (SCHWARTZ) excerpt
	11. Parking - Downtown Private-Public Parking Lots GIS map
	12. Time-limited parking map (Staff GIS)
	13. PC Minutes 11.10.22 EXCERPT
	14. HPC Meeting Minutes EXCERPT 4.19.23
	15. CCR's - Commercial 5.8.23 cgg notes
	15. CCR's - Residential 5.8.23 cgg notes
	16. pics 2 per page
	17. Screening specs 4.11.23
	18. Submittal 5.4.23
	Sheets and Views
	2021-0226_P-0_COVER - P-0


	19. Survey - scan (ROW color coded)
	20. Sheet P-1 scan (ROW color coded)

	Binder1 - 15 Ash (Grounded)
	Staff Report - public hearing 6.8.23
	1. GIS Aerial OUT
	2. Survey - Grounded outdoor seating (staff's understanding)
	3. Site Plan 5.4.23
	4. Findings of Fact 5.4.23
	5. Findings of Fact_Variation Standards_Commissioners
	6. photo with edits
	11

	Musard

	Text1: The current aged building lacks many adopted life safety features.  The goal is to remodel and add to the existing footprint incorporating: code required rated elements, fire protection, fire alarms and HC accessibility. In addition, the proposed development will create a truck loading space along White Street and handicap accessible parking on Kansas Street.  Both of which currently do not exist.
	Text2: This development will likely be positive for property property values in the immediate area. The current site has fallen into disrepair and is not one of the downtown's most attractive/functional buildings.  This project as designed allows the footprint to expand and complete the historic downtown grid/framework. The project is consistent with the Village's Comp. Plan and does strive architecturally to complement a vibrant pedestrian friendly environment .
	Text3: The developers will endeavor to work with the Village's engineers regarding proper grading, ramps and storm water management.  The development will protect existing natural environment, trees and will add additional parkway streets, landscaping planters / beds.  Refuse generated by building tenants will be managed inside the building.
	Text4: Current recreational amenities and common open spaces(Breidert Green) will be positively affected by the proposed plan.  The construction of the building will add to the Historic Downtown's fabric, providing opportunity for commerce, public destination, and an event backdrop/amenity support to the Green and other downtown events.
	Text5: The historic downtown currently lacks residential housing and a "balanced neighborhood".  This development provides additional residential housing that will utilize the nearby businesses and shops, visit the parks & trails, and further enhance the tax base.
	Text6: The developers seek to be faithful stewards of this focal site in the Village and will support and promote the Village's efforts to hold downtown public events such as Fall Fest, etc. The development provides rooftop outdoor space for tenants of the building. 
	Text7: The development's proposed tenant users compliment the downtown.  The building's design is unique and does draw from a turn of the century Americana Downtown style.  Great design effort has been focused on varying historic facade details and use of high quality materials such as steel, masonry, cast stone, monumental clad windows. The building's design does strive to utilize corniced parapets, varying ad-hock elements, tasteful paint colors and lighting details.  
	Text8: This development provides additional residential housing that will utilize the nearby businesses and shops, visit the parks & trails, and further enhance the tax base.  This is a mixed use building with flexibility in opportunities for commercial tenants.
	Text9: The uses and occupancies as proposed are not of such a nature or so located as to exercise a detrimental influence on the surrounding neighborhood.  The uses as proposed are consistent with the Village's Comprehensive Plan.  Further, the developers wish to place significant investment to provide a beautiful built solution for a focal corner in need of improvement to match the character of the neighborhood.


